
1 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET 
7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING 

 
AGENDA 

 
 

6:30 P.M. EXECUTIVE SESSION: pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 
121.22 (G) (3) pending or imminent court action, Section 121.22 (G) (1) 
personnel, Section 121.22 (G) (5) matters required to be kept confidential by 
State statute, Section 121.22 (G) (2) acquisition of property for public purpose 
and 121.22(G) (8) consideration of confidential information related to a request 
for economic development assistance. 
 
7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING July 9, 2018 
 
1. ROLL CALL 
 
2. INVOCATION – Pastor Kale Booher, Lifepoint Church 
 
3.     PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 
4. APPROVAL of the Motion Summary of the Regular Meeting of Council 

held on June 25, 2018, as recorded and transcribed. 
 
5. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Shade Tree Commission 
meeting held on April 24, 2018, as recorded and transcribed.   

B. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Historic Preservation 
Commission meeting held on February 28, 2018, as recorded and 
transcribed.  

C. Resolution No. 18-43, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
prepare and submit an application to participate in the Ohio Public 
Works Commission (OPWC) Local Transportation Improvements 
(LTIP) Grant Program (Round 33), and to execute contracts as 
required for the Houk Road (Sections B & D) and North Union 
Improvements.  

D. Resolution No. 18-44, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 
enter into a Cooperation Agreement with Delaware County for an 
application to the Ohio Public Works Commission (OPWC) for the 
Houk Road (Sections B & D)  and North Union Improvements.  

E. Resolution No. 18-45, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 



2 
 

prepare and submit formal applications for Federal Attributable 
Funding through the Mid-Ohio Regional Planning Commission 
(MORPC) for the planning, design, and construction of the Houk 
Road (Sections A & C) Improvements. 

  
6. LETTERS, PETITIONS, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 
  
7. COMMITTEE REPORTS  
 
8. PRESENTATIONS 

A. Presentation and recommendation by the Parks and Recreation 
Advisory Board regarding a No Tobacco Policy at City Parks – 
Allyson Lash, Chairwoman  

B. Continued discussion and questions regarding the request for a 
Terra Alta New Community Authority (NCA) - David Fisher, 
Principal, Kephart Fisher, LLC, et al. 

 
9. 7:20 P.M. PUBLIC COMMENT AND SECOND READING of Resolution No. 

18-40, a resolution authorizing the restriction of on street parking on the 
north side of West Fountain Avenue between Forest Avenue and Euclid 
Avenue between the hours of 7:30 am and 3:45 pm on school days.  

 
10. SECOND READING of Resolution No. 18-41, a resolution accepting 

negotiated changes to the Collective Bargaining Agreement between the 
International Association of Fire Fighters (IAFF), Local 606 and the City 
of Delaware.  

 
11. FOURTH READING of Resolution No. 18-29, a resolution authorizing the 

City Manager to enter into a Joint Economic Development District 
(JEDD) contract with Berkshire Township.  

 
12. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 18-50, an ordinance for Manos 

Properties for approval of a Rezoning Amendment for the Wesleyan Inn 
on approximately 1.09 acres (Parcels 519-433-04-005-000 and 519-433-
04-002) from PO/I (Planned Office/Institutional District) and  R-3 (One-
Family Residential District) to PO/I and R-3 PMU (Planned Mixed Use 
Overlay District) at 235 and 239 West William Street.   

 
13. THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 18-51, an ordinance for Manos 

Properties for approval of a Conditional Use Permit allowing the 
placement of a PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be 
established for the Wesleyan Inn on approximately 1.09 acres (Parcels 
519-433-04-005-000 and 519-433-04-002) at 235 and 239 West William 
Street.  



3 
 

 
14.  THIRD READING of Ordinance No. 18-52, an ordinance for Manos 

Properties for approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for the 
Wesleyan Inn on approximately 1.09 acres (Parcels 519-433-04-005-000 
and 519-433-04-002) on property zoned PO/I and R-3 PMU (Planned 
Mixed Use Overlay District) at 235 and 239 West William Street.  

 
15. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 18-61, an ordinance amending 

Ordinance No. 11-86 to extend the permissible closing date of property 
previously offered for sale at public auction.  

 
16. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
17. COUNCIL COMMENTS  
 
18. ADJOURNMENT 
 



































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM C DATE: 07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-43 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO PREPARE AND 
SUBMIT AN APPLICATION TO PARTICIPATE IN THE OHIO PUBLIC WORKS 
COMMISSION (OPWC) LOCAL TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS (LTIP) 
GRANT PROGRAM (ROUND 33), AND TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS AS 
REQUIRED FOR THE HOUK ROAD (SECTIONS B & D) AND NORTH UNION 
IMPROVEMENTS.   
 
BACKGROUND: 
Houk Road is a vital north-south arterial that serves the entire west side of the 
city, and preventing this arterial from failing is high priority for the city.  The 
current condition of Houk Road varies significantly from segment to segment.  
These variations are caused by differences in: 
 

• Pavement age 
• Pavement build-up 
• Roadside drainage accommodations 
• Underlying soil conditions 
• Number of cars/day 
• Number of trucks/day 

 
Public Works has divided Houk Road into four sections based on the above 
criteria.  The limits are as follows: 



 
Section Begin End Equivalent Lane Miles 

A Merrick Parkway SR 37 2.45 
B SR 37 US 36 0.88 
C US 36 Private Railroad Spur 4.10 
D Private Railroad Spur Pittsburgh Drive 0.63 

 
Section B needs repaired/resurfaced at this time, and Section D needs a full-
depth replacement at this time.  Sections A and C need sealed at this time, 
however, local funds are not available to cover a seal treatment (roughly 
$225,000). Sealing A and C would have simply delayed the need to 
repair/resurface by 3-5 years.  However, a grant funding source has been 
identified (through MORPC) that could cover a resurfacing of Houk A and C in 
2023, and it is predicted these sections will be ready for a resurfacing in 2023.  
Therefore, Public Work’s proposed strategy for maintaining Houk Road is to: 
 

1. Utilize OPWC Round 33 grant funds to repair/resurface Sections B and 
D in 2019; then 

2. Utilize MORPC grant funds to resurface the remaining sections A and C 
in 2023.   

 
The other project being recommended for OPWC funding is North Union Street.  
For the purposes of the OPWC Round 33 funding application, North Union 
Street is defined as the section of Union from Central Avenue to and including 
the section of Heffner Street east of Sandusky Street (1.85 lane miles).  North 
Union Street is in poor condition, needs repaired and resurfaced at this time, 
and is also a good candidate OPWC Round 33 grant funds.  If left untreated, 
North Union Street will require a full-depth replacement in the near future at a 
cost of 2-4 times that of a resurfacing.  North Union Street carries 3500 cars 
per day, serves the courthouse complex, and serves as a vital north-south 
alternate to Sandusky Street.  Both OPWC and MORPC grant formal 
applications are due later this summer.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Passage of this Resolution authorizes the City Manager to apply for grant 
funding in the amount of $497,250 from OPWC.  If grant funding is awarded, 
this Resolution also allows the City Manager to sign a formal OPWC Project 
Agreement.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The estimated cost for improvements to Houk Road (B/D) and North Union 
Street total $975,000.  The County will contribute $125,000 towards this 



project ($50,000 standard OPWC grant match and $75,000 for an 
unincorporated portion of Houk Road).  Submitting a complete application 
requires budgeting sufficient funding to cover the City’s contribution to the 
project, currently estimated at $352,750.    
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Houk Road Sectioning Exhibit 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-43 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 

PREPARE AND SUBMIT AN APPLICATION TO PARTICIPATE 
IN THE OHIO PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION (OPWC) LOCAL 
TRANSPORTATION IMPROVEMENTS (LTIP) GRANT 
PROGRAM (ROUND 33), AND TO EXECUTE CONTRACTS AS 
REQUIRED FOR THE HOUK ROAD (SECTIONS B & D) AND 
NORTH UNION IMPROVEMENTS.  

  
WHEREAS, the Local Transportation Improvements Program provides financial 

assistance to political subdivisions for capital improvements to public infrastructure; 
and 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware seeks to improve the pavement condition by 

performing pavement resurfacing and rehabilitation operations to Houk Road 
Sections B & D and North Union Street; and 

 
WHEREAS, the infrastructure improvements herein above described is 

considered to be a priority need for the community and is a qualified project under 
the OPWC program. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
 SECTION 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to submit an application to 
the Ohio Public Works Commission for LTIP Program Grant Funds, (Round 33) for 
the construction of pavement resurfacing and rehabilitation improvements to Houk 
Road Sections B/D and North Union Street. 
 

SECTION 2. The City Manager is further authorized to enter into any 
agreement as may be necessary and appropriate to obtaining this financial assistance 
and contracting the work to be performed.  
 

SECTION 3. That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately upon 
its passage. 

 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 





  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM D DATE: 07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-44 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A 
COOPERATION AGREEMENT WITH DELAWARE COUNTY FOR AN 
APPLICATION TO THE OHIO PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION (OPWC) FOR THE  
HOUK ROAD (SECTIONS B & D) & NORTH UNION IMPROVEMENTS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Houk Road is a vital north-south arterial that serves the entire west side of the 
city, and preventing this arterial from failing is high priority for the city.  The 
current condition of Houk Road varies significantly from segment to segment.  
These variations are caused by differences in: 
 

• Pavement age 
• Pavement build-up 
• Roadside drainage accommodations 
• Underlying soil conditions 
• Number of cars/day 
• Number of trucks/day 

 
Public Works has divided Houk Road into four sections based on the above 
criteria.  The limits are as follows: 
 
 



Section Begin End Equivalent Lane Miles 
A Merrick Parkway SR 37 2.45 
B SR 37 US 36 0.88 
C US 36 Private Railroad Spur 4.10 
D Private Railroad Spur Pittsburgh Drive 0.63 

 
Section B needs repaired/resurfaced at this time, and Section D needs a full-
depth replacement at this time.  Sections A and C need sealed at this time, 
however, local funds are not available to cover a seal treatment (roughly 
$225,000). Sealing A and C would have simply delayed the need to 
repair/resurface by 3-5 years.  However, a grant funding source has been 
identified (through MORPC) that could cover a resurfacing of Houk A and C in 
2023, and it is predicted these sections will be ready for a resurfacing in 2023.  
Therefore, Public Work’s proposed strategy for maintaining Houk Road is to: 
 

1. Utilize OPWC Round 33 grant funds to repair/resurface Sections B and 
D in 2019; then 

2. Utilize MORPC grant funds to resurface the remaining sections A and C 
in 2023.   

 
The other project being recommended for OPWC funding is North Union Street.  
For the purposes of the OPWC Round 33 funding application, North Union 
Street is defined as the section of Union from Central Avenue to and including 
the section of Heffner Street east of Sandusky Street (1.85 lane miles).  North 
Union Street is in poor condition, needs repaired and resurfaced at this time, 
and is also a good candidate OPWC Round 33 grant funds.  If left untreated, 
North Union Street will require a full-depth replacement in the near future at a 
cost of 2-4 times that of a resurfacing.  North Union Street carries 3500 cars 
per day, serves the courthouse complex, and serves as a vital north-south 
alternate to Sandusky Street.  Both OPWC and MORPC grant formal 
applications are due later this summer.   
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Passage of this Resolution authorizes the City Manager to sign an agreement 
with Delaware County accepting their contribution currently estimated at 
$125,000.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
None 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The estimated cost for improvements to Houk Road (B/D) and North Union 
Street total $975,000.  The County will contribute $125,000 towards this 
project ($50,000 standard OPWC grant match and $75,000 for an 
unincorporated portion of Houk Road).  Submitting a complete application 



requires budgeting sufficient funding to cover the City’s contribution to the 
project, currently estimated at $352,750.    
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
None 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-44 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 
EN A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 
TO ENTER INTO A COOPERATION AGREEMENT WITH 
DELAWARE COUNTY FOR AN APPLICATION TO THE 
OHIO PUBLIC WORKS COMMISSION (OPWC) FOR THE  
HOUK ROAD (SECTIONS B & D) & NORTH UNION 
IMPROVEMENTS. 
 

 WHEREAS, the County of Delaware provides financial assistance to political 
subdivisions applying for OPWC Grant funds for Capital Improvements to public 
infrastructure; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City of Delaware seeks to improve highway safety for both 
vehicle and pedestrian traffic by replacing damaged, deteriorated and rutted 
pavement; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the infrastructure improvement herein above described is 
considered to be a priority need for the community and is a qualified project under 
the County Cooperation Agreement Program. 

 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 

 
 SECTION 1.  The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter in to a 
Cooperative Agreement with Delaware County for their contribution not to exceed 
$125,000.00 to the City of Delaware for the Houk Road (Sections B & D) and 
North Union Improvements project. 

 
 SECTION 2.  That the City of Delaware agrees to be the designated lead 
agency, signing all required applications, agreements and correspondence.  

  
 SECTION 3.  That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately 
upon its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM E DATE: 07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-45 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO PREPARE AND 
SUBMIT FORMAL APPLICATIONS FOR FEDERAL ATTRIBUTABLE FUNDING 
THROUGH THE MID-OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION (MORPC) 
FOR THE PLANNING, DESIGN, AND CONSTRUCTION OF THE HOUK ROAD 
(SECTIONS A & C) IMPROVEMENTS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
Houk Road is a vital north-south arterial that serves the entire west side of the 
city, and preventing this arterial from failing is high priority for the city.  The 
current condition of Houk Road varies significantly from segment to segment.  
These variations are caused by differences in: 
 

• Pavement age 
• Pavement build-up 
• Roadside drainage accommodations 
• Underlying soil conditions 
• Number of cars/day 
• Number of trucks/day 

 
Public Works has divided Houk Road into four sections based on the above 
criteria.  The limits are as follows: 
 



Section Begin End Equivalent Lane Miles 
A Merrick Parkway SR 37 2.45 
B SR 37 US 36 0.88 
C US 36 Private Railroad Spur 4.10 
D Private Railroad Spur Pittsburgh Drive 0.63 

 
Section B needs repaired/resurfaced at this time, and Section D needs a full-
depth replacement at this time.  Sections A and C need sealed at this time, 
however, local funds are not available to cover a seal treatment (roughly 
$225,000). Sealing A and C would have simply delayed the need to 
repair/resurface by 3-5 years.  However, a grant funding source has been 
identified (through MORPC) that could cover a resurfacing of Houk A and C in 
2023, and it is predicted these sections will be ready for a resurfacing in 2023.  
Therefore, Public Work’s proposed strategy for maintaining Houk Road is to: 
 

1. Utilize OPWC Round 33 grant funds to repair/resurface Sections B and 
D in 2019; then 

2. Utilize MORPC grant funds to resurface the remaining sections A and C 
in 2023.   

 
The category of MORPC funds being applied for is termed System 
Preservation.  This category is reserved for projects that do not involve 
pavement widening, and is meant for pavement and bridge maintenance 
projects. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Passage of this Resolution authorizes the City Manager to formally apply for 
MORPC System Preservation funds for Houk Road Sections A/C, and to submit 
project update applications (typically required every 2 years) when prompted by 
MORPC. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
None 
 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The estimated cost for improvements to Houk Road (A & C) is $870,000.  In 
order to maximize points during the scoring process, the grant request will 
propose a 70/30 split.  This would result in a $609,000 grant, if awarded.  
Submitting a complete formal application requires budgeting sufficient funding 
to cover the City’s contribution to the project, currently estimated at $261,000.    
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None 
 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval   
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
None 
 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-45 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO 

PREPARE AND SUBMIT FORMAL APPLICATIONS FOR 
FEDERAL ATTRIBUTABLE FUNDING THROUGH THE MID-
OHIO REGIONAL PLANNING COMMISSION (MORPC) FOR 
THE PLANNING, DESIGN, AND CONSTRUCTION OF THE 
HOUK ROAD (SECTIONS A & C) IMPROVEMENTS. 

 
WHEREAS, Federal funding is available for transportation improvements 

through a competitive application process associated with various funding programs; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, Sources of potential funding include Surface Transportation 

Program (STP) funds administered through MORPC; and 
 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware seeks to improve the pavement condition by 

performing pavement resurfacing to Houk Road Sections A & C; and 
 
WHEREAS, the infrastructure improvements herein above described is 

considered to be a priority need for the community and is a qualified project under 
the STP Program. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
 SECTION 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to prepare and submit a 
formal application to MORPC for Federal attributable funds for the Houk Road 
Sections A/C Improvements project. 
 

SECTION 2. The City Manager is further authorized to enter into any 
agreement as may be necessary and appropriate to obtain (and retain) this financial 
assistance.  
 

SECTION 3. That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately upon 
its passage. 

 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 
TO: Delaware City Council 
CC: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager, Jackie Walker, Asst. City Manager 
FROM:  Ted Miller, Parks and Natural Resources Director 
DATE:   7.2.18 
RE: Parks Smoking Ban 
 

On June 19, 2018 the Parks Advisory Board made a recommendation to City Council to ban 
smoking in city parks. The following is the proposed language for the policy : 
 
NO PERSON SHALL USE ANY FORM OF TOBACCO AT OR ON ANY CITY OF DELAWARE PARK OWNED OR 
OPERATED INDOOR AND/OR OUTDOOR RECREATIONAL FACILITIES. TOBACCO USE INCLUDES E-
CIGARETTES, OTHER SMOKING DEVICES AND INGESTIBLE FORMS. THESE FACILITIES INCLUDE 
PLAYGROUNDS, ATHLETIC FIELDS, AQUATIC AREAS, PICNIC SHELTERS AND RESTROOMS. THE HIDDEN 
VALLEY GOLF COURSE SHALL BE EXEMPT FROM THIS SMOKING BAN. 
 
What are the benefits of a smoke-free parks policy? 

• Protecting against secondhand smoke, particularly children; 
• Supporting a normative message that smoking is harmful; 
• Protect parks and natural areas from environmental degradation and increased 

maintenance caused from littering cigarette butts and other tobacco-related waste; 
• Reduces exposure to children and youth to tobacco use, protecting their health and 

discouraging them from starting a habit that is difficult to quit. 
 
How will this policy be enforced? 
One of the criticism will be enforcement of the policy. The city plans to add signage to 
problem areas such as ball diamonds, soccer fields, areas where crowds gather in the parks. 
In addition, the YMCA and the City will continue to provide education information in our 
programs to discourage tobacco use by parents, coaches and others. Most cities with 
smoke-free policies in place have reported very few enforcement issues. The cities are 
finding that the policies are primarily self-enforced. The initial release of the policy can 
show difficulties in educating the public on the change but most policies are well received. 
We anticipate a smoke-free policy in Delaware to be largely self-enforced, however, an 
official enforcement mechanism, even if just a contingency, would still be in place with the 
adoption of a new smoke-free parks ordinance. The official enforcement policy would be 
park staff and city police. The proposed policy does not consider a fine but would ban 
violators from the park premises for 24 hours. 
 



   
 

 

What are some of the opposition arguments? 
1. The policy is supported by insufficient health evidence. 

• In 2006, the United State Surgeon General determined that there is no safe 
amount of secondhand smoke; breathing secondhand smoke is a known 
cause of sudden death syndrome (SIDS). Children and youth are also more 
likely to have lung problems, ear infections, and severe asthma from being 
around smoke; Secondhand smoke causes heart disease and lung cancer; 

• According to the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC), tobacco 
use is the leading cause of preventable disease, disability, and death in the 
United States; 

• There are more than 4,000 chemicals in secondhand smoke. Many of these 
chemicals are toxic and some cause cancer, heart disease, lung disease, and 
other health problems.  

2. The policy is anti-smoker, not anti-smoking; 
• The policy is aimed at curbing exposure to second hand smoke, especially in 

children and youth.  Parks should be a place where the public does not have 
to be exposed to secondhand smoke.  

3. Policy is a further expansion of the “nanny state”. 
• The policy is not an attempt by government to interfere with smoker’s rights. 

Alternatively, we have received several complaints from non-smokers who 
would like to enjoy the public parks without having to be exposed to 
secondhand smoke. The rights of the non-smokers are just as important as 
the smokers. Our objective would be to discourage smoking in parks, 
particularly in areas of crowds where one smoker can expose many parks 
users to secondhand smoke.  

 
 
The smoke-free parks movement is gaining momentum as communities work to solve 
smoking-related health disparities. Parks are designed to provide clean, safe, and pleasant 
environments in which citizens-especially children- can relax and enjoy the outdoors.  



7/5/2018 Westerville bans smoking in public parks - News - The Columbus Dispatch - Columbus, OH

http://www.dispatch.com/news/20180703/westerville-bans-smoking-in-public-parks 1/2

By Alissa Widman Neese 
The Columbus Dispatch 
Posted Jul 3, 2018 at 11:03 PM
Updated Jul 3, 2018 at 11:03 PM

Smokers who visit Westerville’s public parks soon will be required to extinguish
their cigarettes and put away their vape pens.

The Westerville City Council agreed to ban smoking in the suburb’s public parks
Monday night, joining Columbus and a growing number of surrounding cities.
In recent years, more than a dozen central Ohio communities have eliminated
smoking in parks or at playgrounds, including parks in Dublin, Grove City,
Hilliard and Reynoldsburg in Franklin County.

Supporters say such laws reduce exposure to secondhand smoke, especially in
areas where children gather and during large public events. They also aim to
reduce litter and fire hazards.

“I think most people these days will agree smoking is not healthy for anybody,”
said Miller Sullivan, Franklin County Public Health medical director. “Parks are
one of those places people go to be healthy.”

The health agency will help Westerville install signs in the coming weeks.

Westerville’s new ordinance, approved by a 6-1 vote, takes effect 30 days from
Monday. Parks and Recreation Director Randy Auler said his staff, not police,
will mostly enforce the rule. Westerville police will get involved only if a
situation escalates and can’t be resolved, he said.

Councilman Tim Davey voted against the change and said that enforcing it is a
poor use of the city’s resources.

Though Westerville officials previously had discussed prohibiting the sale of
tobacco products to anyone younger than 21, they are no longer pursuing that
change.

Westerville bans smoking in public parks

mailto:awidmanneese@dispatch.com
http://www.dispatch.com/


7/5/2018 Westerville bans smoking in public parks - News - The Columbus Dispatch - Columbus, OH

http://www.dispatch.com/news/20180703/westerville-bans-smoking-in-public-parks 2/2

Instead, city council members approved a resolution last month supporting a
statewide “Tobacco 21” initiative, partially because of legal concerns.

Several communities across Ohio have already increased their tobacco-buying
age from 18 to 21, including Columbus and seven of its suburbs. But Westerville
Law Director Bruce Bailey said that because there’s an existing state law on the
matter, that likely pre-empts local law, meaning such rules could be challenged in
court.

Davey also voted against that resolution because he opposed taking away the
rights of legal adults, he said.

About 22 percent of Ohioans smoked in 2016, according to the most recent data
available from the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. The
national average is 15.5 percent.

awidmanneese@dispatch.com

@AlissaWidman

mailto:awidmanneese@dispatch.com
http://www.twitter.com/AlissaWidman


  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  9    DATE: 07/9/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-40 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
       Public Comment 7:20 p.m. 7/9/18 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Bruce Pijanowski, Police Chief 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE RESTRICTION OF ON STREET PARKING 
ON THE NORTH SIDE OF WEST FOUNTAIN AVENUE BETWEEN FOREST 
AVENUE AND EUCLID AVENUE BETWEEN THE HOURS OF 7:30 AM AND 
3:45 PM ON SCHOOL DAYS.   
  
BACKGROUND:  
Richard Jackson, a resident of W. Fountain Ave., requested that city staff 
consider parking restrictions on W. Fountain Ave adjacent to his residence due 
to the difficulties it presents to residents trying to exit their driveways onto W. 
Fountain Ave.  City staff found that parking on school days was heavy in the 
area and that the concern was valid.  
 
This item is coming directly to Council due to the cancellation of the June 18, 
2018 Parking and Safety Meeting.  The members of the committee were in 
concurrence that this issue should go to Council due to time constraint.  City 
Staff recommends passage. 
  
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:  
Legislation is needed to create the parking restrictions. 
  
 
 



COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:   
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
  
PRESENTER(S): 
Bruce Pijanowski, Chief of Police 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
  



RESOLUTION NO. 18-40 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE RESTRICTION OF 
ON STREET PARKING ON THE NORTH SIDE OF 
WEST FOUNTAIN AVENUE BETWEEN FOREST 
AVENUE AND EUCLID AVENUE BETWEEN THE 
HOURS OF 7:30 AM AND 3:45 PM ON SCHOOL DAYS. 
 

WHEREAS, the regular Parking and Safety meeting was cancelled, and it 
has been determined to forward this resolution directly to council to be able to 
affect any change prior to the school year, City Staff recommends the 
restriction of on street parking on the north side of W. Fountain Ave between 
Forest Ave and Euclid Ave between the hours of 7:30 AM and 3:45 PM on 
School Days.  
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL FOR THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 

SECTION 1.   That on street parking shall be restricted on the north side 
of W. Fountain Ave between Forest Ave and Euclid Ave between the hours of 
7:30 AM and 3:45 PM on School Days.  

   
SECTION 2.   That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 

immediately after its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 
 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  10    DATE: 07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-41 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING NEGOTIATED CHANGES TO THE COLLECTIVE 
BARGAINING AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION 
OF FIRE FIGHTERS (IAFF), LOCAL 606 AND THE CITY OF DELAWARE. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
The IAFF and the City have negotiated a contract (effective April 1, 2018) and 
associated MOUs with the following significant changes: 

• 2.25% wage increase in each of the three years of the contract (Article 16) 
• Making firefighters assigned to the 40 hour shift eligible for the 4% shift 

premium and the 5% paramedic differential (Article 16) 
• Adding a wellness incentive for getting a physical examination and 

completing the firefighter agility test used during the hiring process 
(MOU at end of contract) 

 
The IAFF is scheduled to vote on the contract at an upcoming meeting.  In 
order to comply with City Council’s preference to have multiple readings on 
changes to benefits or pay, we are placing this on the agenda for a first reading.  
The results of the IAFF vote should be known by the next Council meeting. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
Any change in benefits or pay must be approved by City Council.   
 



COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
In addition to the 2.25% increase in wages each year, the department 
anticipates an additional cost of $24,000 based on the wellness incentive.  
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval at second reading if approved by IAFF 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Contract 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-41 
 
 A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING NEGOTIATED CHANGES 

TO THE COLLECTIVE BARGAINING AGREEMENT 
BETWEEN THE INTERNATIONAL ASSOCIATION OF 
FIRE FIGHTERS (IAFF), LOCAL 606 AND THE CITY OF 
DELAWARE. 

 
WHEREAS, the existing contract with the International Association of 

Fire Fighters, Local 606 (IAFF) and the city expired on March 31, 2018; and 
 

WHEREAS, adoption of a the new negotiated contract with IAFF 
employees, effective April 1, 2018 requires a majority of City Council members 
and a majority of the members of IAFF members. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
 SECTION 1. That the negotiated changes to the contract between the City 
of Delaware and the International Association of Fire Fighters, Local 606 is 
hereby accepted. 
 

  SECTION 2.  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 

1 

 

 

AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE 
 
 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE AND THE INTERNATIONAL 
ASSOCIATION OF FIRE FIGHTERS LOCAL 606 

 

 
 
 
 
 

       
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Effective Dates 
April 1, 2018 - March 31, 2021 

  

http://client.prod.iaff.org/


 

2 

Table of Contents 
ARTICLE 1 - AGREEMENT ................................................................................................ 4 

ARTICLE 2- RECOGNITION ............................................................................................... 6 

ARTICLE 3 - DEFINITIONS ................................................................................................ 7 

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS ............................................................................ 10 

ARTICLE 5 - DUES ........................................................................................................... 11 

ARTICLE 6 - NONDISCRIMINATION .............................................................................. 12 

ARTICLE 7 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD .......................................................................... 13 

ARTICLE 8 - NO STRIKE, NO LOCKOUT ......................................................................... 14 

ARTICLE 9 - LABOR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE ...................................................... 15 

ARTICLE 10 - CORRECTIVE ACTION ............................................................................. 16 

ARTICLE 11 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE ....................................................................... 17 

ARTICLE 12 - WORK RULES AND DIVISION DIRECTIVES ........................................... 21 

ARTICLE 13 - UNION RELEASE TIME ............................................................................ 22 

ARTICLE 14 - CONTINUATION OF EXISTING BENEFITS AND CHANGES OF 
AGREEMENT .................................................................................................................... 23 

ARTICLE 15 - MISCELLANEOUS ..................................................................................... 24 

ARTICLE 16 - WAGES ...................................................................................................... 26 

FIREFIGHTER WAGE TABLE ...................................................................................... 26 

FIREFIGHTER PARAMEDIC WAGE TABLE ................................................................ 27 

LIEUTENANT WAGE TABLE ....................................................................................... 28 

CAPTAIN WAGE TABLE .............................................................................................. 29 

ARTICLE 17 - PAY PLAN ADMINISTRATION ................................................................ 30 

ARTICLE 18 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME ........................................................ 33 

ARTICLE 19 - PARAMEDICS ........................................................................................... 36 

ARTICLE 20 - LONGEVITY COMPENSATION ................................................................ 37 

ARTICLE 21 - TUITION REIMBURSEMENT ................................................................... 38 

ARTICLE 22 - CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT ALLOWANCE ......................................... 40 

ARTICLE 23 - INSURANCE .............................................................................................. 41 

ARTICLE 24 - HOLIDAYS ................................................................................................. 45 

ARTICLE 25 - VACATION ................................................................................................ 47 

ARTICLE 26 - SICK LEAVE .............................................................................................. 51 

ARTICLE 27 - INJURY LEAVE .......................................................................................... 55 

ARTICLE 28 - SPECIAL LEAVES...................................................................................... 56 



 

3 

ARTICLE 29 - TRADES .................................................................................................... 58 

ARTICLE 30 - MILITARY LEAVE ..................................................................................... 59 

ARTICLE 31 - MINIMUM MANNING ............................................................................... 61 

ARTICLE 32 - COMPENSATORY TIME ........................................................................... 62 

ARTICLE 33 - DUTY LIVING CONDITIONS .................................................................... 63 

ARTICLE 34 - CONTRACTING OUT ................................................................................ 64 

ARTICLE 35 - LAYOFF ..................................................................................................... 65 

ARTICLE 36 - RESIDENCY............................................................................................... 66 

ARTICLE 37 - BADGES .................................................................................................... 67 

ARTICLE 38 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE .............................................................................. 68 

ARTICLE 39 - EARNED TIME .......................................................................................... 69 

ARTICLE 40 - PERSONNEL DOCUMENTATION ............................................................ 71 

ARTICLE 41 - PROMOTIONS ........................................................................................... 72 

ARTICLE 42 - VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS ................................................................ 73 

ARTICLE 43 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT .................................................................. 74 

MOU - ANNUAL RESPIRATORY MEDICAL CERTIFICATION ........................................ 75 

MOU - ANNUAL WELLNESS CERTIFICATION ............................................................... 76 

MOU – HAZARDOUS MATERIAL TECHNICIAN PHYSICAL ........................................... 77 

MOU - PART-TIME COVERAGE ....................................................................................... 78 

 
 
  



 

4 

ARTICLE 1 - AGREEMENT 
 
Section 1.1 Agreement   

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the City of Delaware, 
(hereinafter referred to as the City), and the International Association of Fire 
fighters, Local No. 606, (hereinafter referred to as the Union). 

 
Section 1.2 Purpose   

This Agreement is made for the purpose of promoting cooperation, and 
orderly, constructive and harmonious relations between the City, its 
employees, and the Union. 

 
Section 1.3.  Legal References. 

1. Unless otherwise indicated, the terms of this Agreement shall be 
interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 4117 of the Ohio 
Revised Code.  Where this Agreement makes no specifications about a 
matter, the City, its employees, and the Union are subject to all applicable 
State laws or local ordinances pertaining to the wages, hours, and terms 
and conditions of employment for public employees.  Laws pertaining to 
civil rights, affirmative action, unemployment compensation, and 
retirement of Fire fighters are not superseded by this Agreement except 
where supplemental workers' compensation or supplemental 
unemployment compensation have been negotiated and included herein.  
The conduct and grading of civil service examinations, the rating of 
candidates, the establishment of eligible lists from the examinations and 
original appointments from the eligible lists are not subjects of bargaining 
under this Agreement. 

2. Should any part of this Agreement be held invalid by operation of law or 
by any tribunal of competent jurisdiction, or should compliance with or 
enforcement of any part of this Agreement be restrained by any such 
tribunal, pending a final determination as to its validity, such invalidation 
or temporary restraint shall be limited to the circumstances which the law 
or tribunal has prescribed and shall not invalidate or affect the remaining 
portions hereof.  In the event of invalidation of any portion  of this 
Agreement by a tribunal of competent jurisdiction, and upon written 
request by either party, the parties to this Agreement shall meet as soon as 
practicable, but no later than thirty (30) days of receipt of the written 
request, in an attempt to modify the invalidated provisions by good faith 
negotiations. 

3. All references in this Agreement to the male gender shall be equally 
applicable to the female gender. 

4. The City agrees that no employee hereunder, shall be asked to make any 
written or verbal agreement which may in any way conflict with this 
Agreement. 

 
 



 

5 

Section 1.4 Sanctity of Agreement.   
1. No changes in this Agreement shall be negotiated or effected during the 

duration of this Agreement, unless there is a written accord by and 
between the parties hereto to do so.  Any negotiated changes, to be 
effective and incorporated in this Agreement, must be in writing and 
signed by the parties and accepted by the authorized City representatives 
and by the Bargaining Unit. 

2. This Agreement shall be binding upon the successors and assigns of the 
parties thereto, and shall not impede on any management rights under the 
Management Rights Article of this Agreement nor ORC 4117.08 (C). 

 
Section 1.5 Enforceability of Agreement.   

The City and the Union assert and believe that the provision of this Agreement 
is enforceable in a Court of Law. 

 
Section 1.6 Changes in Terms and Conditions of Employment.   

Subject to the specific rights retained by the City in this Agreement, the City 
recognizes its legal obligation under Ohio Revised Code Chapter 4117 to 
bargain with the IAFF prior to implementation of any changes in wages, hours 
or other terms and conditions of employment applicable to members of the 
Bargaining Unit. 

 
 



 

6 

ARTICLE 2- RECOGNITION 
 
Section 2.1 Recognition 

The City hereby recognizes the International Association of Fire fighters, Local 
No. 606, as the sole and exclusive representative for all employees included in 
the Bargaining Unit described in Section 2 of this Article. The Union is 
recognized by the City as the sole and exclusive representative of all 
Bargaining Unit members in any and all matters relating to wages, hours, and 
terms and conditions of employment, and the continuation, modification, or 
deletion of any existing provisions of past Agreements between the parties, 
and the resolution of questions arising under this Agreement. 

Section 2.2 Bargaining Unit 
The Bargaining Unit shall include all full-time fire department employees who 
hold the rank of firefighter, lieutenant and captain, excluding the Fire Chief and 
the Management Captain, who in the absence of the Chief, is authorized to 
exercise the authority and perform the duties of the Chief of the department. 



 

7 

ARTICLE 3 - DEFINITIONS 
 
Appointing Authority:  City Manager 
 
Appointment:  The designation of a person, by due authority, to become an employee 
in the position, and his induction into said position. 
 
Calendar Month:  From the first day to and including the last day of one of the twelve 
calendar months. 
 
Calendar Week:  Seven consecutive calendar days starting at 12:00 a.m. on Sunday 
and ending at 11:59 p.m. on Saturday. 
 
Class:  A group of positions with the same descriptive title having similar duties and 
responsibilities and requiring similar qualifications and which can be distinguished 
from other groups or positions. 
 
Classified Service:  All positions and employment not specifically included by 
provisions of the City Charter as being in the unclassified service. 
 
Compensatory Time:  Time off with pay for authorized overtime worked in lieu of 
salary and wages. 
 
Demotion:  A change of an employee from a position of one class to a position of a 
different class having a lower rate of pay. 
 
Earned Time:  Time off with pay in the form of Holiday, Compensatory time, Personal 
Days. 
 
Eligible List:  A list of names of persons who have been found qualified through 
suitable tests for reinstatement or employment. 
 
Employee/Employees:  As used in this Agreement means members of the 
Bargaining Unit. 
 
Full Time Status:  Employment which requires active service to be performed in 
accordance with an established working time, such schedule to be based upon not 
less than 80 hours per 14 consecutive calendar days. 
 
Holdover:  When a member is in an overtime status that extends the ending of their 
scheduled work shift. 
 
Kelly Day:  A 24 hour day off that exists for the purpose of reduction in time in order 
to not trigger FLSA overtime payment requirements. 
 



 

8 

Original Appointment:  Initial appointment of a person to a position in the City 
service, or appointment after service has been interrupted by resignation, retirement, 
or discharge. 
 
Overtime:  Time during which an employee is on duty, working for the City of 
Delaware in excess of regularly scheduled hours of work.  Overtime applies only to 
that time authorized to be worked by the Fire Chief or designee in accordance with 
this Agreement. 
 
Paid Status:  Shall include compensation received for work performed and when on 
authorized leave with pay. 
 
Pay Period:  A two calendar week period beginning on a Wednesday and ending on 
the second Tuesday. 
 
Pay Plan:  A schedule of compensation rates established for the classes of positions 
of the Division of Fire. 
 
Pay Range:  The minimum and maximum pay rates, together with the intermediate 
rates, if any, established for a class. 
 
Pay Step:  Each of the regular pay steps in a pay range. 
 
Permanent Status:  The rights and privileges granted to an employee who has been 
appointed to a classified position after certification from an eligible list or as 
otherwise provided by the City Charter, and completion of the probationary 
employment period. 
 
Position:  Any office, employment or job calling for the performance of certain duties 
and the exercise of certain responsibility by one individual, a position may be vacant, 
part-time or full-time. 
 
Pre-scheduled Overtime:  Overtime for required and requested training and 
overtime scheduled with the member at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the 
beginning of the overtime. 
 
Provisional Appointment:  Appointment of an individual possessing the minimum 
qualifications for the position involved, in the absence of, and pending the 
establishment of an eligible list. 
 
Reappointment:  An appointment from an eligible list of a person, whose name has 
been restored to said list, said person previously having permanent status and 
separated from the City in good standing. 
 
Re-Employment:  Return to duty of a person who is laid off due to lack of work or 
lack of funds. 



 

9 

 
Resignation:  The voluntary termination of employment by the employee. 
 

SENIORITY:  FOR THE PURPOSES OF THIS AGREEMENT, SENIORITY 
SHALL BE COMPUTED ON THE BASIS OF UNINTERRUPTED LENGTH OF 
CONTINUOUS, ACTIVE FULL-TIME SERVICE AS SWORN, REGULAR FULL-
TIME FIREFIGHTER, REGARDLESS OF RANK, APPOINTED PURSUANT TO 
THE CIVIL SERVICE RULES IN THE CITY OF DELAWARE. CONTINUOUS 
SERVICE SHALL BE DEEMED BROKEN WHEN A MEMBER RESIGNS, 
RETIRES, IS DISCHARGED, OR FAILS TO TIMELY RETURN TO DUTY 
AFTER AN APPROVED LEAVE OF ABSENCE FOLLOWING WRITTEN 
NOTIFICATION TO SO RETURN. ONCE CONTINUOUS SERVICE IS 
BROKEN, A MEMBER LOSES ALL PREVIOUSLY ACCUMULATED 
SENIORITY. TIME SPENT WHILE ON SUSPENSION OR UNPAID STATUS 
SHALL NOT CONSTITUTE A BREAK IN SERVICE, BUT SHALL TOLL 
SERVICE TIME FOR THAT PERIOD. 
 
SENIORITY IN RANK: THE LENGTH OF A MEMBER’S SERVICE WITHIN 
HIS RANK. 
 
Upgrading:  Raising all of the positions by amending the Agreement to provide a 
higher pay range. 
 
Workday:  An eight (8) hour shift, or a ten (10) hour shift, for those employees 
working a forty (40) hour week, a twelve (12) hour shift for those employees working 
a forty-two (42) hour week, and a twenty-four (24) hour shift for those employees 
working a three (3) platoon system. 
 



 

10 

ARTICLE 4 - MANAGEMENT RIGHTS 
 
Section 4.1 Unless otherwise agreed and set forth in this Agreement, the City shall 

retain all rights imposed upon it by law to carry out the administration of 
government and management of the City, including the Fire Department.  The 
right to manage shall include, but not be limited to: 

 
1. The right to direct, supervise, evaluate, hire, promote, transfer, assign, 

schedule, layoff and retain employees; and also to suspend, discipline, 
demote and discharge for just cause. 

2. The right to effectively manage the work force and to determine the 
number of personnel needed in an agency or department, or to perform 
any function; determine services to be rendered, operations to be 
performed, utilization of technology, organizational structure and overall 
budget.     

3. The right to purchase equipment, materials, or services, or to subcontract 
for services, except that the City agrees that it will not subcontract under 
any circumstances that will result in the layoff of members or the 
continued layoff of members. 

4. The right to determine the appropriate job classifications and personnel 
by which government operations are to be conducted; determine the 
overall mission of the unit of government; maintain and improve the 
efficiency and effectiveness of government operations.                   

5. The right to make reasonable rules to regulate the work force and to 
establish and amend personnel policies and procedures relating to any 
matter which is not set forth in this Agreement.  

6. The right to take any necessary actions to carry out the mission of the City. 



 

11 

ARTICLE 5 - DUES 
 
Section 5.1 Union Dues Deductions.   

The City will deduct from the wages and turn over to the appropriate 
designated officer of Local No. 606, International Association of Fire fighters, 
the regular monthly Union dues of such member who shall individually and 
voluntarily certify in writing that they authorize such deduction.  This 
authorization shall be specifically in writing, and will require the employee 
and the Union to agree to hold the City harmless for any payment made to the 
Union by the City during the term of the voluntary assignment.  All members 
of the Bargaining Unit shall either become dues paying members of the Union 
or, as a condition of continued employment, remit to the Union a fair-share fee 
in the amount set from time to time by the Union in accordance with the 
provisions of O.R.C. 4117.09 (C).  Said amount shall be deducted from all wages 
of all such non-members on the same basis as the deductions made for dues 
from members of the Union. The amount deducted from the employee's 
paycheck with regard to the local dues which are voluntarily authorized, shall 
be turned over to the Union no later than thirty (30) days following such 
deduction. 

 
Section 5.2 Other Deductions.   

The City further agrees to deduct from the pay of those employees authorizing 
such deduction, and turn over to the appropriate party, monies designated for 
purposes such as credit union, savings bonds, United Appeal, and similar 
causes in accordance with the City's current policy on payroll deductions.  
These deductions shall be subject to the City's ability to maintain an efficient 
payroll procedure. 

 



 

12 

ARTICLE 6 - NONDISCRIMINATION 
 
Section 6.1 Discrimination Prohibited.   

The City and the Union shall not discriminate against any member of the 
Bargaining Unit on the basis of the member's age, race, color, sex, creed, 
religion, ancestry, marital status, political affiliation, handicap or national 
origin as provided by law. 

 
Section 6.2 Union Activity.   

The City agrees not to discriminate against any member of the Bargaining Unit 
on the basis of his membership or non-membership in the Union, nor to 
discriminate, interfere with, restrain or coerce any member because of or 
regarding his activities as an officer or other representative of the Union. 

 
Section 6.3 Representation.   

The Union agrees to fairly represent all members of the Bargaining Unit 
subject to the provisions and procedures set forth in Sections 4117.11(B)(6) 
and 4117.12 of the Revised Code regardless of whether or not the member of 
the Bargaining Unit is also a member of the Union. 

 



 

13 

ARTICLE 7 - PROBATIONARY PERIOD 
 
Section 7.1 New Hires Probationary Period.   

The probationary period for all newly hired employees will be a period of 
twelve (12) months from the date of hire, or six (6) months from the date of 
successful completion of Fire Academy training, whichever is longer. Total 
Probationary period shall not exceed (19) nineteen months.  After successful 
completion of the probationary period, employees will be credited with 
seniority from the original date of hire. During the probationary period, the 
member may be dismissed if the member fails to demonstrate that he can 
completely and satisfactorily perform the job.   

 
Section 7.2 Promotional Probationary Period.   

Any member who is promoted shall serve a six (6) month probationary period 
or three (3) months from when the Chief determines that minimum job 
classification requirements that exist at the time that the promotion is made 
are met, whichever is longer, from the date of his promotion.  If the member 
fails to demonstrate that he can completely and satisfactorily qualify for and 
perform the job within the probationary period, the City may return the 
employee to his former classification, without any loss in seniority.  Any other 
members who are promoted following and as a result of this member's 
promotion shall also be returned to their former positions. 

 
Section 7.3 Adjustments and Extensions.   

1. The probationary periods required herein may be extended if the member 
is on an authorized leave of absence or other approved leave equal to or 
greater than 30 days.  The probationary periods shall be extended by the 
length of the authorized leave of absence or other approved leave. 

2. In addition to the extension allowed in the preceding paragraph, if in the 
sole discretion of the City an extension is necessary to properly evaluate a 
member's performance and determine whether or not he can completely 
and satisfactorily qualify for and perform the job, the required 
probationary period may be extended up to a maximum of one month 
more, provided the City provides written notice to the member of such an 
extension at least ten (10) days prior to the date the member would 
otherwise complete his probationary period.  The length of the extension 
will depend upon the circumstances warranting the extension. 

 
Section 7.4. Recourse.   

No member may arbitrate a dismissal or demotion effected during his 
probationary period in accordance with the terms of this Article. 

 
Section 7.5. Rehires.   

Former members who completed their probationary period and are rehired 
by the City after a separation from service shall be subject to the probationary 
period established in Section 1 of this Article. 



 

14 

ARTICLE 8 - NO STRIKE, NO LOCKOUT 
 
Section 8.1 Strikes Prohibited.   

It is understood and agreed that the services performed by the employees 
covered by this Agreement are essential to the public health, safety and 
welfare.  The Union, therefore, agrees that it will not authorize, instigate, aid, 
condone, or engage in any strike, work stoppage, or other action at any time 
which will interrupt or interfere with the operation of the City for the duration 
of this Agreement.  No employee represented by the Union shall cause or take 
part in any strike, work stoppage, slowdown, or other action which will 
interrupt or interfere with the operation of the City.  In the event of a violation 
of this Article, the Union agrees to take affirmative steps with the employees 
concerned such as letters, bulletins, telegrams, employee meetings and public 
denouncement of any violation to bring about an immediate resumption of 
normal work. 

 
Section 8.2 Lockouts Prohibited.   

The City agrees that it will not engage in any lockout of employees covered by 
this Agreement. 

 
 



 

15 

ARTICLE 9 - LABOR/MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE 
 
Section 9.1   

In the interest of sound Labor/Management Relations, unless mutually agreed 
otherwise, the employer and/or his designee(s) shall meet at least annually on 
a mutually agreeable day and time, with not more than three (3) 
representatives of the IAFF to discuss pending problems and to promote a 
more harmonious labor/management relationship. 

 
Section 9.2    

An agenda will be exchanged by the parties at least five (5) working days in 
advance of the scheduled meeting with a list of matters to be taken up in the 
meeting and the names of those representatives who will be attending.  The 
purpose of such meeting shall be to: 
1. Discuss the administration of this agreement. 
2. Notify the union of changes made by the employer which affect bargaining 

unit members of the IAFF. 
3. Discuss grievances which have not been processed beyond the final step of 

the grievance procedure when such discussions are mutually agreed to by 
the parties. 

4. Disseminate general information of interest to parties. 
5. Discuss ways to increase productivity and improve effectiveness. 
6. Consider and discuss health and safety matters relating to employees. 

 
Section 9.3    

It is further agreed that if special labor/management meetings have been 
requested, and mutually agreed upon, they shall be convened as soon as 
possible. 

 
Section 9.4    

Although questions of contract interpretation are appropriate for discussion 
in these meetings, it is not intended that the meetings replace the collective 
bargaining process or be used as a forum for trying to alter this agreement.  
Although it is intended that the parties can suggest any topic for discussion 
that relates to terms and conditions of employment, no discussion constitutes 
a waiver of any of the Chief's or the City's management rights. 

 



 

16 

ARTICLE 10 - CORRECTIVE ACTION 
 
Section 10.1 Just Cause.    

Except as provided in Article 7 of this Agreement, no Bargaining Unit member 
shall be removed, reduced in pay or position, suspended or reprimanded 
except for just cause.                

 
Section 10.2 Progressive Discipline.    

The City agrees to follow the principle of progressive, corrective action.  The 
Fire Chief may skip any step of progressive action if the violations are of a very 
serious nature.  Further, the City agrees to fairly and equitably discipline 
members. 

 
Section 10.3 Use of Prior Discipline.   

In assessing proper levels of discipline, the City will take into account the 
length of time since any previous offenses have occurred.  Records of 
Instruction and Cautioning will not be used as a basis for further discipline two 
(2) or more years after issuance, and records of written reprimand will not be 
used as a basis for further discipline three (3) years or more after issuance.  By 
the request of the member and providing there has been no intervening 
discipline, discipline records after the 2 or 3 year period shall be disposed of 
in accordance with the Human Resources Public Records Retention Schedule. 
 

Section 10.4 Disciplinary Investigation. 
Employees under investigation for a disciplinary determination may be placed 
on administrative leave and any such administrative leave shall be with pay 
until a determination has been made by the employer.  Once the employee is 
the subject of an investigation, the City will notify the employee, and schedule 
a review hearing within thirty (30) calendar days.  If the investigation involves 
a criminal nature, the above prescribed time lines shall be waived by the 
parities.  No determination involving a disciplinary suspension without pay or 
termination shall be made before scheduling a review hearing.  A review 
hearing shall be held before a non-bargaining unit supervisor for all 
disciplinary actions which may result in a suspension of three (3) days or less.  
A review hearing shall be held before the City Manager or his designee for all 
disciplinary actions which may result in a suspension of more than three (3) 
days, demotions and for terminations.  Union representation shall be present 
at such hearing if so desired by the employee. 

 
Section 10.5 Suspension Defined. 

For the purposes of this Article and corrective action, suspensions will 
generally be administered in time off in increments of 8 hours for 40 hour 
members and 10 hours for 50 hour members. 
 
 
 



 

17 

ARTICLE 11 - GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE 
 
 
Section 11.1 Grievance Defined.   

Should any difference or dispute arise between the City and any employee, 
group of employees in the Bargaining Unit or the Union with respect to the 
interpretation or application of this agreement, it will be considered a 
grievance and must be resolved in accordance with the provisions of this 
Article. 

 
Section 11.2 Grievance Liaison.   

The Union will designate not more than three (3) grievance liaisons, one from 
each shift.  From among these three grievance liaison representatives, the 
Union may appoint a grievance liaison chairman. 

 
Section 11.3 No Loss of Pay.   

A grievant shall not suffer any loss of regular pay for time spent presenting his 
grievance in any of the steps in this grievance procedure during regular duty 
hours. 

 
Section 11.4 Union Representation.   

A grievant shall be entitled to a Union representative at steps 1, 2, 3, and 4 of 
this procedure.  The Union representative shall be entitled to present the 
grievance on behalf of the grievant if the grievant so desires, to ask questions 
and to have full participation.  The grievant's Union representative will not 
suffer any loss of regular pay for time spent representing a grievant in 
discussions under this procedure during regular duty hours.  Grievants' and 
grievance representatives should not use City paid time to reduce a grievance 
or appeal to writing, to investigate the facts regarding a grievance or facts 
regarding other similar situations, to engage in discussions with others 
regarding a grievance or to otherwise prepare to present a grievance at any of 
the steps in this procedure.  However, the City recognizes that members may 
have conversations regarding grievances during slow work hour periods and 
shall not discipline such members for conversations or activities related to 
such conversations as long as such activity does not interfere with the 
performance of job duties. 

 
Section 11.5 Meetings.   

All meetings regarding this grievance procedure may occur during the 
grievant's duty hours and the grievant and his representative, if he desires one, 
shall be released from duty for the purpose of attending such meetings 
provided that neither the grievant nor his representative, if one is desired, are 
needed to satisfy the City's manpower needs. 

 
 
 



 

18 

Section 11.6 Working Days.   
For the purposes of this "Article", the term "Working Days" will not include 
scheduled days off, approved leaves or holidays. 

 
Section 11.7 Steps.   
 All grievances shall be resolved in accordance with the following procedure: 

1. Step 1.  
If any employee, group of employees, or the Union believe that he or they 
have a grievance (as defined above), he or they shall first informally 
discuss the grievance with the Fire Chief or designee within ten (10) 
calendar days of the incident, or within ten (10) calendar days of the time 
the employee should have been aware of the incident.  If the grievant is not 
satisfied with the proposed disposition of the grievance, then within ten 
(10) calendar days:     

2. Step 2.  
The grievance shall be reduced to writing and shall be signed by the 
aggrieved employee, employees, or the Union and presented to the Fire 
Chief or designee. Such written grievance shall designate the relief or 
disposition sought.  Any grievance not reduced to writing and submitted to 
the Fire Chief shall be considered as abandoned.  The Fire Chief shall 
answer, in writing, all grievances within ten (10) calendar days of their 
receipt.  (The day of submission is not counted as a day of this step or any 
succeeding step.)  If the grievant is not satisfied with the proposed 
disposition, then within ten (10) calendar days: 

3. Step 3.  
The grievance shall be presented to the City Manager.  Such written 
grievance shall designate the relief or disposition sought.  Any grievance 
not reduced to writing and submitted to the City Manager shall be 
considered as abandoned. On any grievance submitted in writing to the 
City Manager or his designee, the grievant and the grievant's 
representative shall meet to discuss the grievance within ten (10) calendar 
days.  The City Manager or his designee shall answer in writing all 
grievances within ten (10) calendar days of the meeting.  (The day of 
submission is not counted as a day of this step or any succeeding step.)  

4. Step 4.                                                      
 

1. Appeal to Arbitration.  - Should a member-grievant, after receiving 
the written answer to his grievance in Step 3 of the Grievance 
Procedure, still feel that the grievance is unresolved to his satisfaction, 
he may, upon approval of the Union, request it be heard before an 
arbitrator.  The Union Grievance Chairman must make application to 
the City Manager or his designee for arbitration within fourteen (14) 
calendar days of his receipt of the written answer from the City 
Manager (Step 3). 

2. Selection of Arbitrator. - Within fourteen (14) calendar days 
following receipt of the Union's application for arbitration, the City 



 

19 

Manager, or his designee, and a Union representative will consult and 
attempt to select an impartial arbitrator by mutual agreement.  In the 
event these representatives cannot reach an agreement on an 
arbitrator, by joint letter the parties will request the Federal Mediation 
and Conciliation Service (FMCS), or the State Employment Relations 
Board (SERB) to submit a panel of arbitrators.  Within 35 days from the 
date on the arbitrator panel list received from FMCS or SERB, the City 
and the Union shall select an arbitrator by mutual agreement.  If 
agreement cannot be reached as to one mutually acceptable arbitrator 
from the panel, an arbitrator will then be selected by the 
representatives of the parties alternately striking names and selecting 
the final remaining name.  Failure by either party to mutually select an 
arbitrator from the panel, alternately strike names from the panel or to 
reject the panel within 35 days of the date on the panel list shall 
constitute a waiver on the part of that party to participate in the 
arbitrator selection process  

3. Authority of the Arbitrator. - The arbitrator shall conduct a fair and 
impartial hearing on the grievance, hearing and recording testimony 
from both parties and applying the rules of the American Arbitration 
Association.  The arbitrator shall not have the authority to add to, 
delete from, or modify any provisions of this Agreement.  It is expressly 
understood that the ruling and decision of the arbitrator, within his 
function as described herein, shall be binding. 

4. Arbitrator Costs.  - The costs of any proofs produced at the direction 
of the arbitrator, the fee of the arbitrator and the rent, if any, for the 
hearing room shall be borne entirely by the loser.  The arbitrator shall 
designate in his/her award the prevailing party, or the predominately 
prevailing party, and shall submit all charges to the other party for 
payment.  Such charges shall not be divided by the arbitrator between 
parties in any manner or under any circumstances without prior 
approval of both parties.  The expenses of any witnesses shall be borne, 
if at all, by the party calling them.  The fees of the court reporter shall 
be paid by the party asking for one; such fees shall be split equally if 
both parties desire a reporter or request a copy of the transcript.  
Grievants, or grievance representatives, and witnesses called by the 
City who appear at such a hearing during their normally scheduled 
working hours shall not suffer any loss of pay.  Member witnesses, 
other than the grievant or the grievance representative, called by the 
Union will be afforded time off, without pay, or will be allowed to use 
accumulated leave time to attend the hearing, manpower needs 
permitting. 

5. Arbitrator's Findings. - The arbitrator's decision shall be based solely 
upon his interpretation of the meaning or application of the express 
terms of this Agreement to the facts of the grievance presented.  The 
arbitrator shall render in writing his findings as quickly as possible 
within thirty (30) calendar days after the hearing, or within thirty (30) 



 

20 

calendar days after submission of post-hearing briefs, if any, and shall 
forward such findings and all supporting data to the office of the City 
Manager and to the Union.                                 

 
Section 11.8 Time Limits.   

It is the Administration's and the Union's intention that all the time limits in 
the above Grievance Procedure shall be met.  To the end of encouraging 
thoughtful responses at each step, however, the Union's and the 
Administration's designated representative may mutually agree, at any step, 
to short time extensions, but any such agreement must be in writing and 
signed by the parties.  In the absence of such mutual extensions, any grievance 
not answered by the City within the specified time limits shall be considered 
to be answered in the negative and automatically advanced to the next step.  
Any step in the Grievance Procedure may be skipped by mutual consent. 

 
Section 11.9 Representatives.   

In each step of the Grievance Procedure outlined in Section 7 above, certain 
specific representatives shall be given approval to attend the meetings therein 
prescribed.  Upon prior notice, either may bring additional representatives to 
any meeting in the Grievance Procedure. 

 
Section 11.10 Nondiscrimination.   

No member or official of the union shall be removed, disciplined, harassed or 
discriminated against because he has filed or pursued a grievance under these 
procedures. 
 



 

21 

ARTICLE 12 - WORK RULES AND DIVISION DIRECTIVES 
 
Section 12.1 

The Administration agrees that, to the extent possible, any work rules which 
the City may promulgate shall be reduced to writing and provided to all 
covered members at least seven (7) days in advance of their enforcement.  Any 
charge by a member that a work rule, or Department Directive, is in violation 
of this Agreement or has not been applied or interpreted uniformly to all 
members, shall be a proper subject for a grievance.  The Administration will 
provide the Union copies of any revised or new work rules, and Department 
Directives, in advance of their intended effective dates. 

 
Section 12.2 

The administration agrees that when it is necessary to change a bargaining 
unit member's work schedule, that member shall be notified at least fourteen 
(14) calendar days before the scheduled change is to take place.  It is 
understood that emergency situations may arise and a fourteen (14) calendar 
day notice may not be possible.  In emergency situations the administration 
agrees to notify the member as soon as possible before the schedule change is 
to take place. 



 

22 

ARTICLE 13 - UNION RELEASE TIME 
 
Section 13.1 

The Union shall be credited each contract year with a total of seventy-two (72) 
hours which may be used as paid time off by union representatives for the 
purpose of attending or participating in union functions or activities.  
Members authorized to use union release time shall be chosen by the Union.  
Time off for union release time shall be in accordance with the terms of Article 
39, Earned Time.  No more than twenty-four (24) unused hours provided in 
accordance with this Article shall be carried over for use in the next contract 
year. 



 

23 

ARTICLE 14 - CONTINUATION OF EXISTING BENEFITS AND CHANGES OF 
AGREEMENT 

 
Section 13.1 

All benefits, rights, privileges and working conditions enjoyed by members of 
the bargaining unit, which have existed for a reasonably long time, have 
occurred repeatedly, have been clear and consistent, and have been known to 
the City and the Local, shall remain in full force, unchanged and unaffected in 
any manner, during the term of this Agreement, unless changed by mutual 
consent of the parties to this Agreement. 

 
Section 13.1 

The Local and the City will strive on a continual basis to reduce all past 
practices to writing. Should a dispute arise during the life of this Agreement 
over a past practice, the final resolution of the dispute shall become binding 
for both parties and will be addressed as such in the form of a letter of 
understanding. 

 
 
 
 
 



 

24 

ARTICLE 15 - MISCELLANEOUS 
 
Section 15.1 Local No. 606 Officials' Roster.   

The Union shall provide to the Administration an official roster of its officers 
and representatives within thirty (30) calendar days of the effective date of 
this Agreement.  This roster will be updated within 30 calendar days of any 
change, and will include the following: 
1. Name 
2. Union Office Held 

 
Section 15.2 Safety.   

The City agrees to continue to provide a safe and healthy work environment 
for all employees consistent within its obligations under the law, and the 
Union agrees to cooperate with the City in its efforts to maintain a safe and 
healthy work environment.  The Union shall be given a copy of injury reports 
upon written request.  If an employee has a justifiable reason to believe that 
his safety and health are in danger due to an alleged unsafe working condition, 
or alleged unsafe equipment, he shall inform his supervisor who shall have the 
responsibility to determine what action, if any, should be taken. 

 
Section 15.3 Agreement Copies.   

Upon completion of negotiations and any required fact-finding and or 
arbitration, the City and the Union shall sign two duplicate copies of this 
Agreement.  The City and the Union shall each maintain a master copy of the 
Agreement.  The City and the Union shall be responsible for providing copies 
to their respective members.  Copies for any new employees who are hired 
during the life of the Agreement shall be provided by the City.  Where copies 
must be provided, electronic copies are permitted. 

 
Section 15.4 Assignments.   

Fire fighters, other than those receiving out-of-class pay, will not be assigned 
administrative duties. 

 

Section 15.5 Bulletin Boards.   
The Union shall be provided a Union bulletin board at all fire stations.  Union 
bulletins and Union materials only will be permitted to be posted on this 
bulletin board. 

 
Section 15.6 Ballot Boxes.   

The Union shall be permitted, upon prior notification to the Fire Chief, to place 
a ballot box at the Central Fire Station up to four (4) times per calendar year 
for the purpose of collecting  members' ballots on all Union issues subject to 
ballot.  Such boxes shall be the property of the Union and neither the ballot 
boxes nor their contents shall be subject to the Fire Department's review. 

 
 



 

25 

 Section 15.7 Bargaining Unit Meetings.   
The Union shall be permitted, upon prior written request to the Fire Chief, to 
hold meetings for Union members employed by the City of Delaware at the 
Central Fire Station.  The notification required under this Section shall be 
delivered to the Chief at least forty-eight (48) hours prior to the time for the 
requested meeting and shall state the date, time and requested location of the 
meeting.  The City agrees to allow the Union to use the requested location on 
the date and at the time specified in the Union request provided the location 
is not otherwise in use.  However, under no circumstances will Union use of 
these facilities be permitted to interfere with the business of the City.  In the 
event that permission is granted at the time of the request and the requested 
facility, due to unexpected events arising during the forty-eight (48) hour 
notice period, is needed for City business, then permission will be revoked.  In 
the event that the permission must be revoked, the City will, if possible, give 
the Union at least twelve (12) hours notice of the revocation.  If it is impossible 
to give the Union twelve hours notice, the City will give the Union as much 
notice as possible. 

 
Section 15.8 Use of Intra-Department Mails.   

The Union shall be permitted to utilize the intra-departmental mail boxes for 
the purpose of providing information pertaining to Union business or 
Bargaining Unit representation to Bargaining Unit members.  The Union 
agrees that the use of mail boxes will be reasonable and limited to providing 
information that is necessary for the normal conduct of Union business or 
Bargaining Unit representation.  The City reserves the right to deny such 
access in the event that the use of such boxes interferes with the business of 
the City or the Fire Department by restricting access to such boxes to City or 
Fire Department business.  All mail placed into mail boxes by the Union shall 
be the property of the Bargaining Unit members to whom it is addressed, and 
such mail shall not be subject to the City's review. 
 
 

 



 

26 

ARTICLE 16 - WAGES 
 
Section 16.1 Pay Ranges and Rates.   

For the dates specified below, the new pay rates are effective for the pay 
period starting on the date included in the table.  PAY RATES REFLECT A 
2.25% INCREASE IN YEAR ONE, A 2.25% INCREASE IN YEAR TWO AND A 
2.25% INCREASE IN YEAR THREE. 
 
The differential between ranks shall be as follows: 

1. The Firefighter/Paramedic pay shall be 5% above Firefighter pay; 
2. 1st step Lieutenant pay shall be 2.5% above top step 

Firefighter/Paramedic; 
3. 2nd step Lieutenant pay shall be 6.7% above top step 

Firefighter/Paramedic; 
4. Top step Lieutenant shall be 10.9% above top step Firefighter/Paramedic; 
5. 1st step Captain pay shall be 2.5% above top step Lieutenant; 
6. 2nd step Captain pay shall be 6.7 % above top step Lieutenant; 
7. Top step Captain shall be 10.9% above top step Lieutenant; 

 
FIREFIGHTER WAGE TABLE  

Pay Steps 1 2 3 4 5 

April 4, 2018           

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       28.0992   $       29.9477   $       32.0443   $       33.7438   $       35.2077  

  Hourly (50)  $       22.4794   $       23.9581   $       25.6355   $       26.9951   $       28.1662  

Annual  $   58,446.32   $   62,291.05   $   66,652.32   $   70,187.32   $   73,232.10  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       29.2232   $       31.1456   $       33.3261   $       35.0936   $       36.6161  

Annual (40+4%)  $   60,784.23   $   64,782.86   $   69,318.30   $   72,994.65   $   76,161.39  

April 3, 2019           

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       28.7315   $       30.6215   $       32.7653   $       34.5031   $       35.9999  

  Hourly (50)  $       22.9851   $       24.4972   $       26.2123   $       27.6025   $       28.7999  

Annual  $   59,761.37   $   63,692.60   $   68,151.99   $   71,766.54   $   74,879.83  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       29.8807   $       31.8464   $       34.0759   $       35.8832   $       37.4399  

Annual (40+4%)  $   62,151.88   $   66,240.47   $   70,877.96   $   74,637.03   $   77,875.02  

April 1, 2020           

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       29.3779   $       31.3105   $       33.5025   $       35.2794   $       36.8099  

  Hourly (50)  $       23.5023   $       25.0483   $       26.8021   $       28.2236   $       29.4479  

Annual  $   61,106.00   $   65,125.68   $   69,685.41   $   73,381.29   $   76,564.62  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       30.5530   $       32.5629   $       34.8427   $       36.6906   $       38.2823  

Annual (40+4%)  $   63,550.30   $   67,730.88   $   72,472.71   $   76,316.36   $   79,627.21  



 

27 

FIREFIGHTER PARAMEDIC WAGE TABLE  

Pay Steps 1  2  3  4  5  

April 4, 2018           

  Hourly (40 Temp.)   $       29.5042   $       31.4451   $       33.6465   $       35.4310   $       36.9681  

  Hourly (42)  $       28.0992   $       29.9476   $       32.0444   $       33.7439   $       35.2077  

  Hourly (50)  $       23.6033   $       25.1560   $       26.9173   $       28.3449   $       29.5745  

Annual  $   61,368.64   $   65,405.60   $   69,984.93   $   73,696.69   $   76,893.71  

  Hourly (40 + 4%)  $       30.6843   $       32.7029   $       34.9924   $       36.8483   $       38.4469  

Annual (40 + 4%)  $   63,823.44   $   68,022.00   $   72,784.21   $   76,644.38   $   79,969.46  

  Hourly (42) + $0.65 
shift differential  

 $       28.7492   $       30.5976   $       32.6944   $       34.3939   $       35.8577  

Annual (42) + $0.65 
shift differential 

 $   62,788.24   $   66,825.20   $   71,404.53   $   75,116.29   $   78,313.31  

April 3, 2019           

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       30.1680   $       32.1526   $       34.4036   $       36.2282   $       37.7999  

  Hourly (42)  $       28.7314   $       30.6214   $       32.7654   $       34.5031   $       35.9999  

  Hourly (50)  $       24.1344   $       25.7220   $       27.5229   $       28.9826   $       30.2399  

Annual  $   62,749.44   $   66,877.23   $   71,559.59   $   75,354.87   $   78,623.82  

  Hourly (40 + 4%)  $       31.3747   $       33.4387   $       35.7797   $       37.6773   $       39.3119  

Annual (40 + 4%)  $   65,259.47   $   69,552.49   $   74,421.86   $   78,368.88   $   81,768.77  

  Hourly (42) + $0.65 
shift differential  

 $       29.3814   $       31.2714   $       33.4154   $       35.1531   $       36.6499  

Annual (42) + $0.65 
shift differential 

 $   64,169.04   $   68,296.83   $   72,979.19   $   76,774.47   $   80,043.42  

April 1, 2020           

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       30.8468   $       32.8760   $       35.1777   $       37.0434   $       38.6504  

  Hourly (42)  $       29.3779   $       31.3104   $       33.5026   $       35.2795   $       36.8099  

  Hourly (50)  $       24.6774   $       26.3008   $       28.1422   $       29.6348   $       30.9203  

Annual  $   64,161.30   $   68,381.96   $   73,169.68   $   77,050.35   $   80,392.85  

  Hourly (40 + 4%)  $       32.0807   $       34.1911   $       36.5848   $       38.5251   $       40.1964  

Annual (40 + 4%)  $   66,727.81   $   71,117.42   $   76,096.35   $   80,132.18   $   83,608.57  

  Hourly (42) + $0.65 
shift differential  

 $       30.0279   $       31.9604   $       34.1526   $       35.9295   $       37.4599  

Annual (42) + $0.65 
shift differential 

 $   65,580.90   $   69,801.56   $   74,589.28   $   78,469.95   $   81,812.45  

 

 
 
 
 



 

28 

LIEUTENANT WAGE TABLE  

Pay Steps 1 2 3 

April 4, 2018       

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       37.8924   $       39.4450   $       40.9976  

  Hourly (50)  $       30.3140   $       31.5560   $       32.7982  

Annual  $   78,816.28   $   82,045.56   $   85,275.38  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       39.4081   $       41.0228   $       42.6376  

Annual (40+4%)  $   81,968.88   $   85,327.39   $   88,686.11  

April 3, 2019       

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       38.7450   $       40.3325   $       41.9201  

  Hourly (50)  $       30.9960   $       32.2660   $       33.5362  

Annual  $   80,589.65   $   83,891.59   $   87,194.07  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       40.2948   $       41.9458   $       43.5969  

Annual (40+4%)  $   83,813.18   $   87,247.25   $   90,681.55  

April 1, 2020       

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       39.6168   $       41.2400   $       42.8633  

  Hourly (50)  $       31.6934   $       32.9920   $       34.2907  

Annual  $   82,402.92   $   85,779.15   $   89,155.94  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       41.2014   $       42.8896   $       44.5778  

Annual (40+4%)  $   85,698.98   $   89,210.32   $   92,721.89  

 
  



 

29 

CAPTAIN WAGE TABLE  

Pay Steps 1 2 3 

April 4, 2018       

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       42.0226   $       43.7446   $       45.4665  

  Hourly (50)  $       33.6181   $       34.9956   $       36.3732  

Annual  $   87,406.96   $   90,988.49   $   94,570.29  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       43.7035   $       45.4944   $       47.2851  

Annual (40+4%)  $   90,903.29   $   94,628.31   $   98,353.10  

April 3, 2019       

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       42.9681   $       44.7288   $       46.4895  

  Hourly (50)  $       34.3745   $       35.7830   $       37.1916  

Annual  $   89,373.62   $   93,035.73   $   96,698.12  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       44.6868   $       46.5180   $       48.3491  

Annual (40+4%)  $   92,948.62   $   96,757.44   $ 100,566.05  

April 1, 2020       

  Hourly (40 Temp.)  $       43.9349   $       45.7352   $       47.5355  

  Hourly (50)  $       35.1479   $       36.5881   $       38.0284  

Annual  $   91,384.52   $   95,129.04   $   98,873.83  

  Hourly (40+4%)  $       45.6923   $       47.5647   $       49.4369  

Annual (40+4%)  $   95,039.96   $   98,934.49   $ 102,828.78  

 
 
Section 15.2 Application of Hourly Rates.   

The hourly rates set forth under this section are based on a forty (40) hour, 
forty-two (42) hour, or fifty (50) hour workweek and shall be used to calculate 
salaries for hours actually worked or in paid status for the appropriate pay 
range and pay step. 

 
Section 15.3 Forty-Hour Employees.   

1. Forty-hour employees THAT ARE NOT RECEIVING THE MEDIC 
DIFFERENTIAL will receive an additional four percent (4%) of their base 
salary as established above.  This additional amount is included in the wage 
rates above. Employees temporarily assigned to a 40-hour work week are 
not eligible for the 4% differential.   

2. Forty-Two hour employees will receive an additional shift differential of 
sixty-five ($0.65) cents per hour as established in the wage rates above. 

3. A temporary assignment will be 14 calendar days or less, except the 
following circumstances: light duty, orientation of new employees, and 
initial training to secure paramedic certification.  

 



 

30 

ARTICLE 17 - PAY PLAN ADMINISTRATION 
 
Section 17.1 Fire Fighters.   

The Fire Fighter pay plan shall consist of five (5) individual steps within a 
single pay grade through which Fire Fighters shall move laterally (from Step 
One to Step Five) as depicted below.   

 
1. Step One (1) shall be the entrance level and minimum salary for Fire 

Fighters. 
2. Fire Fighters shall advance to Step Two (2) on the first day of the first pay 

period which commences more than six (6) months after successful 
completion of the academy, or nine (9) months after their date of hire, 
whichever comes first. 

3. Fire Fighters shall advance to Step Three (3) on the first day of the pay 
period following completion of six (6) months of continuous service at the 
Step Two (2) level. 

4. Fire Fighters shall advance to Step Four (4) on the first day of the pay  
period following completion of one (1) year of continuous service at the 
Step Three (3) level. 

5. Fire Fighters shall advance to Step Five (5) on the first day of the pay period 
following completion of one (1) year of continuous service at the Step Four 
(4) level. 

6. The date upon which Fire Fighters officially enter the Step One (1)  pay 
category shall constitute the Fire Fighters hire date and shall serve as the 
basis upon which any accrual of salary and/or benefits provided under this 
Agreement are calculated. 

7. Time off without pay shall delay any salary step increase by an equivalent 
amount of workdays involved.  The effective date of such return to regular 
paid status shall serve as the new basis for any accrual of salary and/or 
benefits. 

8.  All salary rates provided by this Agreement are determined on the   
basis of regular full-time employment by the City.  All such salary   
benefits shall be paid bi-weekly. 

9.  Salary step advancements prescribed in this article shall occur   
automatically with regard to Fire Fighters. 

 
Section 17.2 Lieutenants.   

The Fire Lieutenant pay plan shall consist of three (3) individual steps within 
a single pay grade through which the Fire Lieutenant shall move laterally 
(from Step One to Step Three) as depicted below.         

 
1. Step One (1) shall be the entrance level and minimum salary for 

Lieutenants.                                                         
2. Lieutenants shall advance to Step Two (2) on the first day of the first pay 

period following one (1) year of continuous service at the Step One (1) 
level.                                          



 

31 

3. Lieutenants shall advance to Step Three (3) on the first day of the pay 
period following completion of one (1) year of continuous service at the 
Step Two (2) level.               

4. Time off without pay shall delay any salary step increases by an equivalent 
amount of workdays involved.  The effective date of such return to regular 
paid status shall serve as the new basis for any accrual of salary and/or 
benefits. 

5. All salary rates provided by this Agreement are determined on the basis of 
regular full-time employment by the City.  All such salary benefits shall be 
paid bi-weekly. 

6. Salary step advancements prescribed in this article shall occur 
automatically with regard to Lieutenants.                            

 
Section 17.3 Captains.   

The Fire Captain pay plan shall consist of three (3) individual steps within a 
single pay grade through which the Fire Captain shall move laterally (from 
Step One to Step Three) as depicted below.         

 
1. Step One (1) shall be the entrance level and minimum salary for Captains.                                                         
2. Captains shall advance to Step Two (2) on the first day of the first pay 

period following one (1) year of continuous service at the Step One (1) 
level.                                          

3. Captains shall advance to Step Three (3) on the first day of the pay period 
following completion of one (1) year of continuous service at the Step Two 
(2) level.               

4. Time off without pay shall delay any salary step increases by an equivalent 
amount of workdays involved.  The effective date of such return to regular 
paid status shall serve as the new basis for any accrual of salary and/or 
benefits. 

5. All salary rates provided by this Agreement are determined on the basis of 
regular full-time employment by the City.  All such salary benefits shall be 
paid bi-weekly. 

6. Salary step advancements prescribed in this article shall occur 
automatically with regard to Captains.                            

 
Section 17.4 Specifications of the Pay Plan.   

Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of Section One (above), the rate of 
pay for members affected by personnel actions listed below shall be as follows: 

 
1. Disciplinary Demotion - Whenever a member is demoted for disciplinary 

reasons, he shall be paid at the top step in the lower pay grade. 
2. Voluntary - Whenever a member with regular full-time status requests and 

is granted, a voluntary demotion, is terminated due to either lack of work 
and/or funds in one classification and is entitled to an automatic demotion 
to a lower classification where he previously held regular full-time status, 
his rate of pay shall be at the top step of the lower pay grade. 



 

32 

3. Reappointment - Whenever a member is reappointed to a position where 
he previously held regular full-time status, his rate of pay shall be that at 
which he was being paid at the time of his separation from that class with 
the approval of the Fire Chief. 

4. Re-employment - Whenever a member is re-employed by the City, his rate 
of pay shall be that which he was being paid at the time of his separation 
from City employment, with the approval of the Fire Chief. 

5. Return from Military Leave - Whenever a member returns from military 
leave, he shall be restored in his former position at the step which 
corresponds to the step he received at the time of his departure and, in 
addition, shall be granted any increase in salary to which he would have 
been entitled had he not entered the military service. 

 
Section 17.5 Acting Pay.   

1. Until the City hires Lieutenants, the following shall apply: 
a. A fire fighter serving as an acting Officer shall be paid for all hours 

so served at the first step Captain’s rate of pay. 
2. Once the City hires Lieutenants, the following shall apply:  

a. A fire fighter serving as an acting Officer shall be paid for all hours 
so served at the first step Lieutenant’s rate of pay.  A lieutenant 
serving as an acting Captain shall be paid for all hours so served at 
the first step Captain’s rate of pay. 

 
 

 
 



 

33 

ARTICLE 18 - HOURS OF WORK AND OVERTIME 
 
Section 18.1 Definition.   

1. For Forty Hour employees the workweek shall consist of forty (40) hours 
based on five (5) eight-hour workdays and two (2) days off, or four (4) ten-
hour workdays and three (3) days off.  Absent emergency conditions 
requiring otherwise, days off shall always be consecutive days, though not 
necessarily in the same workweek.  The salary and wage ranges prescribed 
in the pay plan for the respective positions are based upon a workweek of 
forty (40) hours and a work year of 2,080 hours. 

2. For Fifty hour employees the workweek shall consist of fifty- (50) hours 
and a three-platoon system.  This is to be worked as a twenty-four (24) 
hour shift.  Each member shall receive one day off (Kelly Day) during each 
27-day period.  

3. For Forty-Two hour employees the workweek shall consist of forty-two 
(42) hours based on a two week cycle of three (3) twelve-hour workdays 
and two (2) days off, followed by two (2) twelve-hour workdays and three 
(3) days off, followed by two (2) twelve-hour workdays and two (2) days 
off. 

 
Section 18.2 Overtime.   

1. Forty (40) hour employees shall be compensated at the straight-time 
rates for all hours in paid status, except that all hours worked in paid status 
in excess of eight (8) in any day, (or ten (10) if a ten-hour schedule is in 
place) or forty (40) in any workweek, shall be compensated in accordance 
with Section 4 of this Article.  Payment in cash shall be made for any 
overtime due at the time of separation from the City service. 

2. For fifty (50) hour employees, the work period for purposes of 
calculating overtime shall be twenty-seven (27) days.  Such employees 
shall be compensated In accordance with Section 4 of this Article, for all 
authorized hours worked in excess of 204 hours in any one work period or 
in excess of twenty-four (24) hour in any shift. 

3. For forty-two (42) hour employees, the work period for purposes of 
calculating overtime shall be fourteen (14) days.  Such employees shall be 
compensated in accordance with Section 4 of this Article, for all authorized 
hours worked in excess of 106 hours in any one work period or in excess 
of twelve (12) hours in any shift. 

 
Section 18.3 Overtime Policy.   

It shall be the policy of the Administration to avoid overtime work except 
when absolutely necessary.  The Administration shall not compensate for 
overtime work in any form or manner except on the advance authorization of 
the appropriate supervisor, except that in an emergency such authorization 
may be granted subsequently. 

 
 



 

34 

Section 18.4 Call in Pay/Court Pay/Medic In-Service.   
Any member who works outside of their regularly scheduled shift, not 
including hold over overtime or pre-scheduled overtime, shall be paid double 
time for the first hour so worked and time and one-half, on a minute by minute 
basis, for all time greater than one (1) hour.  Hold over overtime and pre-
scheduled overtime shall be paid at time and one-half, on a minute by minute 
basis.  Overtime pay shall be based on the member's regular hourly rate of pay, 
be it a forty (40) hour, forty-two (42) hour,   or a fifty (50) hour rate.   Court 
pay shall only apply when the legal proceedings pertain expressly to City 
business as authorized by the City. 

 
Section 18.5 Compensatory Time Off or Cash Payments.   

All overtime earned shall be compensated for by accrual of compensatory 
time, or cash payment within the same pay period at the member's discretion.  
Such compensatory time off shall be equivalent to the hours earned in section 
4 of this article to which the member is entitled. 

 
Section 18.6 Separation Payment for Compensatory Time.   

A member who is to be separated from the service through discharge, 
resignation, retirement or layoff, and who has unused compensatory time to 
his credit, shall be paid the cash value for such accrued compensatory time, 
per Article 39, Earned Time. 

 
Section 18.7 Compensatory Time Payment at Death.   

When a member dies while in paid status, the cash value of any unused 
compensatory time, in addition to vacation leave pay to his credit, shall be paid 
to the surviving spouse or to the estate of the deceased member, Article 39, 
Earned Time. 

 
Section 18.8 Captains.   

It is understood by the parties that this Article applies to all bargaining unit 
members, including Captains. 

 
Section 18.9 Kelly Day.   

The Kelly Day for each member covered by Article 18, Section 1(b) shall be 
scheduled by DECEMBER 15 of each year to coincide with prescheduled 
vacation scheduling in Article 25.  The member off on a Kelly Day shall be 
considered as the first member off for purposes of Article 39, Section 5.  A 
member's receipt of a Kelly Day shall not affect the bi-weekly salary to which 
the member is otherwise entitled. 
 

Section 18.10 Leap Year. 
 The 29th day of February in Leap Year will be used as a means to allow the 

units to rotate holidays worked.  This will be accomplished by having each of 
the three units work eight (8) hours on February 29.  Members of the 
bargaining unit who are assigned to the three crew system during the last 



 

35 

week of February of each leap year shall be affected by the terms of this 
section.  Kelly time consisting of eight (8) hours shall be granted to each such 
member of the bargaining unit during the last week of February in each leap 
year.  Such Kelly time of eight (8) hours shall be credited to the member’s 
vacation time balance.  The eight (8) hours shall only be credited to a 
member’s vacation balance if they actually work that day.  If a member is off, 
they will be charged the normal accrual rate 

 
Section 18.11 Assignment to the Forty-Two Hour Workweek (12 Hour Shifts). 
 The City will not involuntarily assign any employee(s) hired before January 1, 

2012 to the forty-two (42) hour schedule described in Section 1 of this Article.  
This Section 11 is only meant to address the City’s right to make schedule 
assignments, and does not prevent the City from assigning non-forty-two hour 
employees to work with forty-two (42) hour employees. 

 
 



 

36 

ARTICLE 19 - PARAMEDICS 
 

Section 19.1 Filling Vacancies.   
Vacancies within the Paramedics will be filled by an interview process, 
utilizing an interview board consisting of the fire chief, two paramedics and 
the department's medical officer.  Consideration shall be given to members 
with greater seniority.                     

 
Section 19.2 Eligibility.   

To be eligible for the paramedic pay classification all new certifications must 
be approved by the Chief, in advance. 

 
Section 19.3 Dropping Certification.  

1. Members hired prior to June 28, 2004: Members who are certified 
paramedics may, after serving as a paramedic for ten years, voluntarily 
drop their certification as a paramedic, but not before.  The member 
voluntarily dropping his certification must give at least one year's written 
notice of his intent to the City.   

2. Members hired after June 28, 2004: Members who are or become 
certified paramedics may not drop their paramedic certification unless 
with a recommendation from a City doctor and/or the written 
authorization from the Fire Chief and City Manager.  Dropping a 
certification must be for demonstrated extenuating circumstances. 

 
Section 19.4 Voluntary termination of employment. 

Members who voluntarily terminate their employment with the City within 2 
years of becoming certified as a Paramedic through funds by the City or grants 
received by the City shall be responsible for the reimbursement procedures 
under the Tuition Reimbursement article. 

 



 

37 

ARTICLE 20 - LONGEVITY COMPENSATION 
 
Section 20.1 Compensation.   

Members shall receive, in addition to other pay called for herein, Longevity 
Compensation based on completed years of service according to the following 
table: 

 
1. After five (5) years of continuous service  $600/year 
2. After ten (10) years of continuous service     $800/year 
3. After fifteen (15) years of continuous service    $1,000/year 
4. After twenty (20) years of continuous service     $1,200/year 
5. After twenty-five (25) years of continuous service   $1,400/year 

 
Section 20.2 Payment.   

The Longevity Compensation shall be paid, in accordance with the above 
schedule, in two (2) separate lump sum payments during the first pay periods 
of June and December of each year.  Payment shall be based upon continuous 
years of service in the Delaware City Fire Department as of the first day of the 
first pay period in June. 

 
Section 20.3 Termination of Employment.   

Upon termination of service for any reason, members who are eligible for 
Longevity Compensation under this Section (or in the event of death, surviving 
spouse or estate) will be paid as part of their terminal pay, the final partial year 
of Longevity Compensation, prorated to the number of months completed 
during said partial year since the member's last payment date. 

 
Section 20.4 Treatment of Military Leave.   

For the purpose of this Section, continuous years of service shall include 
approved military leave. 

  



 

38 

ARTICLE 21 - TUITION REIMBURSEMENT 
 
Section 21.1 

All full-time employees with one or more years of continuous active service 
shall be eligible for consideration of instructional fee reimbursement of 
undergraduate or graduate courses towards a degree or certification, pre-
approved by the City and voluntarily undertaken by the employee.  The tuition 
reimbursement program shall be subject to the following conditions: 

 
1. All courses shall be taken during other than normal working hours.  All 

scheduled hours for courses of instruction must be filed with the Fire Chief 
or his designee.  All courses are subject to approval of the Fire Chief.  There 
must be a correlation between both the member’s current duties and 
responsibilities, and/or any positions within the Fire Department that 
could become available, and the courses taken or the degree program 
desired.  Any situation, which, in the discretion of the Fire Chief, would 
require a member’s presence on the job, shall take complete and final 
precedence over any time scheduled for courses. 

2. Any financial assistance received by a member from any governmental or 
private agency, regardless of when such assistance may have been 
received, shall be deducted in the entire amount from the tuition 
reimbursement the member is eligible for under this section.  If a member’s 
tuition is fully covered by another governmental or private agency, then 
the member is not entitled to any payment from the City.  A member shall 
make reasonable effort to secure any other financial assistance. 

3. Employees will be eligible for tuition reimbursement for properly 
approved and completed coursework up to $3,500 for calendar year 
(January 1 to December 31).  Courses may be taken at any accredited 
college, university, community college, or other institution of higher 
learning.  The employee will be responsible for any tuition in excess of the 
above-mentioned amounts.  An application for tuition reimbursement 
must be completed by the member prior to enrolling in the class work for 
which reimbursement is requested. 

4. Reimbursement for tuition will be made when the member satisfactorily, 
completes (attains at least a grade of “C” or its equivalent for 
undergraduate work and a grade of at least “B” or its equivalent for 
graduate work) a course and presents an official certificate or its 
equivalent and a receipt of payment or a copy of the unpaid bill from the 
institution confirming completion of the approved course. 

5. Reimbursement will not be granted for books, paper, supplies of whatever 
nature, transportation, meals, or any other expense connected with any 
course, except the cost of tuition and fees as outlined in Paragraph D. 

6. Any employee participating in the tuition reimbursement program who 
resigns (except resignation due to disability), retires (except retirement 
due to disability) or is discharged for just cause must repay the tuition 
reimbursement paid by the City for courses taken less than two years prior 



 

39 

to the date of termination or discharge.  If necessary, this amount will be 
deducted from the employee’s terminal leave pay or final paycheck. 



 

40 

ARTICLE 22 - CLOTHING AND EQUIPMENT ALLOWANCE 
 
Section 22.1 Initial Issue.   

Upon appointment, each recruit shall receive an initial uniform and 
equipment.  All such purchases will be made by the Delaware Fire Department.  
Newly hired probationary employees are required to return all issued 
equipment and supplies if a separation occurs during their probationary 
period.  Equipment that is not recovered by the Fire Department will be 
deducted from any remaining paychecks. 

 
Section 22.2 Clothing.   

1. All Bargaining unit members shall receive shirts, pants, shoes, ties, jackets, 
and other articles of clothing as needed at the discretion of the Fire Chief.  
All such uniform purchases shall be made by the Delaware Fire 
Department.  Clothing shall be submitted for purchase in a timely manner. 

2. None of the items listed in this article, may be worn while off duty.  
Uniforms must be worn during and only during assigned work hours. 

 
Section 22.3 Turnout Gear.   

1. The Delaware Fire Department will purchase and provide turnout gear to 
all uniformed ranks.  The City will endeavor to see that the type and quality 
of those items to be purchased should be satisfactory to the Union Safety 
Committee (to be N.F.P.A. and/or O.S.H.A. approved), but the ultimate 
discretion and responsibility rests with the Fire Chief. 

2. The City will provide safety apparel as needed at the discretion of the City. 
3. Upon termination, all safety equipment and turn out gear provided to the 

employee pursuant to this section must be returned to the City. 
 
Section 22.4 Damaged Property or Equipment.   

1. The City will replace or repair any lost or damaged department property 
or equipment, including the member's uniforms, provided the loss or 
damage is not the result of the member's intentional abuse or negligence. 

2. When any item reaches the end of its useful life, or is damaged, it will be 
replaced when turned in to the fire chief or his designee, who shall have 
the sole discretion in determining if replacement is necessary. 



 

41 

ARTICLE 23 - INSURANCE 
 
Section 23.1 Hospitalization, Surgical and Major Medical. 

1. The City will provide comprehensive hospitalization, surgical and major 
medical coverage for all full-time members and their dependents.  
Beginning October 1, 2004, or at some date thereafter, the City may 
implement a Preferred Provider Organization (PPO).  The Plan if 
implemented will provide for the following deductibles and co-payments 
as follows: 

 

 NETWORK 
PROVIDERS 

NON-NETWORK 
PROVIDERS 

 

Annual Deductible       Single 
 

Family 

 

None 
 

None 

 

$500 
 

$1,000 

Office Visit Co-pay $10 N/A 
 

ER Visit 
 

$50 unless admitted into   

the hospital, otherwise co- 

insurance will apply in 

excess of the deductible. 

 

N/A 

 

Co-insurance                  
Single 
 
Family 

 

 90/10% of first $1,000 

 80/20% of next $3,000 
 

 90/10% of first $2,000 

 80/20% of next $5,000 

 

  50/50% of first $5,000 
 

 
  50/50% of first $10,000 

 
 

2. The parties acknowledge that all of the "wellness benefits" added to the 
plan effective January 1, 1992 are subject to all of the generally applicable 
plan limits, such as deductibles and co-payments.  Contributions will be 
deducted from the member's gross income prior to taxes, subject to 
compliance with all applicable federal tax regulations. 

3. Effective the first full pay period following execution of this Agreement, 
employees will contribute to the cost of the health benefit plan in an 
amount equal to  11% of the established monthly COBRA rate utilized by 
the City, and if the percentage premium contributions for the City’s Police 
Patrol Officers and Police Supervisors bargaining units are increased to 
15% of the established monthly COBRA rate utilized by the City, then the 
first month following the effective date of that increase, the percentage 
premium contributions for employees under this Agreement unit will be 
commensurately increased (to 15%).  Annually, in April, the monthly 
COBRA rate to be utilized by the City will be established.  Subsequent 



 

42 

annual changes to the calculated COBRA rate will be applied to the monthly 
employee contributions on the first pay date in April of each year.  

4. Contributions will be deducted from all members in a paid status based on 
twelve (12) months times the monthly rate, divided by the number of pay 
periods per year (26).  An example would be $68.33/mo. x 12 = $819.96, 
$819.96/26 pay periods = $31.53 per pay period.  In the event federal tax 
regulations are changed so that medical benefit plans are no longer tax 
exempt, the City will not be responsible to pick up the member's tax 
burden. 

5. The City will permit employees who have alternate health options through 
a spouse to opt out of the City plan in return for a payment of $100.00 per 
month.  Families who have both spouses employed full time by the City of 
Delaware will not be eligible to opt out of the plan.  One spouse will carry 
the cost of the plan minus the opt out payment. The employee will provide 
proof that they do in fact have other coverage before the City will drop that 
employee's current coverage.  The City will continue to provide dental 
coverage if it is not provided under the employee's spouse's insurance.  A 
member may elect to return to coverage under the City's insurance plan by 
notifying the City in writing of any substantial changes in circumstances 
which the member determines justifies such decision.  The member must 
give thirty (30) days notice of his or her election to return to the City's plan, 
except in the case of an emergency, such as sudden loss of spouse's 
coverage, significant cost increase of spouse's coverage, divorce or other 
change in family status. The plan will comply with Internal Revenue Code 
Section 125 which governs this matter. 

6. Employees who opt out of the health insurance program will be 
compensated as follows: 

No Coverage     $100 per month 
MAINTAIN PRESCRIPTION ONLY   $60 PER MONTH  
Maintain Dental Only   $65 per month 
MAINTAIN PRESCRIPTION AND DENTAL  $55 PER MONTH 

* An employee may not elect to have medical coverage only. 
7. Payments will begin on the first pay period of the month following 30 days 

notice of an employee’s desire to drop coverage.  A form will be provided 
which will contain all information necessary to discontinue coverage 
under the plan.  The form must be signed and returned to the Department 
of Administrative Services.  Until such time that an employee is effectively 
dropped from City coverage, they will be subject to any payroll 
contributions. 

8. All payments made in lieu of insurance coverage will be included as other 
pay on employee's paycheck.  This income will not be included in income 
subject to OP&F contributions but will be subject to all applicable taxes. 

 
Section 23.2 Prescription Card. 

1. The City will provide a prescription card plan for members and their 
dependents.  The prescription benefits will be the following, with the City 



 

43 

paying the higher amount and the employee paying the lesser amount of 
prescription coinsurance: 

 

Drug Retail Benefits Mail Order Benefits 

Generic Drugs 80/20% 90/10% 

Name Brand Drugs 
50/50% with $25 copay 
for each disbursement 

75/25% for name brand  
drugs with no co-pay 

 
2. The maximum expense a member will pay for coinsurance is $500 for 

Family coverage and $250 for Single coverage annually for prescription 
benefits, however the $25 co-pay for retail, name brand drugs will not 
count towards the calculation of the $500 or the $250 coinsurance 
maximum and will always apply even after a member reaches the $500 or 
$250 coinsurance maximum expenditure.  

 

Section 23.3 Dental Care. 
The City will maintain dental coverage for full time members. 

 
Section 23.4 Life Insurance. 

The City will maintain life insurance for full time members at a face value of 
$100,000. 

 
Section 23.5 Certificate of Coverage. 

The City shall provide a certificate of coverage for each member.  Such 
certificate shall be for the members' family situation. 

 
Section 23.6 Insurance Review Committee. 

1. The City and the IAFF agree to participate in a city-wide employee-
management insurance review committee for the purpose of mutually 
monitoring the status of the health plan.  This review committee shall meet 
at least annually.   

2. The City reserves the right to change providers of health benefits including 
the PPO Plan, the prescription card plan and the dental plan. 

3. The Employer agrees to provide bargaining unit members health plan 
coverage.  Such coverage may be provided through a self-funded plan or an 
outside insurance carrier/provider.  Cost containment measures may be 
adopted by the Employer in consideration of projected costs, market 
availability of coverage and utilization.  The Employer shall meet and 
confer with the Union regarding health care providers and levels of 
coverage but the employer shall make the final determination if a 
consensus is not reached. 

 
Section 23.7 Liability Insurance Coverage. 



 

44 

The City shall provide, if available, the following insurance coverages:  
ambulance driver’s malpractice and fire fighters errors and omissions.  A 
certificate of coverage shall be provided to the bargaining unit.  If at any time 
during this contract the cost of this coverage exceeds $10,000 per year, the 
parties agree to re-open negotiations, upon either parties' request, for the 
purpose of discussing these coverages. 

 
  



 

45 

ARTICLE 24 - HOLIDAYS  
 
Section 24.1 Holidays.   

The following are designated as paid holidays for members: 
 
    New Year's Day 
    Martin Luther King Day 
    Memorial Day 
    Independence Day 
    Labor Day 
    Little Brown Jug Day (one-half day) 
    Thanksgiving Day 
    Day after Thanksgiving Day 
    Day before Christmas (one-half day) 
    Christmas Day 
 
Section 24.2 Holiday Time Off.   

For each holiday observed on a member's workday, said member shall work 
that holiday  unless the member requests and is granted the day off by the 
Duty Officer, or in his absence, the Fire Chief through the use of vacation or 
holiday leave.   

 
Section 24.3 Holiday Payment.   

1. For each of the holidays specified in Section l of this Article on which a 
member works, he shall be entitled to holiday compensation equal to 
double the member's regular rate of pay, except that members shall be 
entitled to holiday compensation at two and one-half times the members' 
regular rate of pay if they work on any of the following holidays:  New 
Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving 
Day, and Christmas Day. 

2. Members who do not work on a designated holiday, either because they 
are not scheduled to work that day or because they request and are 
granted vacation or holiday leave, will receive holiday compensation of 
eight (8) hours pay for forty (40) hour employees, eight and four tenths 
(8.4) hours for forty-two (42) hour employees, and ten (10) hours pay for 
fifty (50) hour employees, at the member's regular hourly rate. 

3. A member on unpaid leave of absence during a holiday will not be entitled 
to receive holiday pay. 

4. Holiday compensation will be a combination of cash payment and 
compensatory time off in accordance with the City's current practice on 
holiday compensation. 

 

Section 24.4 Celebration Day for Holidays.   
For the purposes of holidays, holiday time shall apply to the tour of duty 
beginning on the day which is celebrated as a holiday, except that for shift 



 

46 

personnel who work the night before a holiday, the tour of duty beginning the 
night before a holiday shall be considered the holiday tour of duty. 

 
Section 24.5 Personal Days.   

Members shall be given four (4) personal days a year.  Forty hour employees 
will receive eight (8) hours for each personal day, forty-two hour employees 
will receive eight and four tenths (8.4) hours for each personal day,  and fifty 
(50) hour employees will receive ten (10) hours for each personal day, at the 
members regular hourly rate. 



 

47 

ARTICLE 25 - VACATION 
 
Section 25.1 Accrual.   
      

1. Vacation Year - The vacation year for members, for purposes of accrual of 
vacation time, shall end at the close of business on the last day of the last 
full pay period in the month of December. 

2. Conditions for Accrual of Vacation Leave for Forty (40) Hour 
Employees. Each employee working an average forty (40) hour workweek 
shall accrue vacation leave by pay period based upon years of service as 
established in Paragraph C of this Section.  To determine the appropriate 
accrual rate, the higher rate of accrual will begin on the first day of the pay 
period in which a year of service is completed. 

3. Accrual Schedule for Forty (40) Hour Employees - The following 
vacation accrual schedule shall be established for forty (40) hour 
uniformed employees of the Delaware Fire Department: 

 

        Vacation Hours 
   Length of Service   Per Pay Period 
   Less than 5 years   3.1 hours 
   5 years but less than 10 years  4.6 hours 
   10 years but less than 15 years 6.2 hours 
   15 or more years   7.7 hours 

4. Maximum Accrual of Vacation for Forty (40) Hour Employees - Any 
vacation balance in excess of the maximum number of hours established in 
this paragraph shall become void as of the last day of the vacation accrual 
year, as established in Paragraph A of this Section, for those employees 
governed by this Section.  The maximum number of vacation hours that 
may be accrued based on years of service are as follows: 

        Maximum Accrual of 
   Length of Service   Vacation Hours 
   Less than 5 years   320 hours 
   5 years but less than 10 years  480 hours 
   10 years but less than 15 years 640 hours 
   15 or more years   800 hours 

5. Conditions for Accrual of Vacation Leave for Forty (42) Hour 
Employees - Each employee working an average forty (42) hour 
workweek shall accrue vacation leave by pay period based upon years of 
service as established in Paragraph F of this Section.  To determine the 
appropriate accrual rate, the higher rate of accrual will begin on the first 
day of the pay period in which a year of service is completed. 

6. Accrual Schedule for Forty (42) Hour Employees - The following 
vacation accrual schedule shall be established for forty (42) hour 
uniformed employees of the Delaware Fire Department:3 

 
 



 

48 

        Vacation Hours 
   Length of Service   Per Pay Period 
   Less than 5 years   3.23 hours 
   5 years but less than 10 years  4.85 hours 
   10 years but less than 15 years 6.46 hours 
   15 or more years   8.08 hours 

7. Maximum Accrual of Vacation for Forty (42) Hour Employees - Any 
vacation balance in excess of the maximum number of hours established in 
this paragraph shall become void as of the last day of the vacation accrual 
year, as established in Paragraph A of this Section, for those employees 
governed by this Section.  The maximum number of vacation hours that 
may be accrued based on years of service are as follows: 

        Maximum Accrual of 
   Length of Service   Vacation Hours 
   Less than 5 years   336 hours 
   5 years but less than 10 years  504 hours 
   10 years but less than 15 years 672 hours 
   15 or more years   840 hours 

8. Conditions for Accrual of Vacation Leave for Fifty (50) Hour 
Employees -  Each employee working under the three platoon system shall 
accrue vacation leave by pay period based on years of service as 
established in the schedule in Paragraph I of this Section.  To determine the 
appropriate accrual rate, the higher rate of accrual will begin on the first 
day of the pay period in which a year of service is completed.       

9. Accrual Schedule for Fifty (50) Hour Employees - The following 
vacation accrual schedule shall be established for employees working a 
fifty (50) hour week: 

        Vacation Hours 
   Length of Service                          Per Pay Period 
   Less than 5 years   4.1 hours  
   5 years but less than 10 years  5.8 hours  
   10 years but less than 15 years 8.3 hours  
   15 or more years   9.9 hours 
 

10. Maximum Accrual of Vacation for Fifty (50) Hour Employees - Any 
vacation balance for fifty (50) hour employees in excess of the maximum 
number of hours established in this Paragraph shall become void as of the 
last day of the vacation accrual year, as established in Paragraph A of this 
Section, for all employees governed by this Section.  The maximum number 
of vacation hours that may be accrued, based on years of service, as of the 
vacation accrual year are as follows: 

        Maximum Accrual of 
   Length of Service   Vacation Hours 
   Less than 5 years 428.5 hours 
   5 years but less than 10 years  603.5 hours 
   10 years but less than 15 years 857.0 hours 



 

49 

   15 or more years 1032.0 hours 
11. No vacation credit shall be earned by any employee working on an average 

forty (40) hour workweek for any pay period in which such employee is off 
duty and is not in paid status for more than eight (8) hours of regularly 
scheduled work; and no vacation credit shall be earned by an employee 
working an average forty-two (42) hour workweek for any pay period in 
which such employee is off duty and not in paid status for more than twelve 
(12) hours of regularly scheduled work, and no vacation credit shall be 
earned by an employee working an average fifty (50) hour workweek for 
any pay period in which such employee is off duty and not in paid status 
for more than twenty-four (24) hours of regularly scheduled work, except 
that when an employee is required to report for work and does so report, 
and is denied work because of circumstances beyond his control, absence 
from work for the balance of the day shall not be construed as unpaid work 
status. 

12. An employee who is about to be separated from City service through 
discharge, resignation, retirement, or layoff, who has unused vacation 
leave to his credit, shall be paid in a lump sum for such unused leave in lieu 
of granting such employee a vacation leave after his last day of active 
service with the City.  Such payment shall be paid at the employee's hourly 
rate at the time of separation.  Such payment shall not exceed four (4) years 
accumulation of vacation leave based on the years of service, unless 
unusual circumstances exist. 

13. When an employee dies while in paid status in the City service, any unused 
leave to his credit shall be paid in a lump sum to the surviving spouse, or 
to the estate of the deceased. 

 
Section 25.2   

Vacation leave for fifty (50) hour employees may be taken in twelve (12) hours 
increments at the request of the employee with the approval of the duty 
officer.   Vacation leave for forty-two (42) hour employees may be taken in six 
(6) hour increments at the request of the employee with the approval of the 
duty officer.  Vacation leave for forty (40) hour employees may be taken in four 
(4) hour increments at the request of the employee with the approval of the 
duty officer.  Disapproval of requested time off will be accompanied by a 
written explanation to both the member and the Fire Chief, stating the reason 
for denial. 

 
Section 25.3 Scheduling.   

For the purpose of scheduling, the vacation year will begin on JANUARY 1 and 
end on DECEMBER 31.  Requests for vacation must be received by the duty 
Captain on or before DECEMBER 15.  Requests will be filled on a basis of 
seniority within the shift.  Each member may choose from one (l) to ten (10) 
working days in sequence.  After each member of the shift has taken his first 
choice, the process shall be repeated a second time. 

 



 

50 

Section 25.4   
After the pre-scheduled vacation schedule has been completed (Sections 2 and 
3 above), vacation requests may be granted for any remaining available days.  
Pre-scheduled vacation requests shall be granted in accordance with Article 
39, Section 5.  Non-pre-scheduled vacation requests shall be granted in 
accordance with Article 39, Sections 2, 3, and 5. 

 
Section 25.5   

Any member ordered to work while on approved vacation leave shall be paid 
at one and one-half times the forty hour rate for all hours worked unless the 
Chief of Fire declares an emergency exists in the City, and all leaves are 
canceled. 

 
Section 25.6   

A member may elect to trade up to three (3) weeks of vacation leave for 
equivalent pay during any calendar year.  The member must inform the Fire 
Chief prior to Sept. 1 of the year preceding the calendar year in which he 
intends to make the trade and the vacation leave will be paid between January 
1 and December 31 of the following year at the employee’s request. The 
employee must maintain at least forty (40) hours (for forty-hour employees), 
forty-two (42) hours (for forty-two hour employees) or fifty (50) hours (for 
fifty hour employees) of vacation credit in the employees account after said 
trade takes place. 



 

51 

ARTICLE 26 - SICK LEAVE 
 
Section 26.1 Accrual.   

1. Each City employee shall be entitled to sick leave with pay of four and six-
tenths (4.6) hours for each completed by-weekly pay period for all forty 
hour employees, (4.85) hours for each completed by-weekly pay period for 
all forty-two hour employees, and six (6.0) hours for each completed bi-
weekly pay period for fifty hour employees.  An employee may use sick 
leave, upon approval of his department or division head, for absence due 
to personal illness, pregnancy, injury, exposure to contagious disease 
which could be communicated to other employees, and due to Illness or 
injury of the employee's spouse, children, or step-children, parent, step-
parent, or any other living legal guardian dependent. 

2. Unused sick leave shall be cumulative without limit.  When sick leave is 
used, it shall be deducted from the employee's credit on the basis of one 
(1) hour for every one (1) hour of absence from previously scheduled 
work. 

3. Each employee will be required to sign a verification statement that his 
absence was the result of one of the causes specified above.  For any sick 
leave absence of three (3) or more consecutive work days due to an 
employee's illness, an employee will be required to provide a physician's 
certificate.  Such certificate shall include the nature of the illness or injury, 
the inability to perform his duties, the prognosis, and the estimated date 
when the employee can be expected to return to work.  Failure of the 
employee to provide such statement and sick leave use form when 
requested may result in the denial of sick leave pay. 

4. The City retains the right to insist that an employee, before returning to 
work from a personal sickness leave, be examined by a physician 
designated by the City at the City's expense to verify the employee can 
safely return to work.  Alternatively, the employee required to see a 
physician may see a physician of his own choosing, at the City's expense, if 
the physician is certified and licensed. 

5. Falsification of a physician's certificate shall be grounds for disciplinary 
action, including dismissal. 

 
Section 26.2 Transfer.   

Any person who has been previously employed by any public agency within 
the state and accumulated unused sick leave under the provisions of O.R.C. 
Chapter 124 shall, if his employment by the City in any of its various 
departments takes place within six (6) months of the termination of his service 
in any of the other public service agencies within the state, have his 
accumulated unused sick leave time credited to his sick leave account with the 
City.  Any sick leave time transferred shall have been accumulated at the rate 
of one and one-fourth (1 1/4) days per month of employment with the public 
agency and a total of not more than ninety (90) days may be transferred. 

 



 

52 

Section 26.3 Conversion   
1. Conversion For 40 Hour Members - Any City employee who is working 

an average forty (40) hour workweek who has accumulated at least eight 
hundred (800) hours of sick leave credit may convert any excess thereof 
up to a maximum of one hundred and twenty (120) hours of sick leave to 
vacation leave on the basis of two (2) hours sick leave for one (1) hour of 
vacation leave. 

2. Conversion For 42 Hour Members - Any City employee who is working 
an average forty-two (42) hour workweek who has accumulated at least 
eight hundred forty (840) hours of sick leave credit may convert any excess 
thereof up to a maximum of one hundred and twenty (126) hours of sick 
leave to vacation leave on the basis of two (2) hours sick leave for one (1) 
hour of vacation leave. 

3. Conversion for 50 Hour Members - Any City employee who is working 
an average fifty (50) hour workweek who has accumulated at least one 
thousand (1,000) hours of sick leave credit may convert any excess thereof 
up to a maximum of one hundred and fifty (150) hours of sick leave to 
vacation on the basis of two (2) sick leave hours for one (1) hour of 
vacation time. 

 
Section 26.4 Usage.   

Sick leave may be taken in one (1) hour increments. 
 

Section 26.5 Wellness Payment 
1. If a member working an average forty (40) hour work week used 0 hours 

of sick leave in any one calendar year, that member shall be credited with 
an additional twenty-four (24) hours of vacation leave the following year.  
If a member uses between one (1) and eight (8) hours of sick leave in any 
one calendar year that member shall be credited with an additional sixteen 
(16) hour of vacation leave the following year.  If a member uses between 
nine (9) and sixteen (16) hours of sick leave in any one calendar year that 
member shall be credited with eight (8) hours of vacation leave the 
following year. 

2. If a member working an average forty (42) hour work week used 0 hours 
of sick leave in any one calendar year, that member shall be credited with 
an additional twenty-four (25.2) hours of vacation leave the following year.  
If a member uses between one (1) and eight (8.4) hours of sick leave in any 
one calendar year that member shall be credited with an additional sixteen 
(16.8) hours of vacation leave the following year.  If a member uses 
between nine (9) and sixteen (16.8) hours of sick leave in any one calendar 
year that member shall be credited with eight (8.4) hours of vacation leave 
the following year. 

3. If a member working an average fifty (50) hour work week used no hours 
of sick leave in any one calendar year, that member shall be credited with 
an additional forty-eight (48) hours of vacation leave the following year.  If 
a member uses between one (1) and twenty-four (24) hours of sick leave 



 

53 

in any one calendar year that member shall be credited with an additional 
thirty-two (32) hours of vacation leave the following year.  If a member 
uses between twenty-five (25) and forty-eight (48) hours of sick leave in 
any one calendar year that member shall be credited with an additional 
sixteen (16) hours of vacation leave the following year.       

4. At the employee's option any additional vacation days earned can be taken 
in the form of vacation leave or compensation in cash.                  

 
Section 26.6 Payment Upon Separation.   

1. Any member separated from City service for other than just cause who is 
working an average forty (40) hour work week at the time of separation 
shall be paid all accumulated and unused sick leave on the basis of one (1) 
hour of pay for every three (3) hours of unused sick leave up to 650 hours.  
In excess of 650 hours, a member, separated from City service for  other 
than just cause shall be paid for all accumulated and unused sick leave on 
the basis of one (1) hour of pay for every two (2) hours of unused sick 
leave.  Total sick leave payout cannot exceed sixteen (16) weeks pay.      

2. Any member separated from City service for other than just cause who is 
working an average forty (42) hour work week at the time of separation 
shall be paid all accumulated and unused sick leave on the basis of one (1) 
hour of pay for every three (3) hours of unused sick leave up to 682.5 
hours.  In excess of 682.5 hours, a member, separated from City service for  
other than just cause shall be paid for all accumulated and unused sick 
leave on the basis of one (1) hour of pay for every two (2) hours of unused 
sick leave.  Total sick leave payout cannot exceed sixteen (16) weeks pay.   

3. Any member separated from City service for other than just cause who is 
working an average fifty (50) hour work week at the time of separation 
shall be paid all accumulated and unused sick leave on the basis of one (1) 
hour of pay for every three (3) hours of unused sick leave up to 812.5 
hours.  In excess of 812.5 hours, a member, separated from City service for 
other than just cause shall be paid for all accumulated and unused sick 
leave on the basis of one (1) hour of pay for every two (2) hours of unused 
sick leave.  Total sick leave payout cannot exceed sixteen (16) weeks pay.      

4. Upon separation, for other than just cause, of any who has completed a 
minimum of fifteen (15) years of service with the City, all unused sick leave 
credit will be converted to terminal leave pay on the basis of two (2) sick 
leave days to one (1) days pay, to a maximum of sixteen (16) weeks pay. 

 
Section 26.7 For employees hired after April 1, 2015 

Each member hired by the City after April 1, 2015 may transfer accrued sick 
leave hours from previous employment with any public agency but such sick 
leave hours will not be eligible for conversion or payment upon separation 
pursuant to Section 6.  In addition, sick leave usage by members who transfer 
in sick leave hours will first be charged to sick leave hours accumulated while 
employed at the City of Delaware.  Members will only be eligible to utilize 
hours transferred in from prior employment when they have no balance of 



 

54 

sick leave available from sick leave accrued while employed by the City of 
Delaware. Sick leave hours accumulated while employed by the City of 
Delaware are eligible for conversion or payment upon separation as set forth 
in Section 6.  



 

55 

ARTICLE 27 - INJURY LEAVE 
 
Section 27.1 Injury Leave.   

All regular full-time City employees shall be entitled to injury leave with pay, 
less any Workers' Compensation weekly salary benefits which he may be 
awarded by the Ohio Industrial Commission (OIC), for a period not to exceed 
one hundred and twenty (120) consecutive working days for employees 
working a forty (40) hour workweek, not to exceed eighty-four (84) 
consecutive working days for employees working a forty-two (42) hour 
workweek, or not to exceed sixty (60) consecutive working days (including 
Kelly Days) for employees working a fifty (50) hour workweek, for each fully 
certified injury incurred in the performance of employment duties with the 
City, provided the following procedures are followed: 

 
1. In all cases of personal injury to any regular full-time City employee as a 

result of the performance of employment duties, the employee shall 
complete an "Injury Leave Report" form and, in conjunction with his 
respective department head, shall report such injury to the Assistant City 
Manager immediately and ensure that a claim is filed with the Ohio 
Industrial Commission.          

2. In the event that time off work is required by the injured employee, they 
will be granted injury leave from the first day of injury if the proper 
documentation is submitted to the City of Delaware. This documentation 
will include, but not be limited to, a statement from the employee's 
physician, an agreement covering compensation reimbursement, any 
necessary O.I.C. forms and other documents as may be required by the City.  
In the event that the Ohio Industrial Commission determines that the 
injury is not employment related, any time the employee is, or has been, 
absent from work shall be deducted from the accrued sick leave, accrued 
vacation or accrued compensatory time off other than compensatory  time 
off for overtime worked.  

3. During the period of time an injured employee is being paid under this 
policy, all normal benefits given to regular full-time City employees shall 
remain in force with no deductions to earned sick leave and/or vacation 
time.     

4. For each injury, the City reserves the right to have an employee examined 
one time, at the City's expense, by a physician of the City's choice.  The 
results of any such examination may be used to grant or deny benefits 
under this Article. 

5. In the event the Ohio Industrial Commission certifies a claim for an injury, 
which the City did not certify, the City will retroactively grant the employee 
all leave benefits if the member informed the chief that leave is potentially 
for a work related injury or disease due under this Article.  In such cases, 
the total amount of any sick leave, vacation or accrued compensatory time 
used in lieu of this leave will be credited to the employee. 

 



 

56 

ARTICLE 28 - SPECIAL LEAVES 
 
Section 28.1 Special Leave.   

In additional to other leaves authorized herein, the City Manager or his 
designee may authorize special leave of absence, with or without pay, for 
purposes beneficial to the member and the City. 

 
Section 28.2 Jury Duty Leave.   

A member, while serving during the member's scheduled work hours on a jury 
in any court of record in Delaware County, or any adjoining county, will be paid 
his regular salary for all scheduled work hours during the period of time so 
served.  Time so served shall be deemed active and continuous service for all 
purposes.  All jury fees received from the court of record shall be assigned to 
the City of Delaware.  As soon as jury duty is completed, the member shall 
return to duty for the remainder of the shift. 

 
Section 28.3 Examination Leave.   

Time off with pay shall be allowed members to participate in Civil Service 
tests, or to take a required examination, pertinent to their City employment, 
before a State or Federal Licensing Board with the approval of the Fire Chief. 

 
Section 28.4 Court Leave.   

Time off with pay shall be allowed members who are subpoenaed to attend 
any court of record in Delaware County, Delaware, Ohio, or any adjoining 
county, for testimony in connection with the member's performance of job 
duties as defined by the City.  All witness fees shall be assigned to the City of 
Delaware. 

 
Section 28.5 Funeral Leave.   

Each regular full-time employee shall be entitled to funeral leave with pay 
according to the following schedule: 

 
        Leave for Death of: Days/Hours of Leave 

Local Funeral* 
Days/Hours of Leave 
Other Funeral* 

    

Immediate Family Member 
     

1 - 3 Days  
     

1 - 5 Days  
    

Other Relative 
     

May use up to 1 scheduled 
work day of accrued leave 

     

May use between 1-3 
scheduled work days of 
accrued leave. 

    * One work day/shift is automatic for the day of the funeral, but additional time up to the 
maximum shall be given only with approval of the Fire Chief.            

 

1. For the purposes of this section, "Immediate Family Member" means 
spouse, child, brother, sister, parents, step-child, step-brother, step-sister 
and step-parents, grandparents, sister-in-law, brother-in-law and parents-
in-law. 



 

57 

2. For the purposes of the article, "Local Funeral" means a funeral in the City 
of Delaware, or within fifty (50) miles thereof. 

3. For the purposes of the section, “Other Relative” means aunt, uncle, cousin 
or any other current family member. 

4. All requests submitted shall be approved or denied in a timely manner. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

  



 

58 

 
ARTICLE 29 - TRADES 

 
Section 29.1 Trades.   

The Fire Division will encourage a positive attitude toward approving trades.  
It shall be the policy of the Fire Division to allow trades, except where 
exceptional circumstances exist that would justify disapproval of a trade.  
Exceptional circumstances include, but are not limited to, a trade which would 
result in less than two (2) paramedics on the shift, failure to appear for a 
traded shift more than once in any calendar year or otherwise result in 
insufficient manpower within a given classification. 

 
Section 29.2 Procedure.   

All requests for trades shall be submitted in writing and any disapproval of a 
trade will be accompanied by a written explanation to the member and to the 
Chief of the Division of Fire stating the reason for denial. 

                                                               
Section 28.3 Officers.   

Captains and Lieutenants are permitted to trade shifts only with other 
Captains or Lieutenants, or firefighters who meet the minimum years of 
service for the position and hold a paramedic certification.  Trades must be 
cost neutral (i.e., they may not directly or indirectly cause acting pay).  

 
Section 29.4 Liability.   

The City will not be held responsible or liable for unpaid trades of members as 
supported by 29 U.S.C. 207 (p) (3) and wage and hour regulations 29 C.F.R. 
533.31. 

 
Section 29.5 Safety.   

No member shall work more than one (1) Twenty-four (24) hour traded shift 
in a six (6) calendar day period.  For exceptional circumstances the Fire Chief 
or his designee may waive this limitation. 

 
Section 29.6 Repayment.   

All trades must be repaid within one year from the original trade and must be 
repaid in time not cash. 



 

59 

        ARTICLE 30 - MILITARY LEAVE 
 
Section 30.1 Military Leave. 
 

1. Paid Leave - All eligible members of the Ohio organized militia or 
members of other reserve components of the armed forces of the United 
States, including the Ohio National Guard, are entitled to military leave 
which shall be administered in accordance with federal, state and local 
laws.  

2. Military Leave Without Pay - A member shall be granted a leave of 
absence without pay to serve in the Armed Forces of the United States of 
America, or any branch thereof. Such leave of absence shall be governed by 
the following principles: 

1. No eligible member shall lose his rank, grade, or seniority enjoyed 
at the time of his enlistment, induction, or call into the active service 
(other than for military training leave) of the Armed Forces of the 
United States of America, or any branch thereof, except that a 
provisional member, at the time of entering active military service, 
shall not be entitled to restoration to his position if an eligibility list 
from which appointments to such positions may be made has been 
established prior to his application for restoration to such position. 

2. Any member who has entered the service, as stated above, upon his 
Honorable Discharge, or a Discharge with Honorable Conditions, 
from the service and establishment of the fact that his physical and 
mental condition has not been impaired to the extent of rendering 
him incapable to perform the duties of the position, shall be 
returned to the position he held immediately prior to his enlistment 
or induction into the service or to a position of equal rank and grade 
Such member must request restoration to his position within ninety 
(90) days of receiving an Honorable Discharge, or a Discharge with 
Honorable Conditions, from the Armed Forces or his position will 
be declared vacant. Nothing contained in this Section shall obligate 
the City to pay a member who is on military leave of absence. 

3. Any member serving in a position vacated temporarily due to the 
previous incumbent being in the military service shall be 
determined to have been given a permanent appointment, if the 
returnee fails to exercise his restoration rights within the 
prescribed time. 

4. The term "Armed Forces of the United States", as used in this 
Section shall be deemed to include such services as designated by 
the Congress of the United States. 

5. Any member transferred or advanced to a position by reason of 
vacancy caused by a member serving in the Armed Forces shall be 
returned to the position he held before said transfer or 



 

60 

advancement, or to a position of equal rank or grade upon the 
return of the member from the service. 

6. A member who achieves permanent status while filling a vacancy 
resulting from the enlistment or induction of a member into 
military service shall be placed on an eligibility list in the order of 
his original position, upon the return of that member from service. 

7. In any case where two (2) or more members (who are entitled to be 
restored to a position) left the same position in order to enter the 
Armed Forces, the member with the greatest seniority in that 
classification shall have the prior restoration right without 
prejudice to the re-employment rights of the other member or 
members to be restored. 

8. Where service in the Armed Forces results from induction or call to 
active duty, leave shall be granted for the duration of such call. 



 

61 

ARTICLE 31 - MINIMUM MANNING 
 
Section 31.1   

In order to provide adequate and proper protection within the City, and to the 
uniformed employees of Local 606, a minimum of seven (7) uniformed 
employees per shift will be maintained in total and assigned between the main 
fire station and any substation, to include a minimum of two (2) paramedics.  
The City retains the right to assign such uniformed employees to any of the 
City’s fire stations based on the manpower needs at the time. 

 
1. In the event of an emergency, the manpower will be brought back up to 

five (5) men on station through the call-in of paid full-time off-duty men.  
2. Exception will be on all fire alarms whereby only two (2) off-duty men will 

be called in until the officer in charge evaluates the situation. 
3. Call-in employees will be released as manpower/vehicle status becomes 

available and men will not be held over if their services are no longer 
required.                      

4. The Chief and all uniformed forty (40) hour personnel do not have to be 
physically present at the Fire House to count toward the minimum 
manning requirement as long as they are on duty and in a position to 
respond to the alarm.                           

 
  



 

62 

 
ARTICLE 32 - COMPENSATORY TIME 

 
Section 32.1   

Accumulation and use of compensatory time shall be governed by Article 18, 
Hours of Work and Overtime, and Article 39, Earned Time. 

 
  



 

63 

 
ARTICLE 33 - DUTY LIVING CONDITIONS 

 
Section 33.1 Maintenance.   

The City agrees to supply the tools and cleaning materials, in reasonable 
quantities, required for the day-to-day maintenance and upkeep of the Fire 
Department and the living quarters within the Fire Department. 

 
Section 33.2 Furnishings.   

The City agrees to furnish and maintain a stove, dishwasher, three (3) 
refrigerators, table and chairs, and day room furniture, curtains and carpet for 
the Fire Department. 

 
Section 33.3 Bedding.   

The City agrees to furnish beds, mattresses, bedding and linens in reasonable 
quantities for each member of the Bargaining unit.  The City will replace one 
set of bed linens every three (3) years.  The City agrees to purchase and 
maintain at least one (1) washer and one (1) dryer at the Fire Department for 
use by the members of the Bargaining Unit. 

 
Section 33.4 Audio-Visual.   

1. The City agrees to furnish a television and DVD for the purpose of training 
at each station in the following amounts: 

1. $400.00 / television 
2. $200.00 / DVD Player  

2. Any purchases above these amounts will be funded by the Union.  It shall 
be the responsibility of the Union to pay for needed repairs. 

 

  



 

64 

 
ARTICLE 34 - CONTRACTING OUT 

 
Section 34.1 Contracting Out.   

The City agrees that contracting out shall fall under the provisions of Article 4, 
Section C of this Agreement. 

 
Section 34.2 Services Outside City Boundaries.   

This Article does not restrict the employer from entering into a contract to 
provide fire protection and EMS service through members of the Bargaining 
Unit to an entity located outside the jurisdictional boundaries of the employer. 

 
  



 

65 

 
ARTICLE 35 - LAYOFF 

 
Section 35.1 Layoffs.   

Should layoffs become necessary, employees shall be laid off in accordance 
with provisions set forth in the Ohio Revised Code. 

 
Section 35.2 Recall.   

For a period of one (1) year following layoff, the employee shall be entitled to 
recall to a vacancy within the rank from which laid off, or to any vacancy within 
a lower rank, provided the employee has maintained his EMT certification, 
before the City may in any other manner fill a vacancy herein.  Such recall 
period may be longer as permitted by the Civil Service Commission.               

 

  



 

66 

 
ARTICLE 36 - RESIDENCY 

 
Section 36.1   

As a condition of continued employment, members must comply with State 
law regarding residency (live in Delaware County or an adjacent county) in the 
event that State law is repealed, members, as a condition of continued 
employment, must reside within 20 miles of City limits of Delaware, provided 
that a member that lives outside the 20 mile limit on the date of the repeal 
need not relocate within the 20 mile limit until he or she changes where he or 
she resides.    

  



 

67 

 
ARTICLE 37 - BADGES 

 
Upon retirement, the employee may retain one badge.  If the employee chooses to 
retain more than one badge they may purchase said badges at the City's cost. 

 
  



 

68 

 
ARTICLE 38 - LEAVES OF ABSENCE 

 
Section 38.1 Disability Leave.   

Upon exhaustion of any paid sick and/or injury leave benefits, the employee 
shall be entitled to a leave of absence for the period of his disability not to 
exceed one (1) year.  Such leave may be extended upon the approval of the City 
Manager. 

 
Section 38.2 Return From Leave.   

It is the employee's responsibility to provide the City with written verification 
of his anticipated return to work.  Upon receipt of this verification, the City will 
send written notice to the employee confirming the expiration date of the 
leave.  Upon return from a leave of absence, the employee shall be returned to 
the rank and assignment held prior to the leave.  An employee who fails to 
return from a leave of absence upon its expiration will be considered to have 
voluntarily resigned. 

 
Section 38.3 Benefits.   

All leaves of absence under this Article shall be without pay.  However, all 
insurance benefits will be maintained for the first sixty (60) calendar days of 
a leave.     



 

69 

ARTICLE 39 - EARNED TIME 
                                 
Section 39.1 Accrual.   

As defined in Article 3, "Earned Time" is Holiday Time, Compensatory Time, 
and Personal Days.  The maximum accrual of earned time is 917 hours per 
employee.  If an employee accumulates in excess of 917 hours of earned time, 
the excess amount shall be paid off in cash at the time it is earned at the 
employee's regular hourly rate in effect at the time of pay off. 

 
Section 39.2  

1. An employee desiring to take time off should give written notice at least 
three (3) working days prior to the time of the proposed leave, if possible.  
If written notice is given at least three (3) working days prior to the time 
of the proposed leave, seniority shall govern who is eligible to take time 
off.  If notice is given less than three (3) working days prior to the time of 
the proposed leave, the first employee to give written notice will be the 
first employee to take time off, and so on. 

2. Requests for time off submitted more than three (3) working days prior to 
the time of proposed leave shall be approved or denied three (3) working 
days prior to the proposed leave, based on the known manpower situation 
at that time.  Requests for time off submitted less than three (3) working 
days prior to the proposed leave shall be approved or denied by the end of 
the shift in which it was received, based on the known manpower situation 
at that time.  A member’s request for time off shall be guaranteed if eligible 
under section 5 of this article. Once a request for time off is approved it 
cannot be revoked, unless the Fire Chief declares an emergency and all 
leaves are canceled.  Requests may be denied if it is known that three (3) 
members will be off on Kelly day (Article 18), pre-scheduled vacation 
(Article 25), sick leave (Article 26), and/or earned time (Article 39) and/or 
non-pre-scheduled vacation.   

 
Section 39.3 Increments.   

Each 50-hour employee may take 50 hours of time off per contract year in one 
(1) hour increments.  Additional use of time off must be in at least twelve (12) 
hour increments.  Each 42 hour employee may take 50 hours of time off per 
contract year in one (1) hour increments.  Additional use of time off must be 
in at least six (6) hour increments.  Each 40 hour employee may take 50 hours 
of time off per contract year in one (1) hour increments.  Additional use of time 
off must be in at least four (4) hour increments. 

 
Section 39.4 Selling Earned Time.   

Each employee has the option of selling up to 312 hours of earned time back 
to the City each year.  This time will be paid off at the employee's regular 
hourly rate in effect at the time the purchase is made.  Such purchase must be 
requested by September 1 of the preceding year and paid between January 1 
and December 31 of the following year at the employee's request. 



 

70 

 
Section 39.5 Time Off.   

1. 50 hour shift: Three (3) bargaining unit members on the 50-hour shift 
may request leave and it shall be granted.  When more than 18 members 
are scheduled on a 50-hour shift, an additional member may request leave 
and it shall be granted. These requests may be in the form of a Kelly Day 
(Article 18), pre-scheduled vacation (Article 25), and/or earned time 
(Article 39) and/or non-pre-scheduled vacation, listed in the order of 
priority.  An additional member will be granted requested leave provided 
the city is able to schedule an additional part-time firefighter to cover the 
shift.  This additional leave request may not be cancelled without approval 
by the fire chief.  Additional requests may be approved by the fire chief or 
his designee.  These members do not need to show up or be available to 
work at the beginning of their scheduled shift.  No more than two (2) 
members may use leave in the form of a Kelly Day at the same time, unless 
approval is granted by the Fire Chief or his designee. 

2. 42 hour shift: When up to six members are staffed on the 42-hour shift, 
one (1) member may request leave and it shall be granted. When more than 
six members are staffed on a 42-hour shift, two (2) members may request 
leave and it shall be granted. 

3. 40 hour shift: Up to half of the members assigned to a division staffed with 
more than one (1) member assigned to a 40-hour shift may request leave 
and it shall be granted as long as the request is submitted prior to the day 
off requested (rounding down such that if the unit is staffed by three 
members, two can take off).   Requests submitted on the 40-hour shift on 
the day off requested shall be granted unless the member is needed to 
backfill an operational position that would otherwise need to be filled by 
use of overtime.   

4. For all of the above time off requests, additional leave requests may be 
approved by the fire chief or his designee. 

 
Section 39.6 Payment Upon Separation.    

Upon separation, an employee shall be paid for all accumulated earned time at 
his regular hourly rate at the time of separation.  



 

71 

ARTICLE 40 - PERSONNEL DOCUMENTATION 
 
Section 40.1 Review of Personnel Files.   

1. Any member shall be allowed, upon request, to review his personnel file 
between 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m., Monday through Friday.  Such request, to 
view the personnel files, shall be made to the Fire Chief directly and review 
shall be made in the presence of the Chief or his designated representative.  
Any member may request documents to be copied from his file.  The 
Administration may levy a charge for such copying, which charge shall bear 
a reasonable relationship to actual cost.  The Administration shall make 
documentation of the copied documents which shall be placed in the 
personnel file.  The official personnel file of all members is kept at the 
Human Resources Department. 

2. All members shall be notified when a third party requests a public records 
request into their official personnel file. 

3. The IAFF and the members recognize that the City may be required to 
disclose information from a member's personnel file pursuant to State or 
Federal laws and that any disclosure made pursuant to such laws does not 
constitute a violation of this contract.  All parties are subject to state 
records retention and disclosure provisions as set forth in Chapter 149 of 
the Ohio Revised Code and local records retention schedules.                            

 
Section 40.2 Performance Evaluations.   

A member's signature on any performance evaluation, if any, shall be viewed 
by the parties hereto, only as a representation that he has read it; it shall not 
be viewed as a representation that he concurred in any or all of the contents 
or comments thereon.  The member shall be the last person to sign an 
evaluation and no evaluation comments may be recorded on record copies 
thereafter.  The member shall receive a copy of the evaluation in its final form 
when he signs it. 

 
Section 40.3 Inaccurate Documents.   

Should any member have reason to believe that there are inaccuracies in 
documents contained in his file, he may write a memorandum to the Chief 
explaining the alleged inaccuracy.  If the Chief concurs with the member's 
contention, he shall attach the member's memorandum to the document in the 
file and note thereon his concurrence with the memorandum content. 

  



 

72 

 
ARTICLE 41 - PROMOTIONS 

 
Section 41.1   

The City shall use the rules, regulations, and processes of the civil service 
commission for promotions.  ALL CHANGES TO THE PROMOTIONAL PROCESS 
WILL BE PRESENTED TO THE LOCAL PRIOR TO ADOPTION BY THE CIVIL 
SERVICE COMMISSION AND PRIOR TO THE EXPIRATION OF THE CURRENT 
CONTRACT. However, UNLESS MUTUALLY AGREED UPON. The parties agree 
that any additional promotional requirements adopted by the commission 
shall not take effect until the next labor contract occurring after the change.  
 

 
  



 

73 

 
ARTICLE 42 - VACANCIES AND TRANSFERS 

 
Section 42.1 Seniority 

The Fire Chief along with the Union shall establish and post a seniority list 
THAT INCLUDES THE SENIORITY IN RANK along with qualifications of 
members by January 1st each year.  This list will be used to determine the 
selection of members for vacancies. 

 
Section 42.2 Vacancies Defined 

In order to fill vacancies due to promotion, retirement, transfer, or a member 
otherwise leaving employment, an announcement of the vacancy shall be 
posted for bid.  New positions added to current staffing levels shall be 
considered as vacancies and subject to bid. 

 
Section 42.3 Posting 

Once the Fire Chief becomes aware of a vacancy in the Department he shall 
post the vacancy for ten (10) days at all stations.  Once the original vacancy 
has been filled, the process shall be repeated once.  No bids are allowed until 
the position has been posted.  No vacancies shall be filled until the relevant 
posting period has ended. 

 
Section 42.4  

1. Vacancies shall be filled based upon Seniority IN RANK unless the skill, 
ability, and work performance of a less senior bidder is greater.  Upon 
request of the Union, the Fire Chief shall substantiate, in writing, why he 
considers the skill, ability, and work performance of a less senior bidder 
greater.  Captains and probationary employees are not eligible to bid on 
vacancies. 

2. Members taking a vacancy through the posting/bidding process may not 
re-bid nor seek re-assignment for a one year period from the date of being 
placed in the vacancy.  This does not prevent a member who has taken a 
bid from seeking and accepting a promotion. 

3. ASSIGNMENTS OR BIDS TO THE RISK REDUCTION DIVISION SHALL NOT 
BE ELIGIBLE TO BID FOR A POSITION FOR 18 MONTHS AFTER 
COMPLETION OF STATE FIRE INSPECTION CERTIFICATION.   

4. Vacancies not filled through the bidding process shall be filled by the least 
senior non-probationary employee assigned to the fifty (50) hour 
assignment.  

5. THE FIRE CHIEF IS AUTHORIZED TO ASSIGN A PROBATIONARY 
FIREFIGHTER IN LIEU OF ASSIGNING THE LEAST SENIOR NON-
PROBATIONARY EMPLOYEE. 



 

74 

ARTICLE 43 - DURATION OF AGREEMENT 
 
Section 43.1 Duration.   

This Agreement is effective as of APRIL 1, 2018, unless otherwise specified in 
the Agreement.  This Agreement shall remain in full force and effect through 
MARCH 31, 2021, and thereafter from year to year unless at least ninety (90) 
days prior to said expiration date, or any anniversary thereof, either party 
gives timely written notice to the other of an intent to negotiate on any or all 
of its provisions.  Upon such written notice, the City agrees to open 
negotiations at least sixty (60) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement. 

 
Section 43.2 Negotiations.   

In the event negotiations are opened sixty (60) days prior to the expiration 
date of March 31, 2018, or any anniversary thereof, both parties hereby agree 
to diligently pursue the objective of reaching an agreement prior to the 
expiration date. 
 

Section 43.3 Signatures.   
 Signed and dated at Delaware, Ohio, on this            day of                       , 2018. 
 
For the City:     For the Union: 
 
 
______________________    ______________________ 
R. Thomas Homan    Zachary Schaeffer 
City Manager     President, IAFF 
      Local 606 
 
     
______________________    
John L. Donahue      
Fire Chief      
 
Approved As To Form: 
 
 
______________________    ______________________ 
Darren S. Shulman    Henry Arnett                                                           
City Attorney     Local 606 Attorney 
 
  



 

75 

 
MOU - ANNUAL RESPIRATORY MEDICAL CERTIFICATION 

 
1. The parties agree that annual respiratory medical certification will be 

governed by the Ohio Administrative Code and the standard operating 
procedure.  Revisions to the SOP will be discussed with the safety 
committee prior to implementation.  The union may grieve any arbitrary 
or capricious changes to the sop. 

2. The city will follow the SOP.  Failure to follow the SOP will be grievable. 
3. This will expire on March 31, 2021 unless extended by mutual agreement. 

 
 
 
 
________________________      ________________________ 
Zachary Schaeffer      R. Thomas Homan 
IAFF President      City Manager 
 
 

________________________ 
John L. Donahue 
Fire Chief 

 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
________________________      ____________ 
Henry Arnett       Darren Shulman 
Local 606 Attorney      City Attorney 
  



 

76 

MOU - ANNUAL WELLNESS CERTIFICATION 
 

1. THE PARTIES AGREE THAT A VOLUNTARY ANNUAL NON-PUNITIVE 
WELLNESS PROGRAM WILL BE PROVIDED FOR MEMBERS. MEMBERS 
WHO MEET THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA WILL RECEIVE PAYMENT 
DURING THE 1ST PAY PERIOD IN DECEMBER. ALL PAPERWORK SHALL BE 
SUBMITTED BY NOVEMBER 15 FOR REIMBURSEMENT. 

a. PROVIDE DOCUMENTATION OF A MEDICAL PHYSICAL MEETING 
THE MINIMUM CRITERIA AS OUTLINED IN THE DEPARTMENT 
SOP - $250. 

b. SUCCESSFULLY PASS THE DEPARTMENT’S PHYSICAL ABILITY 
TEST USED AS PART OF THE CIVIL SERVICE TESTING PROCESS- 
$250;  

2. REVISIONS TO THE SOP WILL BE DISCUSSED WITH THE LABOR 
MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE PRIOR TO IMPLEMENTATION.  THE UNION 
MAY GRIEVE ANY ARBITRARY OR CAPRICIOUS CHANGES TO THE SOP. 

3. THE CITY WILL FOLLOW THE SOP.  FAILURE TO FOLLOW THE SOP WILL 
BE GRIEVABLE. 

4. THIS WILL EXPIRE ON MARCH 31, 2021 UNLESS EXTENDED BY MUTUAL 
AGREEMENT. 

 
 
 
 
 
________________________      ________________________ 
Zachary Schaeffer      R. Thomas Homan 
IAFF President      City Manager 
 
 

________________________ 
John L. Donahue 
Fire Chief 

 
 
 
 
Approved as to form: 
 
 
________________________      ________________________ 
Henry Arnett       Darren Shulman 
Local 606 Attorney      City Attorney 



77 

MOU - PART-TIME COVERAGE 

1. Part time personnel will not be called in to cover full-time members’
unscheduled absences.

2. This MOU will not be considered a past-practice against either party and
will not be construed as IAFF acceptance of the part time program.

3. Contracted special duty; Special duty paid by an external party will be
offered first to full time personnel.

4. This MOU will expire on March 31, 2021 unless renewed by both parties.

________________________  ________________________ 
Zachary Schaeffer R. Thomas Homan 
IAFF President City Manager 

________________________ 
John L. Donahue 
Fire Chief 

Approved as to form: 

________________________  ________________________ 
Henry Arnett  Darren Shulman 
Local 606 Attorney  City Attorney 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  11    DATE: 07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 18-29  
 
READING: FOURTH    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       June 25, 2018 @ 7:30 p.m. 
       
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO ENTER INTO A JOINT 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT (JEDD) CONTRACT WITH BERKSHIRE 
TOWNSHIP. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
07/05/2018 UPDATE:  At the last Council meeting, Council amended the Tax 
Collection schedule to match the rest of the JEDD paperwork.  The new Tax 
Collection schedule has been incorporated into the materials.  At this time, it is 
our understanding that the Township is collecting signatures from participating 
properties and as a result, a Council vote is not needed at this meeting. 
 
At the public hearing, Council also received a recommendation to insert new 
language under Section 4.3(a)(i) of the JEDD Contract - In the event that the 
services rendered by the City exceed 4% of Gross Revenues, the parties would 
renegotiate the payments outlined in Section 4.3(a)(i) and come to a mutually 
satisfactory agreement regarding the same.  
 
06/21/2018 UPDATE:  At the last Council meeting, the city attorney referenced 
an amendment needed to make all of the paperwork for the JEDD 
match.  Specifically, due to a change in the law, residential units are now allowed 
in JEDDs.  While most of the paperwork references this, the tax collection 
schedule did not.  Therefore, it is recommended that Council make a motion at 



the hearing to revise the tax schedule to reference the ability to include 
residential property in the JEDD (Berkshire Township has confirmed that it does 
want to include residential properties in the JEDD).   The proposed motion is in 
the packet and staff recommends passage of the motion during the public 
hearing. 
 
Staff believes that it will likely be more time intensive and expensive to collect on 
residential properties than it is to work with a limited number of 
employers.  Since it is unknown what impact this will have on the city’s 
administration of the JEDD tax, staff recommends including language in the 
JEDD agreement allowing it to reopen discussions regarding the administrative 
fee if it turns out the administering the residential portion of the JEDD exceeds 
the administrative fee.   
 
06/11/2018:  In 2015, the City of Delaware and Berkshire Township entered 
into a Joint Economic Development District in which people who work in the 
JEDD will pay the city’s 1.85% income tax, with the proceeds to be split between 
the two parties.  The City and Township wish to enter into an agreement to create 
a second JEDD.  This JEDD will have an 80/20% split which is in line with other 
JEDD agreements.  The City will continue to provide tax collection services for 
an administrative fee of up to 4%.  
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
At the August 14, 2017 City Council Meeting, Council indicated their willingness 
to participate in the second JEDD under the terms included in the agreement 
80/20% split, 4% admin fee, 1% to JEDD Board).  The resolution is required 
because it is an intergovernmental agreement.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
20% of the JEDD income tax collected 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Draft Agreement 
Map 



RESOLUTION NO. 18-29 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 

TO ENTER INTO A JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT 
DISTRICT (JEDD) CONTRACT WITH BERKSHIRE 
TOWNSHIP. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware (the “City”) and Berkshire Township (the 

“Township”) previously entered into a Joint Economic Development District 
(JEDD); and 

 
WHEREAS, based on the success of that JEDD the City and Township 

wish to enter into an agreement to establish a new Joint Economic 
Development District in Berkshire Township; and 

 
WHEREAS, employees who work in the JEDD will pay the city’s 1.85 

percent income tax; and  
 
WHEREAS, the parties agree that development in the JEDD will impact 

the city’s infrastructure, specifically in the area of The Point and along 36/37; 
and  

 
WHEREAS, under the terms of this agreement the City will receive 20 

percent of the net revenue generated within the JEDD; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City anticipates using its share of the proceeds to help 
fund necessary improvements at The Point and along 36/37; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City will administer the tax collection for the JEDD for an 
administrative fee of up to 4 percent of the gross revenue of the JEDD. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
 SECTION 1. The City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into a Joint 
Economic Development District (JEDD) contract with Berkshire Township 
memorializing the mutual understanding of the parties regarding the contract. 



 
  SECTION 2.  This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its 

passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



JEDD TAX COLLECTION SCHEDULE 
 
 

 The Berkshire Joint Economic Development District No. 2 (the “JEDD”) to be created 
pursuant to a Joint Economic Development District Contract (the “JEDD Contract”) by and 
between the City of Delaware, Ohio (the “City”) and Berkshire Township (Delaware County), 
Ohio (the “Township”) authorizes and anticipates the levy by the board of directors of the JEDD 
(the “Board”) of a tax on the income of persons working or residing in the JEDD and the net 
profits of businesses located in the JEDD at the same rate currently levied by the City (1.85%) 
for distribution to the Board, the City and the Township.  Pursuant to Article III of the JEDD 
Contract and upon timely notice, either the City or the Township may terminate the JEDD 
Contract if the Board has not adopted a resolution to levy the JEDD Income Tax within one year 
after the Effective Date of the JEDD Contract. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Y:\Local Gov't\Berkshire\JEDD 2\Tax Collection Schedule 2 (5-25-2018).docx 



MOTION BY THE DELAWARE CITY COUNCIL TO REVISE THE “JEDD TAX 
COLLECTION SCHEDULE” AND TO APPROVE AND ADOPT AN AMENDED “JEDD TAX 

COLLECTION SCHEDULE.” 

 Motion by ____________, seconded by _______________ to revise the “JEDD Tax Collection 
Schedule” to be in conformity with the JEDD Contract and the Economic Development Plan and to 
approve and adopt the amended “JEDD Tax Collection Schedule” now on file with the City Clerk. 

 

Vote:     ayes     nayes 

 

 



JEDD DISTRICT NO. 1 & 2



JEDD DISTRICT NO. 2





 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CONTRACT 
 

BY AND BETWEEN 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO 
 

AND 
 

BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP (DELAWARE COUNTY), OHIO 
 

Dated as of 
 

June 1, 2018 
 
 
 
 



 
 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 
   Item            Page 
 
ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS 2 
 Section 1.1 Definitions 2 
 Section 1.2 Interpretations 3 
 Section 1.3 Captions and Headings 3 
  
ARTICLE II JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 4 
 Section 2.1 Creation and Territory 4 
 Section 2.2 Purpose 4 
 Section 2.3 Contributions 4 
 Section 2.4 Economic Development Plan 5 
 
ARTICLE III TERM 6 
 Section 3.1 Term 6 
 Section 3.2 Prior Termination 6 
 Section 3.3 Actions upon Termination 6 
 
ARTICLE IV THE BOARD 7 
 Section 4.1 Creation, Membership and Appointment of the Board 7 
 Section 4.2 Board Officers and Procedures 8 
 Section 4.3 Powers and Duties of the Board 8 
 
ARTICLE V JEDD INCOME TAX 11 
 Section 5.1 Authorization to Levy JEDD Income Tax 11 
 Section 5.2 Allocation of Proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax 11 
 
ARTICLE VI MISCELLANEOUS 12 
 Section 6.1 Fiscal Year 12 
 Section 6.2 Reports and Records 12 
 Section 6.3 Amendments 12 
 Section 6.4 Support of Contract; Execution of Other Documents 12 
 Section 6.5 Binding Effect 13 
 Section 6.6 Counterparts 13 
 Section 6.7 Severability 13 
 Section 6.8 Governing Law and Choice of Forum 13 
 Section 6.9 Notices and Payments 13 
 Section 6.10 Entire Agreement 14 
 
SIGNATURE PAGE 15 
FISCAL OFFICERS’ CERTIFICATIONS 16 
EXHIBIT A - BERKSHIRE-DELAWARE JOINT ECONOMIC 
                       DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 A 
EXHIBIT B  - ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN B



1 
 

JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CONTRACT 
 

 This Joint Economic Development District Contract (this “Contract”) dated as of June 1, 
2018 is entered into by and between the City of Delaware, Ohio (the “City”), a municipal 
corporation and political subdivision organized and existing pursuant to the Constitution and 
laws of the State of Ohio (the “State”) and its Charter, and Berkshire Township (Delaware 
County), Ohio (the “Township”), a township and political subdivision organized and existing 
under the laws of the State.  (Capitalized terms and words used, but not otherwise defined, in this 
Contract have the meanings assigned to them in Article I.) 
 

WITNESSETH: 
 

 WHEREAS, the JEDD Statutes authorize a municipal corporation and a township to 
enter into a contract to provide for the creation of a joint economic development district; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the City and the Township desire to create a joint economic development 
district for the purpose of facilitating economic development to create or preserve jobs and 
employment opportunities and to improve the economic welfare of the people in the State and in 
the areas of the City and the Township; and 
 
 WHEREAS, pursuant to the JEDD Statutes, the Constitution and laws of the State, the 
Charter and ordinances of the City and resolutions of the Township, the City and the Township 
desire to enter into this Contract to set forth their agreements with respect to the JEDD, 
including, but not limited to, their contributions to the JEDD, the creation of the Board, the 
powers and duties of the Board and the distribution of proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax; 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing recitals and the agreements, 
representations and covenants set forth in this Contract, the City and the Township agree as 
follows: 
 
 

(Remainder of Page Intentionally Left Blank) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



2 
 

ARTICLE I 
DEFINITIONS 

 
 Section 1.1 Definitions.  In addition to “Contract”, “City”, “State” and “Township” 
defined above, the following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings: 
 

“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the JEDD established in accordance with 
the JEDD Statutes and this Contract. 

 
“County” means the County of Delaware, Ohio. 
 
“Effective Date” means the date immediately succeeding the occurrence of all of the 

following:  (i) the City’s and Township’s execution of this Contract, (ii) the thirty-second day 
after the adoption of the Township’s resolution authorizing this Contract, and (iii) the expiration 
of any statutory period permitting a referendum of the Township’s resolution or the City’s 
ordinance authorizing this Contract. 

 
“Gross Revenues” means the proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax, less refunds. 
 
“Net Revenues” means Gross Revenues less (a) to the extent the funds available to the 

Board are insufficient for such purposes, any amount required to pay costs of any audits of the 
JEDD mandated by the State or any liability imposed on the JEDD or the Board by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, (b) amounts due to the City pursuant to the JEDD Income Tax 
Agreement, (c) 1% of the Gross Revenues allocated to the Board pursuant to Section 5.2 and (d) 
any amount paid or reimbursed pursuant to Section 6.4. 

 
“JEDD” means the Berkshire Joint Economic Development District No. 2 created 

pursuant to the JEDD Statutes and this Contract and includes the real property described and 
depicted in Exhibit A to this Contract. 

 
“JEDD Income” means (i) the income earned by persons working  or residing in the 

JEDD and (ii) the net profits of businesses located in the JEDD. 
 
“JEDD Income Tax” means the tax on JEDD Income levied by the Board in accordance 

with the provisions of this Contract. 
 
“JEDD Income Tax Agreement” means that agreement to be entered into by and between 

the Board and the City providing for the City to (i) administer, collect and distribute the JEDD 
Income Tax in accordance with the Contract and (ii) act as the fiscal agent of the JEDD and the 
Board. 

 
“JEDD Statutes” means Ohio Revised Code Section 715.72. 
 



3 
 

Section 1.2 Interpretations.  Any reference herein to the County, the City, the 
Township or the Board or to any officer or employee of the County, the City, the Township or 
the Board, includes the entities, officers or employees succeeding to their respective functions, 
duties or responsibilities pursuant to or by operation of law, or the entities, officers or employees 
lawfully performing their respective functions, duties or responsibilities. 
 
 Any reference herein to a section or provision of the Constitution of the State, the Ohio 
Revised Code, the Charter of the City or legislation of the County, the City or the Township or 
any statute of the United States of America, includes that section or provision as amended, 
modified, revised, supplemented or superseded from time to time; provided, however, that no 
amendment, modification, revision, supplement or superseding section or provision shall be 
applicable to this Contract solely by reason of this Section 1.2 if such amendment, modification, 
revision, supplement or superseding section or provision constitutes an impairment of the rights 
or obligations of the City, the Township or the Board under this Contract. 
 
 Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, words importing the singular number 
include the plural number and vice versa.  The terms “hereof”, “hereby”, “herein”, “hereto”, 
“hereunder” and similar terms refer to this Contract.  The term “hereafter” means after, and the 
term “heretofore” means before, the date of this Contract.  Words of any gender include the 
correlative word of the other genders unless the context clearly indicates otherwise. 
 
 Unless the context clearly indicates otherwise, any reference to a “Section” is a reference 
to a section of this Contract. 
 
 Section 1.3 Captions and Headings.  The captions and headings in this Contract are 
solely for convenience of reference and do not define, limit or describe the scope or intent of any 
Articles, Sections, subsections, paragraphs, subparagraphs or clauses herein. 
 

(End of Article I) 
 

  



4 
 

ARTICLE II 
JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT 

 
Section 2.1 Creation and Territory.  The City and the Township hereby create the 

“Berkshire Joint Economic Development District No. 2” consisting of real property described 
and depicted in Exhibit A to this Contract.  The provisions set forth in Ohio Revised Code 
Section 715.72 (R) shall apply to the unincorporated territory of the Township located in the 
JEDD. 

 
Section 2.2 Purpose.  The City and the Township are creating the JEDD for the 

purpose of facilitating economic development to create or preserve jobs and employment 
opportunities and to improve the economic welfare of the people in the State and in the areas of 
the City and the Township. 

 
Section 2.3 Contributions. 
 

(a) The Township: 
 

(i) shall furnish or cause to be furnished to the JEDD all usual and 
customary governmental services furnished by the Township to similarly situated 
properties located in the unincorporated area of the Township outside of the 
JEDD, including, but not limited to maintenance of township roads, snow removal 
and general administration; and 

 
(ii) shall provide accommodations, if requested, for meetings of the 

Board, maintenance of the records of the JEDD and, if reasonably available, as 
determined by the Township, any necessary clerical staffing for the Board.  The 
Township may also cause certain improvements to property located within the 
JEDD to be declared a public purpose, the increased value of such property to be 
exempt from real property taxes for a period of time, the owner(s) of such 
property to be required to pay service payments in lieu of taxes, and the receipts 
of such service payments to be used to pay costs of public infrastructure 
benefitting such property and the JEDD, all in accordance with the Ohio Revised 
Code; and 

 
(iii) may furnish to the JEDD such services allowed by law as the 

Township and the Board deem appropriate and agree. 
 
(b) The City: 

 
(i) shall cooperate with and assist the Board in activities that promote, 

complement and benefit economic development in the JEDD; provided, however, 
the City is not expected or required to undertake any such activity to the detriment 
of economic development in the City; and 

 



5 
 

(ii) shall cooperate with and assist the Township on issues affecting 
the JEDD, such as planning, zoning and building standards and review; and 

 
(iii) shall provide the services set forth in the Income Tax Agreement; 

and 
 
(iv) may furnish such services allowed by law as the City and the 

Board agree upon. 
 

Section 2.4 Economic Development Plan.  The Economic Development Plan for the 
District shall consist of that Economic Development Plan attached hereto and incorporated 
herein as Exhibit B to this Contract. 

 
(End of Article II) 

 
  



6 
 

ARTICLE III 
TERM 

 
Section 3.1 Term.  The term of this Contract shall commence on the Effective Date 

and shall terminate on December 31, 2119. 
 
Section 3.2 Prior Termination.  This Contract may be terminated prior to December 

31, 2119 by the City or the Township by notice to the other not earlier than 365 days and not 
later than 180 days prior to the termination date: 

 
(a) if the Board has not adopted a resolution to levy the JEDD Income Tax 

within one year after the Effective Date; or 
 
(b) if a final order of a court of competent jurisdiction invalidates the levy of 

the JEDD Income Tax and no appeal of such order has been filed or the period for such 
appeal has lapsed. 
 
The termination of this Contract pursuant to (a) or (b) above shall be effective on the date 

stated in the notice of termination. 
 
Section 3.3 Actions upon Termination.  Upon termination of this Contract: 
 

(a) the Board shall remain in office for six months to provide for an orderly 
termination of the JEDD; and 

 
(b) the levy of the JEDD Income Tax shall cease, but the JEDD Income Tax 

levied prior to the termination shall be collected and distributed in accordance with 
Article V of this Contract; and 

 
(c) 20% of any remaining assets of the JEDD shall be distributed to the City 

and 80% of such remaining assets shall be distributed to the Township; provided, 
however, if any such assets cannot be liquidated, the City and the Township must agree 
on the value of such assets for their distribution; and 

 
(d) the records of the JEDD shall be given into the custody of the Township 

and shall be available for inspection or audit by the City or the Township. 
 

(End of Article III) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



7 
 

ARTICLE IV 
THE BOARD 

 
 

Section 4.1 Creation, Membership and Appointment of the Board.   
 

(a)  Pursuant to the JEDD Statutes, the City and the Township hereby establish 
the Board to govern the JEDD. 

 
(b) If on the Effective Date there are businesses located and persons working 

within the JEDD, the Board shall consist of:  (i) one member representing the City, (ii) 
one member representing the Township, (iii) one member representing the owners of 
businesses located within the JEDD, (iv) one member representing the persons working 
within the JEDD, and (v) one member selected by the above members. 

 
(c) If on the Effective Date there are no businesses located or persons working 

within the JEDD, the Board shall consist of:  (i) one member representing the City, (ii) 
one member representing the Township, (iii) one member selected by the above 
members; provided, however, that if after the Effective Date a business locates or persons 
commence working within the JEDD, the Board shall be expanded to also include:  (iv) a 
member representing the owners of businesses located within the JEDD, and (v) a 
member representing the persons working within the JEDD, and provided further that 
upon the termination of the member selected by the initial two members of the Board, 
thereafter that member shall be selected by the four members described in (i), (ii), (iv) 
and (v) of this paragraph. 

 
(d) The City shall appoint the members representing the City and the owners 

of businesses located within the JEDD, and the Township shall appoint the members 
representing the Township and the persons working within the JEDD.  The City and the 
Township will make their initial appointment of members of the Board within 60 days 
after the Effective Date, and the terms of those members shall commence on the first day 
of the first month commencing 57 days after the Effective Date.  The Board shall first 
meet within the first month that commences 57 days after the Effective Date and shall 
select the remaining member of the Board – the member described in (v) of paragraph (b) 
above or in (iii) of paragraph (c) above – within that month for a term commencing the 
first day of the immediately succeeding month.  The initial terms of the members 
described in (i), (ii), (iii), (iv) and (v) of paragraph (b) above shall be one year, two years, 
three years, four years and four years, respectively.  The initial terms of the members 
described in (i), (ii) and (iii) of paragraph (c) above shall be one year, two years and three 
years, respectively. 

 
(e) The initial appointment of the members described in (iv) and (v) of 

paragraph (c) above shall be for a four year term commencing on the first day of the same 
month as the terms of the members described in (i) and (ii) of paragraph (c) above 
commenced, and should commence the first such day after a business locates or a person 
commences working in the JEDD. 



8 
 

 
(f) After the initial terms of all members expire, the terms of all members 

shall be for four years; provided, however, each member shall continue to serve until the 
member’s successor is appointed; and provided further that upon termination of this 
Contract, the terms of the members then serving shall terminate six months after the 
termination of this Contract. 

 
(g) The term of any person to fill a vacancy on the Board because of the 

death, resignation or removal of a member shall terminate when the term of the member 
removed, resigned or died would have terminated. 

 
(h) The City and the Township covenant to use their best efforts to timely 

appoint all members of the Board. 
 
(i) The member described in (v) of paragraph (b) above or (iii) of paragraph 

(c) above shall serve as the Chairperson of the Board. 
 
(j) The members of the Board shall not receive compensation for such 

membership or for their attendance at meetings of the Board, but may be reimbursed for 
expenses incurred in performing their duties. 

 
(k) Any member may be reappointed to the Board, but no member shall serve 

more than two consecutive terms on the Board. 
 
Section 4.2 Board Officers and Procedures.  The Board shall enact bylaws or other 

procedures for the governance of the Board, including procedures for the election from its 
members of a Vice Chairperson and a Secretary-Treasurer; provided, however, the terms of such 
officers shall not be for a period longer than one year. 

 
Section 4.3 Powers and Duties of the Board.   
 

(a)   In addition to the duty to enact bylaws or procedures set forth in Section 
4.2, the Board shall: 
 

(i) if it enacts the JEDD Income Tax as authorized by Section 5.1, 
enter into the JEDD Income Tax Agreement with the City; provided that 
payments to the City for services rendered pursuant to the Income Tax Agreement 
shall not exceed 4% of Gross Revenues for any calendar year during the term of 
the Income Tax Agreement; and 

 
(ii) adopt an annual budget for the Board and the JEDD that estimates 

the revenues and expenses of the Board and the JEDD; and 
 
(iii) establish an appropriations procedure to provide for payment of the 

expenses of the Board and the JEDD and the distribution of the JEDD Income 
Tax in accordance with Section 5.2. 



9 
 

(b) In addition to the authorization to levy the JEDD Income Tax set forth in 
Section 5.1, the Board is authorized to: 
 

(i) take such actions necessary or convenient to carry out the powers 
granted in this Contract and/or the JEDD Statutes; and 

 
(ii) purchase, receive, hold, lease or otherwise acquire, and sell, 

convey, transfer, lease, sublease or otherwise dispose of, real and personal 
property, together with such rights and privileges as may be incidental or 
appurtenant thereto and the use thereof; and 

 
(iii) acquire, purchase, construct, reconstruct, enlarge, furnish, equip, 

maintain, repair, sell, exchange, lease or rent from others, or operate, facilities for 
the JEDD; and 

 
(iv) make available the uses or services of any JEDD facilities to one or 

more persons or government agencies or any combination thereof; and 
 
(v) apply to the proper authorities of the United States pursuant to 

appropriate laws for the right to establish, operate and maintain foreign trade 
zones within the JEDD; and 

 
(vi) establish and maintain such funds or accounts as it deems 

necessary, either of its own or in conjunction with the City or the Township; and 
 
(vii) promote, advertise and publicize the JEDD and its facilities, 

provide information relating to the JEDD and promote the interests and economic 
development of the JEDD, the City, the Township, the County and the State; and 

 
(viii) make and enter into contracts and agreements and authorize one or 

more officers of the Board to sign instruments necessary or incidental to the 
performance of its duties and the execution of its powers pursuant to this Contract 
and the JEDD Statutes; and 

 
(ix) employ managers or other employees and retain or contract with 

consulting engineers, financial consultants, accounting experts, architects, 
attorneys and such other consultants and independent contractors as are necessary 
in its judgment to carry out the purposes of this Contract, and fix the 
compensation thereof, which shall be payable from any available funds of the 
JEDD; and 

 
(x) receive and accept from any federal or state agency, the Township, 

the City, the County or other persons grants for or in aid of the construction, 
maintenance or repair of any JEDD facility, for research and development with 
respect to JEDD facilities or for programs or other projects of the JEDD, and 
receive and accept aid or contributions from any source money, property, labor or 



10 
 

other items of value, to be used and applied for the purposes of such grants, aids 
or contributions and this Contract; and 

 
(xi) purchase fire and extended coverage and liability insurance for any 

JEDD facility or office, insurance protecting the JEDD and its Board, officers and 
employees against liability arising from the operations or actions of the Board or 
the JEDD, and any other insurance the Board may determine to be reasonably 
necessary; and 

 
(xii) provide guidance and directions on issues regarding tax 

abatements, economic development incentives, tax increment financing, zoning, 
traffic and infrastructure within the JEDD and make recommendations regarding 
the same to appropriate agencies. 
 

(End of Article IV) 
 
 

  



11 
 

ARTICLE V 
JEDD INCOME TAX 

 
 

Section 5.1 Authorization to Levy JEDD Income Tax.  The Board is hereby 
authorized to enact legislation to (a) levy the JEDD Income Tax at the rate currently and 
hereafter levied by the City on the income of individuals and the net profits of businesses, and 
(b) adopt regulations, rules or code for the administration, collection and enforcement of the 
JEDD Income Tax. 

 
Section 5.2 Allocation of Proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax.  The City shall, on 

behalf of the JEDD, and pursuant to the JEDD Income Tax Agreement, collect and administer 
the JEDD Income Tax. 

 
(a) Gross Revenues shall be used to pay to:  (i) the City the amount then due 

pursuant to the JEDD Income Tax Agreement, (ii) the Board an amount equal to 1% of 
the Gross Revenues, (iii) the Board, to the extent the funds then available to the Board are 
insufficient, an amount sufficient to pay costs of any audit of the JEDD mandated by the 
State or any amount needed to pay any liability imposed on the Board by a court of 
competent jurisdiction and (iv) the City and/or the Township an amount to reimburse the 
City and/or the Township for amounts expended pursuant to Section 6.4. 

 
(b) Net Revenues shall be allocated and paid as follows:  20% to the City and 

80% to the Township. 
 
(c) Within 30 days of the last day of March, June, September and December 

of each year (or if any such date is not a business day, on the immediately succeeding 
business day), the City shall, on behalf of the JEDD (i) pay from the Gross Revenues to 
the City the amounts then due pursuant to (a) above, (ii) calculate and pay the amounts 
due from the Net Revenues for the prior three months to the Board, the City and the 
Township pursuant to (b) above, and (iii) provide an accounting of the receipts and uses 
of the proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax for the prior three months, including, but not 
limited to, a summary of the amounts of JEDD Income Tax on individuals withheld by 
each Business.  In the event that any amount due from the Net Revenues to the Board, the 
City or the Township is a negative amount, then that negative amount shall be set off 
against the next amount to be paid. 
 

(d) It is expressly understood and agreed that amounts received by the Board, 
the City and the Township may be used by each of the entities for any lawful purpose in 
each’s sole discretion. 
 

(End of Article V) 
  

 
 

  



12 
 

ARTICLE VI 
MISCELLANEOUS 

 
Section 6.1 Fiscal Year.  The fiscal year of the JEDD shall commence on January 1 of 

each calendar year and shall terminate on December 31 of the same calendar year. 
 
Section 6.2 Reports and Records.  Within 30 days of the effective date of this 

Contract, the Board shall notify the Auditor of State of the State of Ohio of the creation of the 
JEDD and the Board. 

 
Within three months after the end of each fiscal year of the JEDD, the Board shall 

compile and distribute to the City and the Township a report setting forth all revenues received 
by the JEDD during the preceding fiscal year and all disbursements made during that fiscal year. 

 
Within three months prior to the commencement of each fiscal year of the JEDD, the 

Board shall prepare and distribute to the City and the Township a budget for that fiscal year, 
stating anticipated revenues and expenses of the JEDD. 

 
All books, records, documentation, and financial information of the JEDD shall, upon 

request, be made available to the City and the Township and their agents for review and/or audit.  
The Board and the JEDD shall fully cooperate with the City or the Township in fulfilling such a 
request. 

 
Section 6.3 Amendments.  Except for any amendment of this Contract or the JEDD to 

increase the territory of the JEDD, this Contract may be amended by the City and the Township 
pursuant to a written amendment authorized by the respective legislative authorities of the City 
and the Township.  Any real property located within the JEDD may be removed from the JEDD 
pursuant to a written amendment duly authorized by the City and the Township.  Following a 
duly authorized amendment removing real property from the JEDD, such property shall be 
deleted from the territory of the JEDD and is then no longer subject to the terms of the Contract.  
Any amendment of this Contract or the JEDD to increase the territory of the JEDD shall be 
subject to the provisions of the JEDD Statutes for adding areas to the JEDD. 

 
Section 6.4 Support of Contract; Execution of Other Documents.  The City and the 

Township shall support this Contract and shall defend the same against any lawsuits brought 
against the JEDD, the Board, the City or the Township in conjunction with the JEDD.  The 
expenses and fees of the Board, the City and the Township, including reasonable attorney fees, 
incurred in any lawsuit brought against the JEDD, the Board, the City or the Township shall be 
paid or reimbursed from Gross Revenues. 

 
The engineering and surveying expenses and fees which were incurred by the Township 

in preparing both a description of the JEDD and a map denoting the boundaries of the JEDD 
shall be reimbursed from Gross Revenues prior to any distributions to the JEDD Parties.  The 
Township shall also be reimbursed from Gross Revenues the legal fees and expenses incurred by 
the Township in preparing various documents needed to create the JEDD, provided that the legal 
fees and expenses reimbursed shall not exceed the sum of $10,000.00.  If the Gross Revenues are 



13 
 

insufficient at any time to pay any such expenses and fees, the Township shall be reimbursed 
when such revenues are available for that reimbursement. 

 
The City and the Township each agree to cooperate with the others in the implementation 

of this Contract and to execute or cause to be executed, in a timely fashion, all necessary 
documents in order to effectuate the purposes of this Contract. 

 
Section 6.5 Binding Effect.  All rights, benefits, and privileges under this Contract 

shall inure only to the City and the Township, and no third parties shall have any right to claim 
any rights, benefits, or privileges under this Contract.  Each covenant, agreement or obligation of 
the City or the Township under this Contract is binding on each officer of the City or Township, 
respectively, who has the authority or duty from time to time under the laws of the State to take 
any action which may be necessary or advisable to observe or perform the covenant, agreement 
or obligation. 

 
Section 6.6 Counterparts.  This Contract may be executed in several counterparts, 

each of which shall be regarded as an original and all of which shall constitute but one and the 
same Contract. 

 
Section 6.7 Severability.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any one or more 

provision of this Contract shall not affect the validity or enforceability of the remaining 
provisions of this Contract or any part thereof and the same shall remain in full force and effect. 

 
Section 6.8 Governing Law and Choice of Forum.  This Contract shall be governed 

by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State.  All claims, counterclaims, disputes 
and other matters in question regarding this Contract or its breach will be decided in a court of 
competent jurisdiction within the State. 

 
Section 6.9 Notices and Payments.  All notices, demands, requests, consents or 

approvals given, required or permitted hereunder shall be in writing and shall be deemed 
sufficiently given if received or if hand delivered or sent by recognized overnight delivery 
service or by certified mail, postage prepaid and return receipt requested, addressed to (i) (A) the 
City at City of Delaware, Ohio, 1 South Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015, Attention:  City 
Manager, (B) the Township at Berkshire Township, 1454 Rome Corners Road, Galena, Ohio 
43021, Attention:  Administrator, and (C) to the Board, at Chair, Board of Directors, Berkshire 
Joint Economic Development District No. 2 at the business address for the JEDD in the rules 
adopted by the Board, or (ii) such other address as the recipient shall have previously notified the 
sender in writing as provided in this Section 6.9. 

 
All payments shall be made to (i) (A) the City at City of Delaware, Ohio, 1 South 

Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio 43015, Attention:  Finance Director, (B) the Township at 
Berkshire Township, 1454 Rome Corners Road, Galena, Ohio 43021, Attention:  Fiscal Officer, 
and (C) to the Board, at Chair, Board of Directors, Berkshire Joint Economic Development 
District No. 2 at the business address for the JEDD in the rules adopted by the Board, or (ii) such 
other address as the recipient shall have previously notified the sender in writing as provided in 
this Section 6.9. 



14 
 

 
Section 6.10 Entire Agreement.  This Contract is the only and entire agreement 

between the City and the Township regarding the JEDD. 
 

(End of Article VI) 
 
 

  



15 
 

IN TESTIMONY WHEREOF, the City and the Township have subscribed to this JEDD 
Contract by their duly authorized officers: 

      
 BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP 

 (DELAWARE COUNTY), OHIO 
 

Date:    , 2018 By:         
    Township Administrator 
 
 
   CITY OF DELAWARE, OHIO 
 
Date:    , 2018 By:         
    City Manager 
 
 
  



16 
 

FISCAL OFFICERS’ CERTIFICATIONS 
 

The undersigned fiscal officer of Berkshire Township (Delaware County), Ohio hereby 
certifies that the moneys require to meet the obligations of the Township during the calendar 
year 2018 under the foregoing Joint Economic Development District Contract have been 
appropriated lawfully for that purpose, and are in the treasury of the Township or in the process 
of collection to the credit of an appropriate fund, free from encumbrances.  This certification is 
made in compliance with Ohio Revised Code Sections 5705.41 and 5705.44. 

 
          
   Fiscal Officer 
   Berkshire Township (Delaware County), Ohio 
 
The undersigned fiscal officer of the City of Delaware, Ohio hereby certifies that the 

moneys require to meet the obligations of the City during the calendar year 2018 under the 
foregoing Joint Economic Development District Contract have been appropriated lawfully for 
that purpose, and are in the treasury of the City or in the process of collection to the credit of an 
appropriate fund, free from encumbrances.  This certification is made in compliance with Ohio 
Revised Code Sections 5705.41and 5705.44. 

 
          
   Finance Director 
   City of Delaware, Ohio 
 
 



 
 

EXHIBIT A 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 
 

The JEDD consists of twelve (12) complete parcels and a portion of one parcel, all of which are 
located within Berkshire Township, Delaware County, Ohio.  The map attached as Exhibit A 
shows the location of these properties.  The complete parcels located within the JEDD consist of 
the following parcels as numbered and in the records of the County Auditor of Delaware County, 
Ohio: 
 
 Parcel Number     Current Zoning 
 
1. 41721002013000     Planned Commercial District 
2. 41721002014001     Planned Commercial District 
3. 41722001012004     Planned Commercial District 
4. 41722001012001     Planned Commercial District 
5. 41722001012002     Planned Commercial District 
6. 41722001012003     Planned Commercial District 
7. 41721002038000     Planned Commercial District 
8. 41722001017000     Agriculture/Planned Mixed Use Dist.  
9. 41722001018000     Planned Commercial District 
10. 41723001005000     Agriculture/Planned Mixed Use Dist. 
11. 41723001004000     Agriculture/Planned Mixed Use Dist. 
12. 41723001003000     Agriculture/Planned Mixed Use Dist. 
 
Except for that portion described on Exhibit A-1, which is attached hereto and incorporated 
herein, the remainder of Parcel Number 41721002012000 is located within the JEDD, with this 
property being currently zoned Planned Commercial District. 
 
Parcel Numbers Eight (8) through Twelve (12) above are encompassed within the Planned 
Mixed Use District. 
 
Parcel Numbers One (1) through Seven (7), as well as that portion of Parcel Number 
41721002012000 located in the JEDD, are encompassed within the 36/37 Planned Mixed Use 
District. 
  

 
 
 

 

 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A (CONTINUED) 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 
 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A (CONTINUED) 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

EXHIBIT A-1 
DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A (CONTINUED) 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

EXHIBIT A-1 
DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT A (CONTINUED) 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

EXHIBIT A-1 
DESCRIPTION OF THE JEDD 

 



 
 

EXHIBIT B 
BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT ECONOMIC  

DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
 

ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
 The economic development plan for the Berkshire Joint Economic Development District 
No. 2 (the “JEDD”) to be created pursuant to a Joint Economic Development District Contract 
(the “JEDD Contract”) by and between the City of Delaware, Ohio (the “City”) and Berkshire 
Township (Delaware County), Ohio (the “Township”) will be the (i) construction of certain 
commercial and residential improvements in the corridor surrounding the interchange of 
Interstate 71 and State Routes 36 and 37, and (ii) the construction of public infrastructure (the 
“Public Infrastructure”) to facilitate and support the commercial and residential development, 
including, but not limited to, the construction of roadway improvements; construction and 
installation of public utility improvements; construction and installation of gas, electric and 
communication service facilities; construction and installation of stormwater and flood 
remediation projects and facilities; streetscape and landscaping improvements; acquisition of 
easements and other interests in real estate; and other public infrastructure located within the 
City and the Township, together with all necessary or appropriate appurtenances. 
 
 The construction of the commercial and residential improvements is expected to occur 
over the next 10-20 years. 
 
 The JEDD Contract provides that the Township shall furnish or cause to be furnished to 
the JEDD all usual and customary governmental services provided by the Township to similarly 
situated properties located in the unincorporated area of the Township outside of the JEDD, 
provide accommodation, if requested, for meetings of the Board, maintenance of the records of 
the JEDD and, if reasonably available, as determined by the Township, any necessary clerical 
staffing for the Board, and the Township may declare certain improvements to property located 
within the JEDD to be a public purpose, exempt the increased value of such property from real 
property taxes for a period of time, require the owner(s) of such property to pay service 
payments in lieu of the exempted real property taxes and use the receipts of such property taxes 
to pay costs of the Public Infrastructure, all in accordance with Ohio Revised Code Sections 
5709.73, 5709.74 and 5709.75; and provide such services allowed by law as the Township and 
the board of directors (the “Board”) of the JEDD may agree.  The JEDD Contract provides that 
the City shall cooperate and assist the Board in activities that promote, compliment and benefit 
economic development in the JEDD; shall cooperate and assist the Township on issues affecting 
the JEDD, such as planning, zoning and building standards and review; administer, collect and 
distribute the income tax expected to be levied by the Board on the income of persons working in 
the JEDD and the net profits of businesses located in the JEDD; act as fiscal agent for the JEDD 
and the Board; and furnish such services allowed by law as the City and the Board agree.   
 
 The JEDD Contract authorizes and anticipates the levy by the Board of a tax on the 
income of persons working or residing in the JEDD and the net profits of businesses located in 
the JEDD at the same rate currently levied by the City (currently 1.85%) for distribution to the 
Board, the City and the Township. 
 



 
NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING 

 
 
 

The City of Delaware of Delaware County, Ohio will conduct a public hearing at 7:30 p.m. on 
June, 25, 2018 at City Hall located at 1 S. Sandusky Street, Delaware, Ohio, concerning a 
proposed Joint Economic Development District Contract (the “JEDD Contract”) by and between 
Berkshire Township and the City of Delaware and the proposed Berkshire Joint Economic 
Development District No. 2 (the “JEDD”) to be established by the JEDD Contract. Additional 
information is available on the City’s website at http://www.delawareohio.net/city-council-2018/ 
 

 
     BY NOTICE OF THE CITY COUNCIL CLERK 

Elaine McCloskey, Council Clerk 
 

 
Please publish the foregoing notice one (1) time only on May 23, 2018 
 
Please send bill and proof of publication to: 
 
Elaine McCloskey, Council Clerk 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
1 S. Sandusky Street 
Delaware, Ohio 43015 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 









  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  12    DATE: 07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-50    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
       JUNE 25, 2018 at 7:45 p.m. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR MANOS PROPERTIES FOR APPROVAL OF A REZONING 
AMENDMENT FOR THE WESLEYAN INN ON APPROXIMATELY 1.09 ACRES 
(PARCELS 519-433-04-005-000 AND 519-433-04-002) FROM PO/I (PLANNED 
OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL DISTRICT) AND R-3 (ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICT) TO PO/I AND R-3 PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT) AT 235 AND 239 WEST WILLIAM STREET.    
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1130 Amendments of the Codified 
Ordinances. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 6-0 on June 6, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 
Letters Submitted by Public 



 ORDINANCE NO. 18-50 
 
AN ORDINANCE FOR MANOS PROPERTIES FOR 
APPROVAL OF A REZONING AMENDMENT FOR THE 
WESLEYAN INN ON APPROXIMATELY 1.09 ACRES 
(PARCELS 519-433-04-005-000 AND 519-433-04-002) 
FROM PO/I (PLANNED OFFICE/INSTITUTIONAL 
DISTRICT) AND R-3 (ONE-FAMILY RESIDENTIAL 
DISTRICT) TO PO/I AND R-3 PMU (PLANNED MIXED 
USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 235 AND 239 WEST 
WILLIAM STREET.    
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on June 6, 2018 
recommended approval of a Rezoning Amendment for the Wesleyan Inn on 
approximately 1.09 acres (parcels 519-433-04-005-000 and 519-433-04-002) from 
PO/I (Planned Office/Institutional District) and R-3 (One-Family Residential 
District) to PO/I and R-3 PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) at 235 and 
239 West William Street (2018-1026).  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Rezoning Amendment for the Wesleyan Inn on 
approximately 1.09 acres (parcels 519-433-04-005-000 and 519-433-04-002) from 
PO/I (Planned Office/Institutional District) and R-3 (One-Family Residential 
District) to PO/I and R-3 PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) at 235 and 
239 West William Street, is hereby confirmed, approved and accepted with the 
following conditions that: 
1. Any new structure(s) or any change of land use shall require conformance to 

all provisions of the Development Text and any conditions of approval. 
2. The proposed existing building and addition at 235 West William Street 

shall be for the proposed Inn use only and the property at 239 West William 
Street shall be for a parking lot or open space only. The property at 239 
West William Street shall have a covenant placed upon it to this effect.  
 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 



 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  13    DATE: 07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-51    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING:  THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING:  YES 
       June 25, 2018 at 7:45 p.m. 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR MANOS PROPERTIES FOR APPROVAL OF A 
CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PMU 
(PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) TO BE ESTABLISHED FOR THE 
FOR THE WESLEYAN INN ON APPROXIMATELY 1.09 ACRES (PARCELS 519-
433-04-005-000 AND 519-433-04-002) AT 235 AND 239 WEST WILLIAM 
STREET.    
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1148 Conditional Use Regulations of the 
zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 6-0 on June 6, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 18-51 
 
AN ORDINANCE FOR MANOS PROPERTIES FOR 
APPROVAL OF A CONDITIONAL USE PERMIT 
ALLOWING THE PLACEMENT OF A PMU (PLANNED 
MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) TO BE ESTABLISHED 
FOR THE WESLEYAN INN ON APPROXIMATELY 1.09 
ACRES (PARCELS 519-433-04-005-000 AND 519-433-
04-002) AT 235 AND 239 WEST WILLIAM STREET.    
 

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on June 6, 2018 
recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit allowing the placement of a 
PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be established for the Wesleyan Inn 
on approximately 1.09 acres (parcels 519-433-04-005-000 and 519-433-04-002)  
at 235 and 239 West William Street (2018-1027).  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Conditional Use Permit allowing the placement of a 
PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) to be established for the Wesleyan Inn 
on approximately 1.09 acres (parcels 519-433-04-005-000 and 519-433-04-002)  
at 235 and 239 West William Street, is hereby confirmed, approved and accepted. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  14    DATE: 07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-52    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: THIRD    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE FOR MANOS PROPERTIES FOR APPROVAL OF A 
PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR THE WESLEYAN INN ON 
APPROXIMATELY 1.09 ACRES (PARCELS 519-433-04-005-000 AND 519-433-
04-002) ON PROPERTY ZONED PO/I AND R-3 PMU (PLANNED MIXED USE 
OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 235 AND 239 WEST WILLIAM STREET.    
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1129.04 Procedures of the Codified 
Ordinances. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 6-0 on June 6, 2018. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
  
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 18-52 
 
AN ORDINANCE FOR MANOS PROPERTIES FOR 
APPROVAL OF A PRELIMINARY DEVELOPMENT PLAN 
FOR THE WESLEYAN INN ON APPROXIMATELY 1.09 
ACRES (PARCELS 519-433-04-005-000 AND 519-433-
04-002) ON PROPERTY ZONED PO/I AND R-3 PMU 
(PLANNED MIXED USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AT 235 
AND 239 WEST WILLIAM STREET.    
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on June 6, 2018 
recommended approval of a Preliminary Development Plan for the Wesleyan Inn 
on approximately 1.09 acres (parcels 519-433-04-005-000 and 519-433-04-002)  
on property zoned  PO/I and R-3 PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) at 235 
and 239 West William Street (2018-1028).  

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Preliminary Development Plan for the Wesleyan Inn 
on approximately 1.09 acres (parcels 519-433-04-005-000 and 519-433-04-002)  
on property zoned  PO/I and R-3 PMU (Planned Mixed Use Overlay District) at 235 
and 239 West William Street, is hereby confirmed, approved and accepted with the 
following conditions that: 
1. The applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any storm 

water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the Engineering 
and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the layout and details of 
the project are preliminary and subject to modification or change based on 
the final technical review by the Engineering Department once a complete 
plan set is submitted for review. 

2. The addition of the two-way left turn lane into the site shall require parking 
modifications along the north side of West William Street approved by the 
City Engineer.  Any modifications to parking shall include agreements from 
affected property owners adjacent to the roadway.  Any parking proposed to 
be eliminated must include agreements from the affected property owners 
and shall require approval of the Parking and Safety Committee.  Parking 
shall be maintained to the maximum extent practicable and include curb 
modifications to provide a widened area to allow parallel parking beyond the 
existing curb line.   All necessary associated improvements including, but 
not limited to, sidewalk and utility pole relocations, shall be made by the 
developer.  If agreements cannot be obtained from affected property owners 
or approval cannot be gained from the Parking and Safety Committee, street 



widening shall need to take place on the developer’s side of West William 
Street to allow for construction of the turn lane 

3. Because no public storm sewer exists adjacent to the site, a storm sewer 
extension shall be required to be designed and constructed by the 
developer.  Design of the storm sewer and any associated roadway 
restoration shall need to be approved by the Public Works Department and 
Public Utilities Department.   

4. An emergency access point shall be required on the south eastern portion of 
the site adjacent to the Ohio Wesleyan parking lot that is accessed off Oak 
Hill Avenue. An executed agreement by the subject property owner and Ohio 
Wesleyan University shall be recorded at the County prior to final 
occupancy. The exact type of connection and barrier shall be determined 
during the Final Development Plan approval process. 

5. The number of hotel rooms shall not exceed 43 rooms. 

6. The number of required parking spaces shall be 47 in accordance with 
development text and development plan. 

7. The dumpster shall be enclosed by brick or stone that matches the building 
with wood doors painted or stained to match. 

8. The proposed hotel building shall achieve compliance with the design 
standards of the approved development text.  

9. The exposed portion of the retaining wall shall be faced with Delaware blue 
vein limestone or equivalent as approved by staff. 

10. The applicant shall make a payment of $16,700 to achieve compliance with 
Chapter 1168 Tree Preservation Requirements prior to construction drawing 
approval. 

11. Any street trees or other on-site trees damaged by construction shall be 
replaced. 

12. A six foot high solid wood fence shall be located along the western property 
line to screen the adjacent house while an eight foot high solid wood fence 
shall be located along the southwestern portion of the site to screen the 
adjacent residential zoned property. The landscaping shall be on the 
adjacent residential side of the fence along the west and southwestern 
property lines 

13. Any landscape plans shall be reviewed and approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission. 

14. A lighting plan shall be documented in the Final Development Plan that 
achieves compliance with approved development text and minimum zoning 
requirements and shall be reviewed and approved by the Chief Building 
Official. 



15. Any signage shall be documented on the Final Development Plan and shall 
achieve compliance with the approved development text and the adopted 
Gateways and Corridor Plan. 

16. The entire development shall achieve compliance with the minimum 
engineering, public works and fire department requirements.  

17. The subject two lots shall be consolidated into one lot prior to final 
occupancy permit. 
 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



















































































From: Meg Maggart
To: Elaine McCloskey
Subject: [BULK] Wesleyan Inn
Date: Tuesday, June 19, 2018 7:54:48 AM
Importance: Low

***ATTENTION: This email came from an external source. Do not open attachments or
click on links from unknown senders or unexpected emails.***

Good morning,
 
My name is Meg Maggart and I live at 265  West William Street, it is two houses
away to the west of the proposed Wesleyan Inn parking site.  I am not in favor of
this project and the rezoning of the residential lot at 239 West William Street at all.  It's not
the right location for a hotel, there are many other better site choices for this project in
Delaware.  Right next to and in fact within a residential neighborhood shouldn't be one of
them.  
 
This project will have an effect on our property values, and not for the better, and could
very well be the beginning of the end for our neighborhood.  This is of no concern to Mr.
Manos but I hope it is a concern to all of you.  Because Mr. Manos can, he has made an
agreement to buy the property that would be right next to the parking he is proposing if
you approve this rezoning effort.  He knows no one in their right mind would want to live
next to or close a hotel, or its parking lot.  In an in person meeting with Mr. Manos, he told
me and other neighbors in attendance he had no intention of buying any other homes in
our neighborhood, so much for his word.  So now he will own and control at least three lots
all in a row.  This is very concerning, what will the future bring?  He said he would turn that
home into rental.  I don't want to live next to a rental home or a hotel.  Once again this will
effect property values and pride in our neighborhood.  One example is that there is already
a rental home across the street at 238 West William that has set empty for quite some time
now and is slowly deteriorating. Many people in the neighborhood have been working on
their homes, We in the process of adding a $40,000 garage and continue to make
improvements to our home,  this doesn't always happen with rentals, as I’m sure you’re
aware.  He is a business man and is less interested in the continued stability of our
neighborhood and community, then he is with making money.  
 
Mr. Manos has said and written in the documents that the Wesleyan Inn will be locally
owned and operated.  If Mr. Manos is the owner, when did living in Muirfield become local. 
He also has said this hotel is aimed primarily at parents of Ohio Wesleyan students.  I guess

mailto:mmaggart19@gmail.com
mailto:EMcCloskey@delawareohio.net


that means he will be turning away all others then.  Of course he won't.  This idea is
absurd.   Which means that 24/7 all types of people will be coming and going, walking
around our neighborhood.  This will increased traffic on an already busy street.  William
street gets backed up regularly just from existing traffic, trains and the traffic light at
Elizabeth street.  Adding a hotel would only increase the traffic congestion with customers
trying to turn in and out of the hotel.  A local person would know this.

In addition to purchasing the house which he plans to redone, he has made several shady
offers to other neighbors. The house owned by Chris and Jessica (2 down from me) he has
offered to purchase their home of the project goes through as they have argued they do
not want to live next to a parking lot. In the last meeting, Mr. Manos told us that he was “in
contract” for the purchase of that home. That is simply not true as it is a verbal offer
contingent upon the approval of the hotel. He has offered several residents across the
street to widen their driveways. There are many “promises” coming from Mr. Manos which
would further change our neighborhood.
 
In short, again this is not the right location for a hotel.

Rezoning to create a parking lot does not help anyone but 

Mr. Manos.  There are plenty of other sites in Delaware 

that would be more suited for this project then sticking a 

three story eye sore in our backyards where we all lose 

our privacy and the feel of our neighborhood and sense of 

community.

Thank you for your time and consideration in this matter.

 

Meg Maggart



From: Tom Tobin
To: Elaine McCloskey
Subject: Re: Public Comment
Date: Friday, June 22, 2018 9:56:26 AM

***ATTENTION: This email came from an external source. Do not open attachments or
click on links from unknown senders or unexpected emails.***

Elaine,

Thank you for your email, I'm not sure what happened, I sent in on the afternoon of the 19th. 
But thank you for your follow up, and the opportunity to still send you my thoughts on the
Wesleyan Inn.

Good afternoon,
 
My name is Tom Tobin and I live at 253 West William Street, it is one house away to the west
of the proposed Wesleyan Inn parking site.  I am not in favor of this project and the rezoning
of the residential lot at 239 West William Street at all.  It's not the right location for a hotel,
there are many other better site choices for this project in Delaware.  Right next to and in fact
within a residential neighborhood shouldn't be one of them. 
 
The reality is that this project will be eating away at our residential neighborhood and will also
have an effect on property values, and not for the better.  This could very well be the
beginning of the end for our neighborhood.  This is of no concern to Mr. Manos but I hope it is
a concern to all of you.  Because Mr. Manos can, he has made an agreement to buy the
property that would be right next to the parking he is proposing if you approve this rezoning
effort.  He knows no one in their right mind would want to live next to or close to a hotel, or
its parking lot.  In an earlier in person meeting with Mr. Manos, he told me and other
neighbors in attendance he had no intention of buying any other homes in our neighborhood,
so much for his word.  So now he will own and control at least three lots all in a row.  This is
very concerning, what will the future bring?  He said he would turn that home into rental.  No
one really wants to live next to a rental home or a hotel.  Once again this will effect property
values and pride in our neighborhood.  One example is that there is already a rental home
across the street at 238 West William that has set empty for quite some time now and is
slowly deteriorating. Many people in the neighborhood have been working on their homes, I
myself am in the process of repainting and working on my home, this doesn't always happen
with rentals, as I’m sure you’re aware.  And this isn't a good buffer to the hotel because he
owns it and could encroach upon it, who knows.  He is a business man and is less interested in
the continued stability of our neighborhood and community, then he is with making money. 
 

mailto:ttobin7@outlook.com
mailto:EMcCloskey@delawareohio.net


Mr. Manos has said and written in the documents that the Wesleyan Inn will be locally owned
and operated.  If Mr. Manos is the owner, when did living in Muirfield become local.  He also
has said this hotel is aimed primarily at parents of Ohio Wesleyan students.  I guess that
means he will be turning away all others then.  Of course he won't.  This idea is absurd.  
Which means that 24/7 all types of people will be coming and going, walking around our
neighborhood.  This will increased traffic on an already busy street.  William street gets backed
up regularly just from existing traffic, trains and the traffic light at Elizabeth street.  Adding a
hotel would only increase the traffic congestion with customers trying to turn in and out of
the hotel.  A local person would know this, and it would only be worse in the winter with snow
and ice on the William Street hill. 
 
In short, again this is not the right location for a hotel.  Rezoning to create a parking lot does
not help anyone but Mr. Manos.  There are plenty of other sites in Delaware that would be
more suited for this project.  Sticking a three story eye sore in our backyards where we all lose
our privacy and the feel of our neighborhood and sense of community is not a good choice.

Thank you for your time and consideration in this matter.

 

Tom Tobin

740.362.8544
ttobin7@outlook.com

From: Elaine McCloskey <EMcCloskey@delawareohio.net>
Sent: Friday, June 22, 2018 9:09 AM
To: 'ttobin7@outlook.com'
Cc: Elaine McCloskey
Subject: Public Comment
 
Mr. Tobin
 
If you are receiving this email twice, my apologies.  My email did not send me
a sent receipt and I wanted to try to send it again. 
 
I had received a call from your wife earlier today in regards to the Wesleyan
Inn.  Upon speaking with Cathy she mentioned that you had sent me an
email regarding your concerns.  I unfortunately did not receive that email
and am requesting that you try to resend it please.  I will forward the email
on to Council for their review.  Please let me know of what other assistance I
can be. 
 
Thank you,
 
Elaine McCloskey



City Council Clerk
City of Delaware
1 S. Sandusky St.
Delaware, Ohio 43015
740-203-1013 office
740-203-1024 fax
www.delawareohio.net
 

This message may contain confidential and/or proprietary information and is intended for the person/entity to whom it was originally
addressed. Any use by others is strictly prohibited.

http://www.delawareohio.net/




  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  15    DATE:  07/09/2018 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 18-61    RESOLUTION NO:  
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 11-86 TO EXTEND THE 
PERMISSIBLE CLOSING DATE OF PROPERTY PREVIOUSLY OFFERED FOR 
SALE AT PUBLIC AUCTION. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
In ordinance 11-86, City Council authorized the sale of land not needed for any 
city purpose.  The starting price at the auction was $112,700 an acre.  One 
bidder attended the auction and won with a bid at the starting price.  The sale 
was never completed, in part because the city and the bidder were involved in 
negotiations over the interpretation of the pre-annexation agreement under 
which the property entered into the city.  Those issues are now resolved and 
the city and bidder wish to proceed with the sale.  Based on an appraisal 
obtained by the City, the purchase price remains the appropriate price for the 
property. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To complete the sale, Ordinance 11-86 has to be amended to extend the 
permissible closing date. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 



Completing the sale will $568,684.20, which will be used to reimburse the NCA 
for the cost of constructing Glenn Road. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Exhibit 



 ORDINANCE NO. 18-61 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING ORDINANCE NO. 11-86 
TO EXTEND THE PERMISSIBLE CLOSING DATE OF 
PROPERTY PREVIOUSLY OFFERED FOR SALE AT 
PUBLIC AUCTION. 
 

 WHEREAS, City Council previously authorized the sale of land not needed 
for any purpose in Ordinance No. 11-86; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the winning bid was for the starting price of $112,700 an acre; 
and  
 

WHEREAS, the ordinance permitted the winning bidder to close at any time 
prior to the end of calendar year 2013 or upon completion of the Glenn Parkway 
connector section; and 

 
WHEREAS, the winning bidder has yet to complete the purchase, in part 

due to negotiations with the City involving interpretation of the pre-annexation 
agreement under which the land was annexed into the city. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  Section 3 of Ordinance 11-86 is replaced with the following 
language: 
 
The closing for the sale shall occur prior to December 31, 2018. 

 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2018 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



PEACHBLOW RD

GL
EN

N P
KW

Y

COLUMBUS PIKE

BRETS LN

ENSIGNS LN

CONNER LN

MC
NA

MA
RA

 LO
OP

WINTER RD

CR
OW

NO
VE

R W
AY

SQ
UA

RE
GA

ITE
R L

N

OLD WINTER RD OLD PEACHBLOW RD

GL
EN

N P
KW

Y

COLUMBUS PIKE

Delaware County Auditor's GIS Office

Exhibit A
Stavroff - City of Delaware Agreement I

Approximate 0.428 A Parcel
#41944001001002

Approximate 4.618 A Parcel
#41944001001001

Sub Area A
Part of Parcel 41833001032000



City Manager Report 20180709 

 
 
 
 
TO:  Mayor Riggle and Members of Council 
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Miscellaneous Matters 
 
DATE: July 5, 2018 
 
 
1. Calendar 
 See Attached 
 
2. Per Section 73 Of The City Charter The City Manager Is To Report 

Contract Agreements 
 See Attached 
 
3. Bi-Weekly Meetings 
 June 25 
 * Rotary 
 * Council Meeting 
 June 26 
 * Curbside Recyclables Meeting with City of Marion 
 * Shade Tree Commission Meeting 
 June 28 
 * Planet Oasis Press Conference 
 June 29 
 * Make-A-Wish Celebration 
 July 2 
 * Rotary 
  



July 
 

 

2018 
Meeting Schedule Council, Boards, Commissions, & Committees 

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

   Fourth of July 
City Offices Closed 

   

8 9 10                                     11 12 13 14 

 City Council Sister City 6pm Finance Committee 3pm 
BZA 7pm-Cancelled 

   

15 16 17 18 19 20 21 
  Parks and Rec 7pm Planning Commission 

7pm 
Airport Commission 
7pm 

  

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 
 City Council 7pm Shade Tree Commission 

7pm-Cancelled 
HPC 7pm    

29 30 31     
       

       
       

 



CONTRACT APPROVAL – July 09, 2018 
 

VENDOR 
 

EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT 
2018 

AMOUNT 
 

DEPARTMENT 
OE Meyer Co. Cylinder Production Agreement-

contract modified due to the City 
strike out that was signed on 
4/15/18 

No Change Fire 
Department 

 


	01 20180709 council agenda
	CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

	02 20180625 council minutes
	03 20180424 shade tree minutes
	04 20180227 hpc minutes
	05 Fact Sheet Res 18-43 OPWC Rd 33 App
	06 Res 18-43,  OPWC Rd 33 Application
	07 Houk Overall Exhibit June 2018
	08 Fact Sheet Res 18-44 OPWC County Agmt
	09 Res 18-44 OPWC Rd 33 County Agmt
	10 Fact Sheet Res 18-45 MORPC APP Houk A & C
	11 Res 18-45 MORPC APP Houk A & C
	12 Smokng ban Memorandum
	13 fact sheet res 18 -40  Restricted parking on W. Fountain Ave.
	14 Res 18 -40,  W. Fountain Ave parking restriction
	RESOLUTION NO. 18-40

	15 fact sheet res 18-41 IAFF contract
	16 res 18-41,  IAFF contract  2018
	17 20180613 IAFF Contract New Format-JLDEdits.docx
	18 fact sheet res 18-29, JEDD Berkshire
	19 res 18-29, JEDD Berkshire
	20 Tax Collection Schedule 2 (5-25-2018)
	21 Motion - Draft to City - Revising Tax Schedule
	Vote:     ayes     nayes

	22  Delaware JEDD Map 2
	23  JOINT ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT CONTRACT - Final
	ARTICLE I
	DEFINITIONS
	Section 1.1 Definitions.  In addition to “Contract”, “City”, “State” and “Township” defined above, the following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings:
	“Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the JEDD established in accordance with the JEDD Statutes and this Contract.
	“County” means the County of Delaware, Ohio.
	“Effective Date” means the date immediately succeeding the occurrence of all of the following:  (i) the City’s and Township’s execution of this Contract, (ii) the thirty-second day after the adoption of the Township’s resolution authorizing this Contr...
	“Gross Revenues” means the proceeds of the JEDD Income Tax, less refunds.
	“Net Revenues” means Gross Revenues less (a) to the extent the funds available to the Board are insufficient for such purposes, any amount required to pay costs of any audits of the JEDD mandated by the State or any liability imposed on the JEDD or th...
	“JEDD” means the Berkshire Joint Economic Development District No. 2 created pursuant to the JEDD Statutes and this Contract and includes the real property described and depicted in Exhibit A to this Contract.
	“JEDD Income” means (i) the income earned by persons working  or residing in the JEDD and (ii) the net profits of businesses located in the JEDD.
	“JEDD Income Tax” means the tax on JEDD Income levied by the Board in accordance with the provisions of this Contract.
	“JEDD Income Tax Agreement” means that agreement to be entered into by and between the Board and the City providing for the City to (i) administer, collect and distribute the JEDD Income Tax in accordance with the Contract and (ii) act as the fiscal a...
	“JEDD Statutes” means Ohio Revised Code Section 715.72.
	Section 1.2 Interpretations.  Any reference herein to the County, the City, the Township or the Board or to any officer or employee of the County, the City, the Township or the Board, includes the entities, officers or employees succeeding to their re...
	ARTICLE VI

	24 JEDD - Notice of Public Hearing
	25 JEDD public hearing notice receipt
	27 fact sheed ord 18 -50 , rezone 2018-1026 The Weselyan Inn
	28 ord 18 -50 , 2018-1026- rezone The Wesleyan Inn
	ORDINANCE NO. 18-50

	29 factsheet ord 18-51, CUP 2018-1027 The Weselyan Inn
	30 ord 18-51 , CUP 2018-1027- The Wesleyan Inn
	ORDINANCE NO. 18-51

	31 fact sheet ord 18-52, pdp 2018-1028 The Weselyan Inn
	32 ord 18-52, pdp 2018-1028- The Wesleyan Inn
	ORDINANCE NO. 18-52

	33  PC 2018-1026-1028 Manos Properties - Copy
	34 20180606 planning wolber public comment - Copy
	35 Maggart email Wesleyan Inn
	36 Tobin email wesleyan inn Public Comment
	37 Flyer from Montrose Ave
	38 fact sheet ord 18-61,  stavroff extending auction time
	39 ord 18-61,  Extend Stavroff sale date
	ORDINANCE NO. 18-61

	40 stavroff exhibit
	41 city managers report 20180709
	42 July Calendar 2018
	43 20180709 Contract approval
	CONTRACT APPROVAL – July 09, 2018
	2018
	DEPARTMENT
	AMOUNT
	VENDOR
	EXPLANATION OF AGREEMENT

	Fire Department
	No Change
	OE Meyer Co.
	Cylinder Production Agreement-contract modified due to the City strike out that was signed on 4/15/18





